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·1· · · · RENO, NEVADA; THURSDAY, MAY 26, 2022; 8:25 A.M.
· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·-o0o-
·2

·3

·4· · · · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· This is Case

·5· ·Number 21-38084-1, in the matter of the charges and

·6· ·complaint against -- and correct me if I pronounce this

·7· ·wrong -- Hai Thanh Nguyen, M.D.

·8· · · · · · · ·Is that correct, Mr. Nguyen?

·9· · · · · · · ·DR. NGUYEN:· That is correct.· Yes,

10· ·Dr. Nguyen.· Yes.

11· · · · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· Dr. Nguyen.· Thank

12· ·you.· We're here on the complaint filed on November 3rd,

13· ·2021.· There's two counts alleged.· The first is

14· ·malpractice, and the second is failure to maintain proper

15· ·medical record.

16· · · · · · · ·Can the parties please state their

17· ·appearances for the record.

18· · · · · · · ·MS. BRADLEY:· Sarah Bradley, Deputy Executive

19· ·Director, on behalf of the Investigative Committee of the

20· ·Nevada State Board of Medical Examiners.

21· · · · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· Thank you.

22· · · · · · · ·MS. BUYS:· And Charlotte Buys, on behalf of

23· ·respondent, Dr. Hai Nguyen.

24· · · · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· And Dr. Nguyen is
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·1· ·the person, I think, on your right.· He would be my left.

·2· · · · · · · ·DR. NGUYGEN:· That is correct.

·3· · · · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· All right.· And I

·4· ·understand that there are witnesses in both locations at

·5· ·this time.· I would like to have everyone raise their

·6· ·right hand and be sworn in, all of the witnesses who are

·7· ·appearing, and I can't see all of the witnesses.

·8· · · · · · · ·Ms. Buys, can you confirm that they're going

·9· ·to take the oath or have them stand behind you?

10· · · · · · · ·MS. BUYS:· There we go.· Certainly.

11· · · · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· Thank you.· And

12· ·the witness you have present again, can you state his

13· ·name for the record?

14· · · · · · · ·MS. BUYS:· Certainly.· It is Dr. Eduardo

15· ·Anorga.

16· · · · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· Thank you.· And

17· ·your witness?

18· · · · · · · ·MS. BRADLEY:· Ernesto Diaz.· I do have other

19· ·witnesses that aren't present yet.· Ms. DelGrosso, I

20· ·believe is going to be attending in Las Vegas, and then I

21· ·also have Dr. Hall, who is not here yet.

22· · · · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· Okay.· So for the

23· ·witnesses who are here whose arms are probably getting

24· ·tired because they're still up, do you swear to tell the
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·1· ·truth, the whole truth and nothing but the truth?

·2· · · · · · · ·MR. DIAZ:· I do.

·3· · · · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· Sorry.

·4· ·Dr. Anorga, was it?· I didn't quite hear you.

·5· · · · · · · ·DR. ANORGA:· I do.

·6· · · · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· Thank you.· All

·7· ·right.· Was anyone going to invoke the rule of exclusion?

·8· · · · · · · ·MS. BRADLEY:· No, I don't invoke that at this

·9· ·time.

10· · · · · · · ·MS. BUYS:· No, not at this time.· Thank you.

11· · · · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· Thank you.

12· · · · · · · ·Ms. Bradley, with that, did you want to

13· ·proceed with opening statement?

14· · · · · · · ·MR. BRADLEY:· I did.· I do think we have a

15· ·couple of preliminary matters though that we may want to

16· ·discuss before we get started.· The first is there is a

17· ·typographical error in the complaint on the first page of

18· ·that which is at number two, Paragraph Number 2.· It says

19· ·on November 11th, 2016, and it really should be November

20· ·4, so if we could just cross out the 11 and make that a

21· ·4.· And I believe Ms. Buys is in agreement to that

22· ·amendment.

23· · · · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· Ms. Buys?

24· · · · · · · ·MS. BUYS:· That is correct.
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·1· · · · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· Thank you.

·2· · · · · · · ·MS. BRADLEY:· The other stipulation I believe

·3· ·that we have based on the answer that Dr. Nguyen provided

·4· ·to the complaint, he did agree with Paragraph 1 in the

·5· ·complaint, which is:· Respondent was, at all times

·6· ·relative to this complaint, a medical doctor holding an

·7· ·active license to practice medicine in the State of

·8· ·Nevada.· That's License Number 13702, and respondent was

·9· ·originally licensed by the Board on September 15th, 2010.

10· ·So I think we can actually stipulate to the truth of that

11· ·statement before we get started.

12· · · · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· Ms. Buys?

13· · · · · · · ·MS. BUYS:· Yes, Your Honor.

14· · · · · · · ·MS. BRADLEY:· The other stipulations that we

15· ·have have to do with exhibits.· So I believe Ms. Buys is

16· ·willing to stipulate to Exhibits 1 through 5 for the

17· ·Board.· So that's the allegation letter that was sent to

18· ·Dr. Nguyen, his response, the complaint that was filed on

19· ·November 3rd, 2021, the answer to the complaint, and then

20· ·the Patient A's medical records, Exhibit 5 for the Board.

21· · · · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· Ms. Buys?

22· · · · · · · ·MS. BUYS:· Yes, we did agree to Exhibits 1

23· ·through 4, and as well as to the admission of the medical

24· ·records, but we also wanted to introduce Respondent's
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·1· ·exhibit which is a more complete set of the records that

·2· ·was provided.

·3· · · · · · · ·MS. BRADLEY:· Yeah.· I was going to get to

·4· ·that next.

·5· · · · · · · ·MS. BUYS:· Perfect.· Just wanted to clarify

·6· ·that for the record.

·7· · · · · · · ·MS. BRADLEY:· And so we would also agree to

·8· ·admit -- and by my count, oh, yeah, I do have 12.· Okay.

·9· ·So we would stipulate to the admission of Respondent's

10· ·Exhibits 1 through 12, but I do want to put a note on the

11· ·record that pages 5 through 17 of Exhibit 5 from the

12· ·Respondent were not provided to the Board with

13· ·Dr. Nguyen's initial response into the investigation.

14· ·They were provided at the prehearing conference, but it

15· ·would have been nice if they were provided prior to that.

16· · · · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· Which exhibit?

17· · · · · · · ·MR. BRADLEY:· Exhibit 5, pages five through

18· ·17, and which she says is more complete.· For whatever

19· ·reason, the Board received, I think, three pages of

20· ·medical records, but this is actually 17 pages of medical

21· ·records.

22· · · · · · · ·In addition, the items in Exhibit 6 from

23· ·Respondent were not provided to the Board with regard to

24· ·the investigation.· We do still stipulate that they be
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·1· ·admitted, which is that note that we didn't have them at

·2· ·the time of the investigation, and it would have been

·3· ·nice to have them.

·4· · · · · · · ·Exhibit 7, we do agree to have it be

·5· ·admitted.· However, we think it has limited relevance,

·6· ·but given that the standard is so low, we're not going to

·7· ·object.· But we would just note that Exhibit 7 is an

·8· ·operating procedure at HealthCare Partners of Nevada.

·9· ·You know, we don't really think a procedure is at issue

10· ·here.· It's really what Dr. Nguyen did or didn't do.

11· · · · · · · ·The other concern that we have with that

12· ·exhibit is that it was last revised on January 13, 2020,

13· ·and of course the incident in this case occurred on

14· ·November 4, 2016.· But just to speed things along, we

15· ·would stipulate to the admission of all of the exhibits

16· ·from Dr. Nguyen.

17· · · · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· Ms. Buys, is there

18· ·anything you wanted to add?

19· · · · · · · ·MS. BUYS:· Certainly.· We also share in the

20· ·Board's frustration regarding the additional records that

21· ·were located and then I believe Ms. Bradley and I

22· ·corresponded back and forth on Respondent's objections to

23· ·Board's exhibits, specifically the articles which are,

24· ·you know, were written after the date of care is not
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·1· ·relevant as to the standard of care, so they didn't exist

·2· ·at the time the care and treatment was provided back in

·3· ·2016.· And certainly, you know, require foundation.

·4· · · · · · · ·MS. BRADLEY:· Yeah.· I don't know that we

·5· ·have to talk about that because I'll get those in when I

·6· ·call my witnesses.· I was trying to go through the things

·7· ·that we agreed on.· And I did want to note for the record

·8· ·that Exhibit 12 was provided to me on Monday, May 23rd,

·9· ·and I believe that our Madame Hearing Officer also does

10· ·have a copy of that, Exhibit 11 and 12.· So 11 is the

11· ·administration record of the shot that was provided to

12· ·Patient A.

13· · · · · · · ·And also, just if we could, throughout the

14· ·hearing, we would prefer to refer to the patient as

15· ·Patient A.· I believe there was a patient designation

16· ·provided to Mr. Nguyen ahead of time.· I think we all

17· ·know looking at the records, but just because the

18· ·transcript does end up potentially becoming a public

19· ·document, normally we don't include the patient's name

20· ·when we don't have to.

21· · · · · · · ·So, yeah, Exhibit 11 was provided on Monday,

22· ·which was, I think, three days ago, if my math is right.

23· ·And so we will ask our expert about that because we

24· ·didn't have it before and we actually didn't even have it
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·1· ·at the prehearing conference.· But I think based on

·2· ·Exhibit 12, which is an affidavit from a nurse working

·3· ·for the facility, there's at least an attempt to address

·4· ·the good cause argument, so if we could stipulate to that

·5· ·being admitted.· Thank you.

·6· · · · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· Okay.· I note for

·7· ·the record that I don't have numbered Respondent's

·8· ·exhibits.· I have all of the exhibits which I've printed

·9· ·out which were provided to me with the prehearing

10· ·conference disclosures.· So if you guys were going to

11· ·number them in the order they were disclosed and

12· ·stipulate to them, then I need a minute to mark them on

13· ·my end because I don't have marked exhibits for

14· ·Respondent.

15· · · · · · · ·MS. BRADLEY:· Okay.· Do you want me to for

16· ·the record just say what they are?· Would that help?

17· · · · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· Well, I'll say

18· ·them on the record.· So Respondent's Exhibit 1 will be

19· ·the Board of Medical Examiners of the State of Nevada

20· ·complaint filed November 3rd, 2021.

21· · · · · · · ·MS. BRADLEY:· Oh, I have that as Exhibit 34

22· ·for Dr. Nguyen.· I have -- well, at least Tab 1 was the

23· ·prehearing conference disclosure.· Did you want that to

24· ·be an exhibit?

http://www.litigationservices.com


Page 13
·1· · · · · · · ·MS. BUYS:· That's fine.

·2· · · · · · · ·MS. BRADLEY:· I was just looking at, I think,

·3· ·the binder cover page.· So I was labeling that Dr.

·4· ·Nguyen's prehearing conference disclosure as Exhibit 1.

·5· · · · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· Did that include

·6· ·the supplement?

·7· · · · · · · ·MS. BRADLEY:· I believe it -- Well, this one,

·8· ·the copy I have doesn't, but it should.

·9· · · · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· Okay.· All right.

10· ·So maybe you can just give me your cover and I can print

11· ·it out.

12· · · · · · · ·MS. BRADLEY:· Okay.· I'll give you what I

13· ·have.· And then I would have to add the 9 because 9, 10,

14· ·11 and 12, I don't have on this cover page, but I do have

15· ·them tabbed in my binder.

16· · · · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· This is just 1

17· ·through 8.

18· · · · · · · ·MR. BRADLEY:· Yeah.

19· · · · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· But you were

20· ·stipulating from 1 through 12.

21· · · · · · · ·MS. BRADLEY:· Yeah, because 9 was added

22· ·later.· It's an article that was provided.· The title of

23· ·the article is Comparison of Corticosteroids for

24· ·Treatment of Respiratory.

http://www.litigationservices.com


Page 14
·1· · · · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· Okay.· Well, let

·2· ·me ask you this.· If I go with the conference, the

·3· ·prehearing conference disclosures and I go with the

·4· ·second supplement that has them all listed 1 through 12,

·5· ·is it really going to be 2 through 13 and then

·6· ·disclosures will be 1?· Are they in the same order?

·7· · · · · · · ·MS. BRADLEY:· I think so.

·8· · · · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· All right.· Just

·9· ·give me a moment and I'll mark them, please.

10· · · · · · · ·Okay.· So for the record, I have Respondent's

11· ·Exhibit 1 is Dr. Nyugen's prehearing conference

12· ·disclosure on the first and second supplements thereto;

13· ·Respondent's Exhibit 2 is the complaint; Respondent's

14· ·Exhibit 3 is Dr. Nyugen's answer; Exhibit Number 4 is

15· ·what's marked as Dr. Nyugen's Board response letter dated

16· ·April 24th, 2017.· Respondent's Exhibit 5 is the medical

17· ·records from HealthCare Partners.· Exhibit Number 6 is

18· ·the Medical Administration Log, and that commences with a

19· ·Certificate of the Custodian of Records.· Respondent's

20· ·Exhibit Number 7 is the Standard Operating Procedure for

21· ·Injectable Medication Administration.

22· · · · · · · ·Respondent's Exhibit Number 8 is the

23· ·Curriculum Vitae of Dr. Eduardo Anorga.· So sorry I have

24· ·this mental block with names, and I'm just paranoid of
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·1· ·saying them badly, so I apologize.· Respondent's Exhibit

·2· ·Number 9 the IBM Micromedex information for pediatric

·3· ·administration of Kenalog.· Respondents --

·4· · · · · · · ·MR. BRADLEY:· I have something else for 9.

·5· ·Do you have the same, Ms. Buys, for Number 9?· Because I

·6· ·have Comparison of Corticosteroids for Treatment of

·7· ·Respiratory Syncytial Virus.

·8· · · · · · · ·MS. BUYS:· I have for Number 9 IBM Micromedex

·9· ·Information for Pediatric Administration of Kenalog.

10· · · · · · · ·MR. BRADLEY:· No, it doesn't seem to be

11· ·flipped.· I can check with my assistant.· Maybe she can

12· ·get me that copy.· Can we look at your cover page real

13· ·quick just to see what it looks like?· Maybe I have it in

14· ·there.· Maybe I used a different binder.· Okay.· All

15· ·right.· I think I do have it.

16· · · · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· Okay.· Exhibit

17· ·Number 10, I have the American Society for Microbiology

18· ·Comparison of Corticosteroids for Treatment of

19· ·Respiratory Synctial Virus, Bronchiolitis and Pneumonia

20· ·in Cotton Rats.· And for Respondent's Exhibit Number 1, I

21· ·have Bristol-Myers Squibb Company information for

22· ·intramuscular or Intraarticular Kenalog Injections

23· ·revised June 2011.

24· · · · · · · ·For Respondent's Exhibit 12, I have
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·1· ·Medication Administration Details.· And for Exhibit

·2· ·Number 13, I have the Declaration of Melissa, I think

·3· ·Vogt, RN, regarding Medication Administration Details.

·4· · · · · · · ·Ms. Buys, is that correct on your end?

·5· · · · · · · ·MS. BUYS:· Yes, that is correct.

·6· · · · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· Do you need a

·7· ·minute?

·8· · · · · · · ·MR. BRADLEY:· Maybe at the break, we'll just

·9· ·adjust them because for some reason, I have 12.· I don't

10· ·think it's a big deal at this point given that we'll be

11· ·presenting our case first, and I don't really have any

12· ·questions about most of these exhibits anyway.

13· · · · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· Okay.

14· · · · · · · ·MR. BRADLEY:· But if I do happen to refer to

15· ·the wrong number, hopefully, I'll be corrected.

16· · · · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· And all of the

17· ·exhibits have been stipulated to; correct?

18· · · · · · · ·MS. BRADLEY:· Yes.

19· · · · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· Then for the

20· ·record, those are all admitted.

21· · · · · · · ·MR. BRADLEY:· Thank you.

22· · · · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· Anything before we

23· ·commence?

24· · · · · · · ·MR. BRADLEY:· No, not from me, thank you.
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·1· · · · · · · ·THE COURT:· Ms. Buys, anything further?

·2· · · · · · · ·MS. BUYS:· Not from us.· Thank you.

·3· · · · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· Thank you.· All

·4· ·right.· Go ahead, Ms. Bradley.

·5· · · · · · · ·MR. BRADLEY:· So the Investigative Committee

·6· ·of the Board authorized the filing of a formal complaint

·7· ·against Dr. Nguyen charging --

·8· · · · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· Just go slow.

·9· · · · · · · ·MR. BRADLEY:· Oh, sorry.· Charging one count

10· ·of malpractice in violation of NRS 630.301 Sub 4 and one

11· ·count of failure to maintain timely, legible, accurate

12· ·and complete medical records regarding the diagnosis,

13· ·treatment and care of a patient in violation of NRS

14· ·630.3062, Sub 1, Sub A.

15· · · · · · · ·Part of the reason that we're here today is

16· ·that Dr. Nguyen failed to provide complete and accurate

17· ·medical records to the Board in 2017 when responding to

18· ·the Board regarding this investigation.· In fact, on

19· ·Monday, May 23rd, 2022, Dr. Nguyen provided a record of

20· ·the injection for Patient A which resolves part of the

21· ·concerns originally identified in this case.· Still, the

22· ·Board's peer reviewer, Dr. Hall, has concerns regarding

23· ·Dr. Nguyen's care of Patient A in this case, and the

24· ·Investigative Committee believes that a preponderance of
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·1· ·the evidence will show that the violations of law alleged

·2· ·in the complaint support the claim of malpractice which

·3· ·is the failure to use reasonable care, skill or knowledge

·4· ·ordinarily used under similar circumstances and failure

·5· ·to maintain timely, legible, accurate and complete

·6· ·medical records.

·7· · · · · · · ·Specifically, Dr. Hall will testify that

·8· ·Dr. Nguyen failed to obtain informed consent from Patient

·9· ·A's parents for a Kenalog injection, the Kenalog

10· ·injection was unnecessary both because it was a duplicate

11· ·medication, and the medical records do not support that

12· ·oral therapy for Patient A was not feasible and

13· ·Dr. Nguyen injected Patient A superficially with the

14· ·Kenalog which caused local atrophy.· The IC will also ask

15· ·Patient A's mother to testify regarding the care that her

16· ·daughter received from Dr. Nguyen and will admit exhibits

17· ·that support the allegations as contained in the

18· ·complaint.· So thank you.

19· · · · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· Thank you.

20· · · · · · · ·Ms. Buys, did you want to have an opening now

21· ·or would you prefer do that at the opening of your case ?

22· · · · · · · ·MS. BUYS:· We can do the opening now.· Thank

23· ·you very much, Madame Hearing Officer.· My name is

24· ·Charlotte Buys, and I have the honor of representing Hai
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·1· ·Nguyen, M.D.· I want to thank everyone for their time

·2· ·here today.

·3· · · · · · · ·Dr. Nguyen has practiced as a family medicine

·4· ·specialist in Las Vegas since 2010 and treats urgent care

·5· ·patients, many of whom don't have the luxury of going to

·6· ·a primary care physician or pediatrician and who, if left

·7· ·untreated, may have their condition rapidly become a

·8· ·crisis or an emergency condition.· Dr. Nguyen takes his

·9· ·responsibilities as a physician very seriously.

10· · · · · · · ·The evidence will demonstrate that Dr. Nguyen

11· ·met the standard of care providing care and treatment to

12· ·Patient A.· Patient A's parents brought her to an urgent

13· ·care clinic on November 4, 2016, seeking care for their

14· ·child following days of coughing, wheezing, a runny nose,

15· ·vomiting, congestion, and worsening symptoms even though

16· ·she had a scheduled pediatrician appointment in a few

17· ·days, all in the backdrop of it being reported that the

18· ·patient had two prior instances of croup.

19· · · · · · · ·The evidence will show that Dr. Nguyen

20· ·appropriately examined the patient and came to formulate

21· ·a treatment plan to prescribe the patient with an oral

22· ·steroid, Prednisone.· Dr. Nguyen explained the risks,

23· ·benefits and treatment alternatives to that treatment.

24· ·However, the evidence will also show that after this
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·1· ·initial treatment plan, Dr. Nguyen was told additional

·2· ·information by the patient's mother that the child did

·3· ·not get better when she previously had these respiratory

·4· ·symptoms until she received an injection of an

·5· ·antiinflammatory medication.

·6· · · · · · · ·Based upon that new information, Dr. Nguyen

·7· ·will testify that he felt that it was reasonable to

·8· ·prescribe an injection of a steroid to help decrease

·9· ·inflammation and provide a faster treatment until the

10· ·oral medication could take effect.

11· · · · · · · ·The evidence will show that prior to any

12· ·administration of Kenalog that Dr. Nguyen discussed the

13· ·risks, benefits and alternatives to treatment of the

14· ·Kenalog injection and that the patient's parent agreed

15· ·with the treatment plan, verbalized understanding, and

16· ·even helped hold her child to assist in the

17· ·administration of the injection.

18· · · · · · · ·Moreover, the evidence will show that this

19· ·verbal consent given by Patient A's pediatric patient's

20· ·mother was documented in the patient's medical record.

21· ·However, while a medical assistant attempted to give the

22· ·injection with the help of the patient's mother and

23· ·holding the patient still, he was unable to press the

24· ·plunger of the syringe to administer the medication

http://www.litigationservices.com


Page 21
·1· ·because Patient A, a pediatric patient, was like most

·2· ·children:· Fussy and not too crazy about getting an

·3· ·injection.

·4· · · · · · · ·The evidence will demonstrate that the

·5· ·patient's mother then specifically requested that

·6· ·Dr. Nguyen himself administer the injection and that the

·7· ·patient's mother helped hold and position the child so

·8· ·that the injection could be administered safely.

·9· · · · · · · ·The child was then monitored for an

10· ·appropriate period of time before leaving the clinic.· At

11· ·no time did the child demonstrate any adverse effects of

12· ·the injection nor did the patient's mother raise any

13· ·concerns.· This single visit on November 4th, 2016, was

14· ·the only time Dr. Nguyen treated this patient.

15· · · · · · · ·There are only two issues in this matter:

16· ·Whether it was reasonable to administer a steroid

17· ·injection to the patient based upon the information that

18· ·Dr. Nguyen had available when he provided care back on

19· ·November 4th, 2016, and whether there was consent for the

20· ·administration of the steroid injection.· The evidence

21· ·will show Dr. Nguyen met the standard of care and that it

22· ·was reasonable administering the Kenalog injection and

23· ·that Dr. Nguyen received consent prior to administering

24· ·the medication and that consent was documented.
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·1· · · · · · · ·There was also originally another allegation

·2· ·regarding failure to document the specific details of the

·3· ·medication such as the vials' identification, lot number,

·4· ·expiration.

·5· · · · · · · ·However, days before this hearing, of

·6· ·medication administration detailed record for Patient A

·7· ·was located as it is kept separately from the rest of the

·8· ·patient's medical record.· It seems that with treating

·9· ·the record, a person from the medical records retrievable

10· ·company, which was a third party who obtained the

11· ·records, only pressed some of the checkboxes to get all

12· ·of the documentation and missed pressing an additional

13· ·button.· Both Dr. Nguyen and the Board independently

14· ·sought these records, and once the record was located,

15· ·the same day Dr. Nguyen received that record, it was sent

16· ·to the Board.

17· · · · · · · ·What is important and the entire purpose of

18· ·this proceeding is to show the truth, and the evidence

19· ·will show Dr. Nguyen met the standard of care.· Thank you

20· ·very much.

21· · · · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· Thank you,

22· ·Ms. Buys.· Based on Ms. Buys' representation about Count

23· ·2, are you still proceeding on that?

24· · · · · · · ·MR. BRADLEY:· Yeah, no.· We believe that the
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·1· ·records are still deficient.· They just aren't deficient

·2· ·in all of the ways we originally identified.

·3· · · · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· Okay.· And so just

·4· ·for me so I can pinpoint as we go through testimony, what

·5· ·are you relying on with regard to the records?

·6· · · · · · · ·MR. BRADLEY:· Dr. Hall will testify that the

·7· ·informed consent was not documented properly.· I believe

·8· ·there's also concerns regarding the injection location

·9· ·and how that was documented, so we're not willing, at

10· ·least at this time, to dispense with the record.· I think

11· ·initially, the most glaring error was the omission of the

12· ·information regarding the injection, but we have that

13· ·now, but we still have concerns regarding the record.

14· · · · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· Ms. Buys, does

15· ·that clarify for you as well?· Were you aware of that?

16· · · · · · · ·MS. BUYS:· Thank you for the clarification

17· ·from Ms. Bradley.· And as the evidence will show, the

18· ·location of the administration is documented in that

19· ·additional record as well.

20· · · · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· All right.· Ms.

21· ·Bradley, would you like to call your first witness?

22· · · · · · · ·MS. BRADLEY:· I would.· I would call Ernesto

23· ·Diaz.

24
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·1· · · · · · · · · · · DIRECT EXAMINATION

·2· ·BY MS. BRADLEY:

·3· · · · · Q· · Mr. Diaz, would you please state your name

·4· ·and spell your list name for the record.

·5· · · · · A· · Ernesto Diaz:· D-I-A-Z.

·6· · · · · Q· · And who is your employer?

·7· · · · · A· · The Nevada State Board of Medical Examiners.

·8· · · · · Q· · What is your job title?

·9· · · · · A· · I'm the Chief of Investigations.

10· · · · · Q· · How long have you had that position?

11· · · · · A· · Approximately two years and three months.

12· · · · · Q· · Do you have any other investigations

13· ·experience?

14· · · · · A· · I do.

15· · · · · Q· · With where and when?

16· · · · · A· · I was a border patrol agent for four years in

17· ·San Diego, California.· After that, I was an ATF special

18· ·agent for approximately 21 years throughout the U.S.,

19· ·retiring as a senior management assistant special agent

20· ·in charge.

21· · · · · Q· · And as a Chief of Investigations for the

22· ·Nevada State Board of Medical Examiners, what are your

23· ·duties?

24· · · · · A· · I oversee the day-to-day operations of the
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·1· ·Investigations Division, I review all complaints that

·2· ·come to the Division, to the Board, I determine

·3· ·jurisdiction of those complaints, I assign complaints

·4· ·that are open.· I assign investigators.· I also report

·5· ·disciplinary actions to government entities and other

·6· ·agencies.

·7· · · · · Q· · And do you also investigate cases that come

·8· ·into the Board?

·9· · · · · A· · I do.

10· · · · · Q· · When a complaint comes in, what happens?

11· · · · · A· · I review the complaint, number one, to

12· ·determine if they are a licensee of our Board.· Number

13· ·two:· I review the allegations to see if they fall within

14· ·the Medical Practice Act.· Number three:· We open the

15· ·case if it's within our jurisdiction, and then it's

16· ·assigned to an investigator.

17· · · · · Q· · And when an investigation is opened, does the

18· ·Board create a file for that matter?

19· · · · · A· · Yes, we do create a hard copy case file.

20· · · · · Q· · Are you familiar with Investigation 17-17109

21· ·regarding Dr. Nguyen?

22· · · · · A· · Yes, I am.

23· · · · · Q· · And is that this case?

24· · · · · A· · That is correct.
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·1· · · · · Q· · Just for the record, were you the original

·2· ·investigator on this case?

·3· · · · · A· · I was not.

·4· · · · · Q· · Do you know who was?

·5· · · · · A· · I do.

·6· · · · · Q· · Who was that?

·7· · · · · A· · It was Laura Ward.

·8· · · · · Q· · And as the Chief of Investigations, what do

·9· ·you do with cases after an investigator is no longer

10· ·employed by the Board?

11· · · · · A· · I reassign those cases to other investigators

12· ·or myself.

13· · · · · Q· · Did you take over this case?

14· · · · · A· · I did.

15· · · · · Q· · And as the Chief of Investigations, are you

16· ·familiar with the procedure used by the Board when

17· ·investigating cases?

18· · · · · A· · Yes, I am.

19· · · · · Q· · Have you reviewed the file for this case?

20· · · · · A· · I have.

21· · · · · Q· · And based on your review, does this case

22· ·appear to be similar to other investigations handled by

23· ·the Board?

24· · · · · A· · Yes, it does.
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·1· · · · · Q· · Okay.· So let's go ahead and at least get

·2· ·some information regarding the exhibits that we have.· So

·3· ·they've already been admitted, at least the first few

·4· ·that we're going to talk about.· Would you turn to your

·5· ·binder to what's been admitted as the Board's Exhibit 1.

·6· · · · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· Just for the

·7· ·record, I just admitted Respondent's exhibits because I

·8· ·thought they were duplicative, so I know you stipulated

·9· ·through the Board's Exhibits 1 through 5, so those will

10· ·be admitted.

11· · · · · · · ·MR. BRADLEY:· Okay.· Thank you.

12· · · · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· Ms. Buys, any

13· ·issue with that?

14· · · · · · · ·MS. BUYS:· No.· Thank you very much, Madame

15· ·Hearing Officer.

16· · · · · Q· · (BY MR. BRADLEY:)· So what is Exhibit 1?

17· · · · · A· · Exhibit 1 is an allegation letter that

18· ·investigators send to licensees of the Board that

19· ·describe the allegations in the complaint that was filed

20· ·with the Board.

21· · · · · Q· · Okay.· And what were the allegations in this

22· ·allegation letter?

23· · · · · A· · That there were failed attempts to provide

24· ·injections on the patient, when it was subsequently
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·1· ·administered to the patient, there was indentation

·2· ·provided or indentation as a result of the injection

·3· ·site.

·4· · · · · Q· · Okay.· Let's go to what's been admitted as

·5· ·the Board's Exhibit 2.· Do you recognize this document?

·6· · · · · A· · Yes, I do.

·7· · · · · Q· · And what is it?

·8· · · · · A· · It's a response letter from Dr. Nguyen to

·9· ·Investigator Ward.

10· · · · · Q· · And what's the date?· I guess just for the

11· ·record, what's the date of the allegation letter which

12· ·was Exhibit 1 and what's the date of the response?

13· · · · · A· · The date of the allegation letter is March

14· ·28th, 2017, and the date of the response from Dr. Nguyen

15· ·is April 24th, 2017.

16· · · · · Q· · Okay.· Perfect.· And then let's go to

17· ·Exhibits 3 and 4 that have also been admitted.· What is

18· ·Exhibit 3?

19· · · · · A· · Exhibit 3 is the formal filing of a complaint

20· ·that the medical board files after the Investigative

21· ·Committee has reviewed the case.

22· · · · · Q· · Okay.· And what's Exhibit 4?

23· · · · · A· · Exhibit 4 is Dr. Nyugen's response to the

24· ·formal complaint that was filed.
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·1· · · · · Q· · And let's turn to Exhibit 5 that has also

·2· ·been admitted.· What is Exhibit 5?

·3· · · · · A· · Exhibit 5 are patient records from Patient A

·4· ·that are submitted as part of the response when we send

·5· ·an order to produce healthcare records.

·6· · · · · Q· · Okay.· And how many pages do you show that

·7· ·Exhibit 5 is?

·8· · · · · A· · I show approximately three pages.

·9· · · · · Q· · And then I'm going to ask you about some

10· ·exhibits that have not been admitted, and I'm not

11· ·intending to have them be admitted at this time, but I

12· ·just want to lay a little bit of foundation for them

13· ·before we proceed.· So would you please turn to what's

14· ·been pre-marked as the Board's Exhibit 6.

15· · · · · A· · Okay.

16· · · · · Q· · Do you recognize that document?

17· · · · · A· · I do.

18· · · · · Q· · What is it?

19· · · · · A· · Exhibit 6 was an attachment or a supplemental

20· ·information that the complainant provided to the Board as

21· ·part of their complaint, and it's a photograph.

22· · · · · Q· · Okay.· And so does this appear to be a true

23· ·and correct copy of what the Board has in the

24· ·investigative file for this matter?

http://www.litigationservices.com


Page 30
·1· · · · · A· · Yes, it does.

·2· · · · · Q· · Okay.· Thank you.· Would you turn then now to

·3· ·Exhibit 7 through 17.

·4· · · · · A· · Okay.

·5· · · · · Q· · Do you recognize those exhibits?

·6· · · · · A· · I do.

·7· · · · · Q· · And what are they?

·8· · · · · A· · Exhibit 7 through 17 are referenced

·9· ·materials, articles that were written, reviewed or

10· ·submitted with the peer-reviewed report.

11· · · · · Q· · And is it unusual for the Board to receive

12· ·articles when there's a peer review?

13· · · · · A· · No, we ask peer reviewers to cite any

14· ·reference material they've used in writing their report.

15· · · · · Q· · Okay.· And these appear to be true and

16· ·correct copies of the articles that were received from

17· ·Dr. Hall?

18· · · · · A· · Yes, they do.

19· · · · · Q· · And then let's turn to Exhibits 18 through

20· ·19, premarked, not admitted.· Do you recognize these

21· ·documents?

22· · · · · A· · I do.

23· · · · · Q· · And what are they?

24· · · · · A· · Curriculum vitae of Dr. Scott Hall.
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·1· · · · · Q· · And how did the Board receive them?

·2· · · · · A· · When we select someone to be a peer reviewer,

·3· ·we request a CV from them, and then in addition, when

·4· ·they do a report for us, a peer-review report, we request

·5· ·that they submit an updated CV as well.

·6· · · · · Q· · Okay.· And do these appear to be a true and

·7· ·correct copy of the CV's on file for Dr. Hall?

·8· · · · · A· · Yes.

·9· · · · · · · ·MS. BRADLEY:· I have no further questions for

10· ·Mr. Diaz at this time.

11· · · · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· Ms. Buys?

12· · · · · · · ·MS. BUYS:· Yes.· Thank you so much.

13· ·Mr. Diaz, can you hear me all right?

14· · · · · · · ·THE WITNESS:· Yes, I can hear you.

15

16· · · · · · · · · · · · CROSS-EXAMINATION

17· ·BY MS. BUYS:

18· · · · · Q· · Perfect.· I always want to make sure with,

19· ·you know, video technology.· Mr. Diaz, I believe that you

20· ·just testified that you have been employed by the Board

21· ·of Medical Examiners for about two years, three months.

22· ·Is that correct?

23· · · · · A· · That is correct.

24· · · · · Q· · So would that be approximately March of 2020
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·1· ·is when you were first hired?

·2· · · · · A· · That is correct.

·3· · · · · Q· · Perfect.· I like to double-check my math.

·4· ·And other than working for the Nevada Board of Medical

·5· ·Examiners, are you currently employed anywhere else?

·6· · · · · A· · No.

·7· · · · · Q· · So the Nevada Board of Medical Examiners is

·8· ·your sole source of employment at this time; is that

·9· ·correct?

10· · · · · A· · No.

11· · · · · Q· · Where else are you employed?

12· · · · · A· · I'm retired.· I'm a retired federal agent, so

13· ·I get a monthly annuity.

14· · · · · Q· · Gotcha.· I just wanted to double-check on

15· ·your current employment.· So just the Nevada Board of

16· ·Medical Examiners, right?

17· · · · · A· · That is correct.

18· · · · · Q· · All right.· Thank you for clarifying.· And,

19· ·Mr. Diaz, have you ever attended medical school?

20· · · · · A· · No.

21· · · · · Q· · All right.· So you would agree with me that

22· ·you're not a medical doctor; correct?

23· · · · · A· · I am not a medical doctor.· Correct.

24· · · · · Q· · All right.· And as Chief of Investigations,
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·1· ·is it your experience that most of the investigators are

·2· ·also not medical doctors?

·3· · · · · A· · That is correct.

·4· · · · · Q· · Is Laura Ward a medical doctor?

·5· · · · · A· · No.

·6· · · · · Q· · And I believe that you testified that she had

·7· ·been the original investigator on the case.· Is that

·8· ·correct?

·9· · · · · A· · Yes.

10· · · · · Q· · And in your experience, do the investigators

11· ·primarily take the allegations that are written in an

12· ·underlying consumer complaint and use them as the

13· ·allegations in the, you know, initial letters of inquiry

14· ·that are sent by the Board to a physician?

15· · · · · A· · Yes, the investigators review the complaint

16· ·and then they draft an allegation letter based on what

17· ·the complainant has provided.

18· · · · · Q· · You testified that you reviewed that letter

19· ·of inquiry that was sent to Dr. Nguyen.· I believe that

20· ·was marked as the Investigative Exhibit Number 1.· Is

21· ·that correct?

22· · · · · A· · Yes.

23· · · · · Q· · And it appears that that first paragraph on

24· ·that first page lists a number of allegations.· Do you
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·1· ·see that?

·2· · · · · A· · Yes.

·3· · · · · Q· · All right.· And towards the bottom of that

·4· ·first paragraph, it reads quote, "The parents requested

·5· ·that you administer the shot."· Did I read that

·6· ·correctly?

·7· · · · · A· · Yes, you did.

·8· · · · · Q· · All right.· Mr. Diaz, is it your

·9· ·understanding that the "you" stated when saying the

10· ·parents requested "you" administer the shot refers to

11· ·Dr. Nguyen?

12· · · · · A· · Yes.

13· · · · · Q· · All right.· So is it correct to say that one

14· ·of the allegations alleged is that the parents of Patient

15· ·A requested that Dr. Nguyen give the patient a shot?

16· · · · · A· · Yes.

17· · · · · Q· · All right.· And since you were only hired by

18· ·the Nevada State Board of Medical Examiners in 2020, is

19· ·it fair to say that you were not part of the

20· ·Investigative Committee of the Board at the time the

21· ·formal complaint of this matter was authorized?

22· · · · · A· · I need to look at the date of the filing of

23· ·the Investigative Committee.· If you'd give me a minute.

24· · · · · Q· · Certainly.

http://www.litigationservices.com


Page 35
·1· · · · · A· · No, I was employed when this was filed on

·2· ·November 3rd, 2021.

·3· · · · · Q· · All right.· And let's take a look at it is

·4· ·the IC's Exhibit Number 3.· It appears at Footnote Number

·5· ·1 of the page towards the bottom.· It states quote, "The

·6· ·Investigative Committee of the Nevada State Board of

·7· ·Medical Examiners, at the time this formal complaint was

·8· ·authorized for filing, was composed of Board members" --

·9· ·and I apologize if I mispronounce the name -- Rachakonda

10· ·D. Prabhu, M.D., Ms. Sandy Peltyn, and Victor M. Muro,

11· ·M.D."· Did I read that correctly?

12· · · · · A· · Yes, you did.

13· · · · · Q· · Have you ever discussed this formal complaint

14· ·or investigative process that led to it with Ms. Sandy

15· ·Peltyn?

16· · · · · A· · Did I?· I didn't hear you.· I'm sorry.

17· · · · · Q· · Oh, certainly.· Let me restate the question.

18· ·Did you ever discuss this formal complaint or the

19· ·investigative process that led to it with Ms. Sandy

20· ·Peltyn?

21· · · · · A· · No.

22· · · · · Q· · But Ms. Sandy Peltyn was on the Board when

23· ·the formal complaint was authorized; is that correct?

24· · · · · A· · That is correct.
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·1· · · · · Q· · All right.· Are you aware that Ms. Sandy

·2· ·Peltyn passed away in December of 2018?

·3· · · · · A· · I am.

·4· · · · · Q· · Okay.· And that would have been before you

·5· ·began your position as the Chief of Investigations.· Is

·6· ·that correct?

·7· · · · · A· · That is correct.

·8· · · · · Q· · Do you know when the formal complaint was

·9· ·authorized for filing in this matter?

10· · · · · A· · I don't have the date in front of me of when

11· ·the Investigative Committee met to discuss this actual

12· ·case, but I do know when it was filed on November 3rd,

13· ·2021, I was employed by the Board.

14· · · · · Q· · Gotcha.· And since Ms. Peltyn was a member of

15· ·the Board and passed away in 2018, is it your

16· ·understanding that the authorization for the filing of

17· ·this complaint would have been prior to December of 2018?

18· · · · · A· · That is correct.

19· · · · · Q· · All right.· And you just testified that the

20· ·formal complaint was filed November 3rd, 2021.· Is that

21· ·right?

22· · · · · A· · Yes.

23· · · · · Q· · Do you know why there was a delay between at

24· ·some point in 2018 and when the complaint was actually
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·1· ·filed November 3rd of 2021?

·2· · · · · A· · No, I do not.

·3· · · · · Q· · All right.· Would there be any other

·4· ·individual aside from yourself that would have access to

·5· ·that information as to why there was a delay in filing a

·6· ·formal complaint?

·7· · · · · A· · Not to my knowledge.

·8· · · · · · · ·MR. BRADLEY:· I'm going to object.· I don't

·9· ·know that it's relevant, the delay, in filing the

10· ·complaint.· I'm not sure what the purpose of the

11· ·questioning is.

12· · · · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· Ms. Buys, do you

13· ·have a response?

14· · · · · · · ·MS. BUYS:· Certainly.· It's relevant to

15· ·establish, you know, the basis for proceeding forward

16· ·with a formal complaint against Dr. Nguyen based upon the

17· ·investigation and the investigation process.

18· · · · · · · ·MR. BRADLEY:· Well, there's no statute of

19· ·limitations and there's no timeline prescribed in NRS

20· ·Chapter 630.· And I don't, I mean, Mr. Diaz is the

21· ·Board's only actually employed witness, so I'm not sure

22· ·if this is information he even has.

23· · · · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· I'm going to allow

24· ·it.· Go ahead, Ms. Buys.
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·1· · · · · Q· · (BY MS. BUYS:)· Thank you very much.· And so

·2· ·to rephrase my question, Mr. Diaz, is there another

·3· ·individual aside from yourself who would have knowledge

·4· ·as to why the complaint would have been authorized prior

·5· ·to December of 2018, and it was not filed until November

·6· ·3rd, 2021?

·7· · · · · A· · I would not know who that person would be if

·8· ·in fact they do have knowledge of that information.

·9· · · · · Q· · Thank you, sir.· And what was the date the

10· ·care at issue was rendered to Ms. Patient A?

11· · · · · A· · November 4th, 2016.

12· · · · · Q· · And do you know what the date was that the

13· ·Board received the underlying consumer complaint?

14· · · · · A· · I would have to look through the case file to

15· ·get the exact date that the complaint was filed.· I don't

16· ·have that actual complaint in front of me.

17· · · · · Q· · As part of your role as an investigator in

18· ·this matter, have you reviewed the consumer complaint?

19· · · · · A· · I have.

20· · · · · Q· · All right.· I just would like to make a note

21· ·for the record that that information was requested and a

22· ·motion was filed and it was denied, and I just wanted to

23· ·make that point for the record.

24· · · · · · · ·Mr. Diaz, in your role, you review documents

http://www.litigationservices.com


Page 39
·1· ·that were received as part of the investigation process;

·2· ·is that correct?

·3· · · · · A· · Yes.

·4· · · · · Q· · As part of the investigatory process, does

·5· ·the Board independently obtain the patient's medical

·6· ·records?

·7· · · · · A· · We do.

·8· · · · · Q· · All right.· And what medical records were

·9· ·obtained during the investigation?

10· · · · · A· · The ones that we received from Dr. Nguyen

11· ·when we sent an order to produce healthcare records.

12· · · · · Q· · Were any medical records prior or subsequent

13· ·to November 4th, 2016 obtained as part of the

14· ·investigation?

15· · · · · A· · No.

16· · · · · Q· · Why not?

17· · · · · A· · We normally request a period of time when

18· ·there was treatment that a patient was seen.· In this

19· ·case, it was only a one-time visit with Dr. Nguyen.

20· · · · · Q· · And did you receive any certificates of a

21· ·custodian of records for Patient A's medical records that

22· ·you received?

23· · · · · A· · I remember seeing the custodian of records.

24· ·I just have to find it in the Exhibit Number, if you give
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·1· ·me a second.

·2· · · · · Q· · Certainly.

·3· · · · · A· · I don't have it in front of me.· I don't have

·4· ·a copy of it in our exhibits.

·5· · · · · · · ·MR. BRADLEY:· I mean if I may, I believe the

·6· ·only ones that were provided are in Dr. Nyugen's

·7· ·response.· So I think if you look at the exhibits that

·8· ·were admitted for Dr. Nguyen, which was 12 or 13, I

·9· ·suppose, I think you'll see it.

10· · · · · · · ·MS. BUYS:· And I believe, for the record, it

11· ·was admitted as Respondent's Exhibit Number 6, which is

12· ·Bates the bottom right-hand corner Med Admin Log 0001.

13· · · · · · · ·THE WITNESS:· Okay.· I do see a certificate

14· ·of custodian of records dated November 7th.· I'm sorry.

15· ·That's dated March 7th, 2022.

16· · · · · Q· · (BY MS. BUYS:)· And who is listed as

17· ·custodian of records?

18· · · · · A· · Marla Saulsberry.

19· · · · · Q· · So is it fair to say that Dr. Nguyen is not

20· ·the custodian of records for Patient A's medical records

21· ·that have been admitted?

22· · · · · A· · For the records that were received with this

23· ·certificate of custodian of records, it would appear to

24· ·be Marla Saulsberry.

http://www.litigationservices.com


Page 41
·1· · · · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· And just for the

·2· ·record, we're referring to Respondent's Exhibit Number 6.

·3· · · · · Q· · (BY MS. BUYS:)· Thank you.· Are you aware

·4· ·that Marla Saulsberry is an employee of MED-R, a medical

·5· ·records retrieval company?

·6· · · · · A· · I am not.

·7· · · · · Q· · As Chief of Investigations, are you aware

·8· ·that some facilities and physician groups use medical

·9· ·records retrieval services to obtain a patient's medical

10· ·records to respond to a request for a record?

11· · · · · A· · Yes, I am.

12· · · · · Q· · And in your experience, is that a normal and

13· ·accepted practice?

14· · · · · A· · It's common.· Yes.

15· · · · · Q· · All right.· And going back to the

16· ·Investigative Committee's Exhibit Number 1, does it

17· ·specifically state in there a request that a certificate

18· ·of a custodian of records accompany records that are

19· ·provided to the Board as part of their inquiry?

20· · · · · A· · Not in the allegation letter.· It's usually

21· ·included in the order to produce healthcare records

22· ·though.

23· · · · · Q· · And is there an order to produce healthcare

24· ·records attached to this Exhibit Number 1?
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·1· · · · · A· · No, there is not.

·2· · · · · Q· · All right.· And today in 2022, does the Board

·3· ·regularly request that the certificate of a custodian of

·4· ·record be included with the medical records it obtains?

·5· · · · · A· · Yes, we always send out a certificate of

·6· ·records, custodian of records with an order to provide

·7· ·healthcare reports.

·8· · · · · Q· · And why is that?

·9· · · · · A· · It's to insure that all of the records that

10· ·we received are true and accurate copies and everything

11· ·included during the time period that the records were

12· ·requested.

13· · · · · Q· · And in this case, it does not appear that

14· ·there is an attached additional page aside from this

15· ·March 28th, 2017 letter to Dr. Nguyen requesting his

16· ·response.· Is that correct?

17· · · · · A· · Not with Exhibit 1.

18· · · · · Q· · All right.· Are you aware of an additional

19· ·document requesting the records that was sent to

20· ·Dr. Nguyen?

21· · · · · A· · Yes.

22· · · · · Q· · Do you have a copy of that document?

23· · · · · A· · I do not.· Not in front of me.

24· · · · · Q· · All right.· Neither do we.· And as Chief of
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·1· ·Investigations, have you seen occasions where medical

·2· ·records have been received by the Board without a

·3· ·certificate of a custodian of records?

·4· · · · · A· · Yes.· In the past when we requested records,

·5· ·they were either requested in the allegation letter or

·6· ·they were requested through an order to produce

·7· ·healthcare records and some were not -- the custodian of

·8· ·records was something that was not utilized way back.

·9· ·It's something that's been utilized at least since I've

10· ·been with the Board.

11· · · · · Q· · And that's in March of 2020; correct?

12· · · · · A· · Yes.

13· · · · · Q· · All right.· And aside from this one matter,

14· ·are you aware of any other complaints that have been

15· ·alleged against Dr. Hai Nguyen?

16· · · · · · · ·MR. BRADLEY:· I'm going to object because I

17· ·don't think that's public information.· NRS Chapter

18· ·630.336 says that complaints that aren't basically acted

19· ·on or don't have a filed formal complaint are not public

20· ·record.

21· · · · · Q· · (BY MS. BUYS:)· I'll rephrase the question.

22· ·Aside from this one matter, has the Board ever sent Dr.

23· ·Nguyen an additional letter of inquiry based upon

24· ·allegations that he fell below the standard of care?
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·1· · · · · · · ·MR. BRADLEY:· I'm going to object.· I think

·2· ·that's the same question.· You're asking now whether or

·3· ·not he was ever sent an allegation letter.· We know he

·4· ·was sent an allegation letter in this case.· Any other

·5· ·allegations letters that he was sent would not be a

·6· ·matter of public record pursuant to NRS Chapter 630.336.

·7· · · · · · · ·MS. BUYS:· Well, it's relevant to determine

·8· ·whether or not Dr. Nguyen has ever been put on notice

·9· ·that there are other allegations against him.

10· · · · · · · ·MS. BRADLEY:· I'm not saying it's not

11· ·relevant.· I'm saying it's confidential as a matter of

12· ·law.

13· · · · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· Well, I'm going to

14· ·rule on that.· Actually, I'm only here for the

15· ·allegations that are in the complaint and whether there

16· ·has or hasn't been any other allegations is irrelevant to

17· ·what I need to address.

18· · · · · · · ·MS. BUYS:· Thank you for your time, Mr. Diaz.

19· · · · · · · ·THE WITNESS:· Thank you.

20· · · · · · · ·MR. BRADLEY:· I have a couple of redirect for

21· ·Mr. Diaz, if I might.

22· · · · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· Go ahead.

23

24
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·1· · · · · · · · · · · ·REDIRECT EXAMINATION

·2· ·BY MS. BRADLEY:

·3· · · · · Q· · So, Mr. Diaz, in your experience, how would

·4· ·you know if an outside entity was the custodian of

·5· ·records for a provider?

·6· · · · · A· · We wouldn't.· We would send it to the doctor

·7· ·first, and in their response, they would either let us

·8· ·know that they are not the custodian of records and they

·9· ·would direct us to who would be the custodian of records.

10· ·At that point, we would then send a request for medical

11· ·records to either a third party or a medical facility if

12· ·the doctor was not the true custodian of records.

13· · · · · Q· · So would you please turn to the Board's

14· ·Exhibit 2, which has already been admitted.· And if you

15· ·look at that first paragraph on that exhibit, could you

16· ·read the sentence that starts with "Copies of" and redact

17· ·the name to be Patient A?

18· · · · · A· · This is from the April 24th, 2017 response --

19· · · · · Q· · Yeah.

20· · · · · A· · -- letter from Dr. Nguyen.· "Copies of

21· ·Patient A's medical records which I have obtained are

22· ·enclosed for your review and file."

23· · · · · Q· · So does that let you know that there's an

24· ·outside entity that may be a custodian of records?
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·1· · · · · A· · No.

·2· · · · · Q· · Can you review this letter?· And I know

·3· ·you've already reviewed it.· Is there anything else in

·4· ·here that lets you know that there's another entity that

·5· ·may have records regarding Patient A?

·6· · · · · A· · No, there is not.

·7· · · · · Q· · Does the statute provide an obligation on the

·8· ·part of a physician to respond to a complaint?

·9· · · · · A· · Yes, it does.

10· · · · · Q· · And does it also require that they provide

11· ·records?

12· · · · · A· · Yes.

13· · · · · · · ·MS. BRADLEY:· I have no further questions at

14· ·this time.

15· · · · · · · ·THE COURT:· Okay.· Thank you.· Would you like

16· ·to call our next witness?

17· · · · · · · ·MR. BRADLEY:· I would.· I believe

18· ·Ms. DelGrosso is there in Las Vegas, and she has not been

19· ·sworn previously.· And I'm hoping Mr. Swank can bring her

20· ·in.

21· · · · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· Before we do that,

22· ·anyone need a break?

23· · · · · · · ·MS. BUYS:· Actually, yes, we will take maybe

24· ·a five-minute break, if that's all right.
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·1· · · · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· Okay.· So we'll

·2· ·come back -- why don't we come back at 9:30.· It's 9:18.

·3· ·Sorry.· Yeah, let's do 9:30 so everyone can stretch their

·4· ·legs.

·5· · · · · · · ·MS. BRADLEY:· Okay.· Thank you.

·6· · · · · · · · · · · · ·(Recess.)

·7· · · · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· The time is now

·8· ·9:31.· We're going to go back on the record in Case

·9· ·Number 21-38084-1.· I'll note that the parties are still

10· ·present via remote means.· Ms. Bradley left off calling

11· ·her second witness, Ms. DelGrosso, I believe was the

12· ·name?

13· · · · · · · ·MR. BRADLEY:· Uh-huh.· Yes.

14· · · · · · · ·MR. SWANK:· Should I bring Ms. DelGrosso in?

15· · · · · · · ·MR. BRADLEY:· Yes, please.

16· · · · · · · ·THE COURT REPORTER:· Who is that?

17· · · · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· He's the IT guy.

18· · · · · · · ·MS. BRADLEY:· Mr. Swank.· Ryan:· R-Y-A-N

19· ·S-W-A-N-K.

20· · · · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· Ms. Buys, in case

21· ·you can't hear us, we've been identifying the gentleman

22· ·who was just speaking for the record.· The court reporter

23· ·was asking his name.

24· · · · · · · ·MS. BUYS:· Thank you.
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·1· · · · · · · ·MR. BRADLEY:· So I would call Ms. DelGrosso

·2· ·as a witness.· I'm not sure where is best for her to sit.

·3· · · · · · · ·MR. SWANK:· I was thinking right about here.

·4· ·Would this be good for you guys?

·5· · · · · · · ·MS. BRADLEY:· Perfect.· Can you see her okay

·6· ·if she sits there, Ms. Buys?

·7· · · · · · · ·MS. BUYS:· I can.· Yes.

·8· · · · · · · ·MS. BRADLEY:· And I believe this witness has

·9· ·not been sworn yet.

10· · · · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· That is correct.

11· · · · · · · ·Ms. DelGrosso, if you could raise your right

12· ·hand, please.

13· · · · · · · ·(The witness was sworn.)

14· · · · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· Thank you.· You

15· ·may be seated.· And if you could start by having her

16· ·state her name and spell her name for the record.

17

18· · · · · · · · · · · · ·DIRECT EXAMINATION

19· ·BY MS. BRADLEY:

20· · · · · Q· · Yes.· Ms. DelGrosso, would you please state

21· ·your name and spell your name for the record.

22· · · · · A· · Shielamarie DelGrosso.· First name is:

23· ·S-H-I-E-L-A-M-A-R-I-E.· Last name is D-E-L-G-R-O-S-S-O.

24· · · · · Q· · Thank you.· And did you file the consumer
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·1· ·complaint in the Board's Investigation 17-17109?

·2· · · · · A· · Yes.

·3· · · · · Q· · Why did you file that complaint?

·4· · · · · A· · Because we went to our pediatrician.  I

·5· ·noticed there was a divot on my two-year-old's bottom,

·6· ·and it was getting bigger, so we went to my pediatrician

·7· ·and had him look at it, and he was pretty concerned about

·8· ·it.

·9· · · · · · · ·He asked if she had been administered a shot,

10· ·and I said yeah, a couple of months prior.· He asked what

11· ·it was, and I remember the name of the shot starting with

12· ·a K or a C.· It was a Kent (sic) shot.· And then I said

13· ·that to my pediatrician, and he became even more

14· ·concerned saying that they don't administer that shot to

15· ·children anymore, especially children that young, so he

16· ·was quite concerned about it.

17· · · · · · · ·So my husband -- right after that

18· ·appointment, my husband had gone back to the urgent care

19· ·office asking for any kind of records, which shot it was,

20· ·any kind of information, asking to talk to a doctor or a

21· ·nurse that was in the office, and they brushed him off.

22· ·So after that happened, I had filed a complaint.

23· · · · · · · ·MS. BRADLEY:· Okay.· And I believe we have a

24· ·copy of exhibits there.· I don't know if we can make
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·1· ·sure.· I wanted to let the witness see what's been

·2· ·premarked as the Board's Exhibit 6.

·3· · · · · · · ·THE COURT:· Hold on a minute.· Someone walked

·4· ·in.· I don't know if it's a witness or --

·5· · · · · · · ·MR. BRADLEY:· Oh, I think that's Dr. Hall.

·6· · · · · · · ·DR. HALL:· Yes.

·7· · · · · · · ·MR. BRADLEY:· Yes, he will be a witness.

·8· · · · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· For the record,

·9· ·Dr. Hall has come into the room.· He's not in view, and I

10· ·know he's a witness, so I'm noting that for the record.

11· · · · · · · ·MR. BRADLEY:· So, Mr. Swank, do we have

12· ·exhibits available for Mrs. DelGrosso?

13· · · · · · · ·MR. SWANK:· Yes.· Let me see if I can find

14· ·those for you.

15· · · · · · · ·MR. BRADLEY:· I apologize for the delay.

16· · · · · · · ·MS. BUYS:· No worries.· Do we want to go off

17· ·the record as Mr. Swank looks for those exhibits?

18· · · · · · · ·MR. BRADLEY:· Yeah, if we might.

19· · · ·(WHEREUPON, an off-the-record discussion ensued.)

20· · · · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· We're back on the

21· ·record in Case Number 21-38084-1.· All of the previously

22· ·present parties and those noted on the record are still

23· ·present, and Ms. DelGrosso has been provided with the

24· ·Board's exhibits.
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·1· · · · · · · ·Ms. Bradley?

·2· · · · · Q· · (BY MR. BRADLEY:)· Thank you.· So,

·3· ·Ms. DelGrosso, do you see something that's labeled as

·4· ·Exhibit 6 in there?· Is there a tab that says 6?

·5· · · · · A· · There's no tabs in here.

·6· · · · · Q· · Okay.· Look for it should be Bates stamp page

·7· ·17.· If you look on the very bottom, there should be

·8· ·small little numbers.

·9· · · · · · · ·MR. SWANK:· What is the document?· Maybe I

10· ·can help her find it.· There's no Bates stamp on there.

11· ·Is it the HealthCare Partners Medical Group Medication

12· ·List?

13· · · · · · · ·MR. BRADLEY:· No.· It's a photograph that I

14· ·believe Ms. DelGrosso has knowledge about, so that

15· ·appears to maybe not even be our exhibits.· I'm not sure.

16· · · · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· Does your copy

17· ·have Bates stamps?

18· · · · · · · ·MR. BRADLEY:· Mine does.

19· · · · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· Do you want to

20· ·scan it and email it down real quick?· Would that be the

21· ·quickest way to do this?

22· · · · · · · ·THE WITNESS:· The original email with the

23· ·attachment.

24· · · · · · · ·MR. BRADLEY:· Oh, you have the original
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·1· ·email?

·2· · · · · · · ·THE WITNESS:· Uh-huh.· And then original

·3· ·pictures.

·4· · · · · · · ·MR. BRADLEY:· Okay.

·5· · · · · · · ·THE WITNESS:· I'm not seeing it in this

·6· ·binder.

·7· · · · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· Do you want to go

·8· ·off the record again?

·9· · · · · · · ·MR. BRADLEY:· Yeah, if we could go off the

10· ·record.

11· · · ·(WHEREUPON, an off-the-record discussion ensued.)

12· · · · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· We're back on the

13· ·record in Case Number 21-38084-1.· All of the previously

14· ·indicated persons are in the hearing rooms.

15· · · · · · · ·And, Ms. DelGrosso, I'll remind you that you

16· ·remain under oath.

17· · · · · · · ·THE WITNESS:· Yes.

18· · · · · Q· · (BY MR. BRADLEY:)· So, Ms. DelGrosso, before

19· ·you, you have what has been premarked as the Board's

20· ·Exhibit 6.· Have you seen that before?

21· · · · · A· · Yes.

22· · · · · Q· · What is it?

23· · · · · A· · These are pictures of my daughter, her

24· ·bottom.
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·1· · · · · Q· · And did you take those photos?

·2· · · · · A· · I did.· That's my hand in the picture.

·3· · · · · Q· · Okay.· Do you recall what date and time the

·4· ·photos were taken?

·5· · · · · A· · Yes.· They were March 25th, 2017, at 10:11

·6· ·a.m.

·7· · · · · Q· · And are they true and correct copies of how

·8· ·your daughter's, I guess, backside looked when you took

·9· ·the photos on March 25th, 2017 at 10:11 a.m.?

10· · · · · A· · Yes.

11· · · · · Q· · Did you provide those photos to the Board

12· ·with your complaint?

13· · · · · A· · I did.

14· · · · · · · ·MS. BRADLEY:· I'm going to ask for admission

15· ·of Exhibit 6.

16· · · · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· Ms. Buys?

17· · · · · · · ·MS. BUYS:· We'll just make a note that we

18· ·object as to the fact that the photos themselves are

19· ·still undated and taken at such a significant period

20· ·after the care and treatment, but otherwise, that's our

21· ·objection.

22· · · · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· Thank you.· Board

23· ·Exhibit 6 is admitted.

24· · · · · Q· · (BY MR. BRADLEY:)· Thank you.· So,
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·1· ·Ms. DelGrosso, when you look at those photos, there's --

·2· ·Can you describe the photo for us as far as the injury

·3· ·that shows?

·4· · · · · A· · Yes.· So on the left, I guess her left side,

·5· ·right, it's like a quarter-sized divot.· And it was

·6· ·pretty deep.· You can't really see how deep it looked

·7· ·like in person from the pictures, but my daughter was

·8· ·standing towards the headboard right after her bath, and

·9· ·I took the photo.

10· · · · · Q· · Did your daughter complain of soreness in

11· ·that area?

12· · · · · A· · She did after the shot was administered.· So

13· ·it was red and it was puffy for a while.· But then I

14· ·started noticing the swelling go down, and then this

15· ·started forming and this -- it became this deep in a

16· ·short period of time from what I recall.· And then right

17· ·after I discovered it, we had taken her to the

18· ·pediatrician.

19· · · · · Q· · Okay.· Do you recall approximately when that

20· ·pediatrician visit occurred?

21· · · · · A· · I don't know the exact date.

22· · · · · Q· · Let's go back to the visit with Dr. Nguyen on

23· ·November 4, 2016.· Do you remember that visit?

24· · · · · A· · I do.
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·1· · · · · Q· · What do you remember about that visit?

·2· · · · · A· · On that visit, we had taken her into the

·3· ·urgent care because my pediatrician was not available on

·4· ·that date.· She was sick, and we were concerned enough to

·5· ·take her in.· We waited -- both my husband and I were

·6· ·there with the baby -- and then we waited in the waiting

·7· ·room for a bit and then got called back.

·8· · · · · · · ·The doctor that came in started asking a

·9· ·bunch of questions as far as symptoms, had his back

10· ·turned to us the entire time and was just typing

11· ·everything into the computer, and it was a fairly quick

12· ·visit.

13· · · · · · · ·And then he had said:· All right.· Well, it

14· ·sounds like she's sick, so if, you know, really sick.  I

15· ·don't know what the diagnosis was exactly, but he said,

16· ·you know, we have a steroid shot and we can give it to

17· ·her and she should be better the next couple of days and

18· ·then go from there.· And I said:· Okay, is what I told

19· ·him.· And so he comes back in, gives a shot and then

20· ·we're sent on our way.

21· · · · · Q· · Okay.· Do you recall him providing you

22· ·information regarding that shot?

23· · · · · A· · As far as verbally or?

24· · · · · Q· · Well, did he tell you -- he told you -- so
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·1· ·from what you just testified to, he told you the shot

·2· ·would make her better in a couple of days.

·3· · · · · A· · Yep.

·4· · · · · Q· · Did he tell you any risks for that shot?

·5· · · · · A· · A little bit of soreness on the site; that

·6· ·she should start to see relief in a couple of days.

·7· · · · · Q· · Okay.· Did you consent to him to provide that

·8· ·shot?

·9· · · · · A· · We were going along with what he said.· We

10· ·said okay.

11· · · · · Q· · Did you understand that the shot could cause

12· ·longer-term effects than just soreness?

13· · · · · A· · Absolutely not.

14· · · · · Q· · So was there just one attempt to give her the

15· ·shot?

16· · · · · A· · Yes.

17· · · · · Q· · Who provided the shot?

18· · · · · A· · The doctor that we saw.

19· · · · · Q· · Did you ask him to provide that shot?

20· · · · · A· · I believe the option was given for the nurse

21· ·to administer the shot, and we requested the doctor

22· ·instead because we figured they were more qualified than

23· ·a nurse to give a shot to our baby.

24· · · · · Q· · Okay.· Does your daughter still have an
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·1· ·injury on her left side today?

·2· · · · · A· · Not like this.· There's a darker spot on her

·3· ·left side from where that spot is, but it filled in.

·4· · · · · Q· · Does she have any sensitivity or pain?

·5· · · · · A· · No, not that she complained about.

·6· · · · · Q· · Did you sign anything prior to the admission

·7· ·or -- sorry -- the injection?

·8· · · · · A· · I don't remember signing anything.· No.

·9· · · · · · · ·MS. BRADLEY:· I have no further questions for

10· ·Ms. DelGrosso at this time.

11· · · · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· Thank you.

12· · · · · · · ·Ms. Buys?

13· · · · · · · ·MS. BUYS:· Thank you.· Yes.

14

15· · · · · · · · · · · ·CROSS-EXAMINATION

16· ·BY MS. BUYS:

17· · · · · Q· · Hello, Ms. DelGrosso.· Do you understand that

18· ·the oath you took requires that you tell the truth under

19· ·penalty of perjury?

20· · · · · A· · Yes.

21· · · · · Q· · And I believe you testified, but I just want

22· ·to clarify.· Did you take your daughter to the urgent

23· ·care?

24· · · · · A· · Yes.
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·1· · · · · Q· · And when you went to the clinic on November

·2· ·4th, 2016, did you have a pediatrician appointment

·3· ·scheduled for your daughter a few days later?

·4· · · · · A· · Yes.

·5· · · · · Q· · And did you go to the urgent care clinic

·6· ·because you wanted your daughter to be seen by a doctor

·7· ·and treated if she required medical care?

·8· · · · · A· · Yes.

·9· · · · · Q· · Did you report to anyone at the clinic that

10· ·your daughter had been coughing, had a runny nose, you

11· ·know, vomiting, congestion, with some phlegm for about

12· ·four days?

13· · · · · A· · Yes.

14· · · · · Q· · And did you report that those symptoms had

15· ·been worsening?

16· · · · · A· · I believe so.· Yes.

17· · · · · Q· · And do you recall if you reported that they

18· ·seemed to be worsening at night?

19· · · · · A· · Yes.

20· · · · · Q· · And do you recall reporting that she already

21· ·had an Albuterol nebulizer at home?

22· · · · · A· · (Indicating.)

23· · · · · Q· · I'm sorry, just for the record.

24· · · · · A· · Oh, yes.
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·1· · · · · Q· · No worries.· Just because they're taking

·2· ·everything down, I want to make sure we have verbal

·3· ·responses.· So not meaning to be rude or anything.  I

·4· ·just wanted to make sure.· And do you recall why your

·5· ·daughter had a prescription for an Albuterol nebulizer?

·6· · · · · A· · Yes.· So prior to that previously, she had

·7· ·croup.· And then my pediatrician had prescribed a

·8· ·nebulizer at home.

·9· · · · · Q· · And do you remember the name of that

10· ·pediatrician?

11· · · · · A· · Yes.· Dr. Wesley Robertson.

12· · · · · Q· · Perfect.· And Dr. Robinson, is he local in

13· ·Las Vegas?

14· · · · · A· · Robertson.

15· · · · · Q· · Oh.

16· · · · · A· · Yes, he is part of Sunshine Valley

17· ·Pediatrics.

18· · · · · Q· · Thank you.· And I believe you just testified

19· ·that your daughter had croup before; is that correct?

20· · · · · A· · (Indicating.)

21· · · · · Q· · Is that a yes?

22· · · · · A· · I'm sorry.· Yes.

23· · · · · Q· · No worries.· Thank you so much.· And do you

24· ·recall if she had had croup on more than one occasion?
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·1· · · · · A· · No.· So she was hospitalized for croup prior

·2· ·to that but only once.

·3· · · · · Q· · Do you remember when that hospitalization

·4· ·was?

·5· · · · · A· · I don't remember the exact date.

·6· · · · · Q· · Just that it was before November 4th of 2016?

·7· · · · · A· · Yes, I believe so.

·8· · · · · Q· · And had your daughter been walking by the

·9· ·time that you took her to the urgent care clinic on

10· ·November 4th, 2016?

11· · · · · A· · Yes.

12· · · · · Q· · Do you recall when she began walking?

13· · · · · A· · I believe she was about 13 months when she

14· ·started walking.

15· · · · · Q· · And do you have more than one daughter?

16· · · · · A· · I do.

17· · · · · Q· · Busy, busy.· And I believe the Board counsel

18· ·had asked you questions about your recollection of your

19· ·visit with Dr. Nguyen.· Do you remember just testifying

20· ·to that right now?

21· · · · · A· · Yes.

22· · · · · Q· · And do you recall Dr. Nguyen examining your

23· ·daughter?

24· · · · · A· · Yes.

http://www.litigationservices.com


Page 61
·1· · · · · Q· · And after he examined your daughter, did

·2· ·Dr. Nguyen prescribe or recommend Prednisone?

·3· · · · · A· · I don't remember the Prednisone.

·4· · · · · Q· · Do you remember any discussion about an oral

·5· ·medication?

·6· · · · · A· · No.

·7· · · · · Q· · And just to clarify, no, you don't remember?

·8· ·Or no, it didn't happen?

·9· · · · · A· · I'm going to say no, it didn't happen.

10· ·Otherwise, we probably wouldn't have done the shot.

11· · · · · Q· · Okay.· And if there is a record of Dr. Nguyen

12· ·prescribing Prednisone, do you have any evidence to

13· ·refute that he didn't offer a Prednisone prescription?

14· · · · · A· · No.

15· · · · · Q· · And do you recall after -- just for the

16· ·record as well -- there is notation that there is a

17· ·prescription for Prednisone in the medical record.· And

18· ·just to clarify, you don't have any evidence as you sit

19· ·here today to refute that; is that correct?

20· · · · · A· · Correct.

21· · · · · Q· · If Dr. Nguyen testifies that after, you know,

22· ·recommending an oral Prednisone, do you recall if you'd

23· ·asked any questions about treatment recommendations?

24· · · · · A· · I don't recall.
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·1· · · · · Q· · And 2016 was a while ago, wasn't it?

·2· · · · · A· · Yeah.

·3· · · · · Q· · And do you recall ever telling Dr. Nguyen

·4· ·that after your daughter had been treated, these sort of

·5· ·respiratory symptoms before that oral medication alone

·6· ·was not enough?

·7· · · · · A· · I'm sorry.· Can you repeat that?

·8· · · · · Q· · Certainly.· Do you recall ever telling

·9· ·Dr. Nguyen when your daughter was previously treated for

10· ·respiratory symptoms that just an oral prescription is

11· ·not enough to help take care of the symptoms?

12· · · · · A· · Now that you say that, yes, I do recall that.

13· · · · · Q· · What do you recall of that?

14· · · · · A· · That was pretty much it.

15· · · · · Q· · And that occurred back on the visit on

16· ·November 4th, 2016, that you had stated to Dr. Nguyen

17· ·that your daughter had had these symptoms before and oral

18· ·medication alone did not seem to resolve them.· Is that

19· ·fair?

20· · · · · A· · Well, at that point, she was already sick for

21· ·four days, so we needed to get her better.· He had said

22· ·that a shot will do it.

23· · · · · Q· · Okay.· And do you remember Dr. Nguyen having

24· ·a discussion with you that an oral medication that's
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·1· ·Prednisone may have a side effect like nausea?

·2· · · · · A· · I don't remember that.

·3· · · · · Q· · Do you remember, prior to the Kenalog

·4· ·injection being brought up, Dr. Nguyen discussing that

·5· ·there could be risks or side effects to the injection?

·6· · · · · A· · No, just the site would be sore and she might

·7· ·be a little bit cranky because of how tender it will be

·8· ·at that site.

·9· · · · · Q· · All right.· Do you recall if Dr. Nguyen had

10· ·stated that an injection of Prednisone may cause scarring

11· ·or -- sorry -- an injection of Kenalog may cause

12· ·scarring?

13· · · · · A· · No.

14· · · · · Q· · If there is evidence that Dr. Nguyen did

15· ·discuss that with you, do you have any evidence as you

16· ·sit here today to refute that?

17· · · · · A· · No.

18· · · · · Q· · Do you recall there being a medical assistant

19· ·during the November 4th, 2016 visit?

20· · · · · A· · Yes.· And can I just -- and on the record,

21· ·can I just say that the doctor that gave came in, quote

22· ·unquote the doctor, actually was not Dr. Nguyen.· It was

23· ·a much younger gentleman, Asian gentleman at that time.

24· ·So I'm a little bit confused here because now that I'm
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·1· ·looking at him, it was a younger gentleman.· And now that

·2· ·he's saying medical assistant, it was just the medical

·3· ·assistant.· That's who it is in the office with -- not

·4· ·this gentleman.

·5· · · · · Q· · Okay.· So as you sit here today -- and you've

·6· ·seen this gentleman sitting to my right?

·7· · · · · A· · Right.

·8· · · · · Q· · Do you recognize him?

·9· · · · · A· · I actually don't, to be completely honest and

10· ·under oath.· Because the gentleman that came in, I

11· ·remember him being much younger, and then he was the one

12· ·that I was talking to.

13· · · · · Q· · Okay.· And so is it your testimony that you

14· ·do not recall seeing this gentleman on my right-hand side

15· ·who I am going to represent to you is Dr. Hai Nguyen?

16· · · · · A· · I'm going to say that I do not recognize him.

17· ·And I am not sure what that's going to do, but that's not

18· ·the guy who gave my daughter a shot.

19· · · · · Q· · Thank you for clarifying that for the record.

20· ·So the gentleman who you were talking to about the shot,

21· ·can you describe him a little bit further?

22· · · · · A· · He was a younger gentleman.· He was of Asian

23· ·descent, and he had black hair.· He did look a bit

24· ·frazzled and confused, but he was the one that said that
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·1· ·we should do the shot.

·2· · · · · Q· · Do you remember if he was wearing scrubs or a

·3· ·lab coat?

·4· · · · · A· · I remember a white top.· Maybe it was a lab

·5· ·coat.

·6· · · · · Q· · Gotcha.· And do you remember the name of this

·7· ·gentleman?· Do you remember what he told you his name

·8· ·was?

·9· · · · · A· · I don't remember.· He came in and introduced

10· ·himself real quick, and we thought he was the doctor.

11· · · · · Q· · All right.· And when you say that, you're

12· ·referring to you and your husband; is that right?

13· · · · · A· · Yes.

14· · · · · Q· · During any point of your visit, did your

15· ·husband leave the appointment or was he there the entire

16· ·time?

17· · · · · A· · He was there the entire time.

18· · · · · Q· · Okay.· The gentleman who came in, and I

19· ·believe you testified you don't recall his name, but does

20· ·the name Barry Misiuk ring any bells?

21· · · · · A· · It was quite a while ago, so --

22· · · · · Q· · As you sit here today, you can't tell for

23· ·certain whether or not you recognize the name Barry

24· ·Misiuk?
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·1· · · · · A· · Right.

·2· · · · · Q· · And I apologize if I jump around a little

·3· ·bit.

·4· · · · · A· · No, that's okay.

·5· · · · · Q· · Thank you again for your time today.· Did you

·6· ·ever speak with this gentleman right here, Dr. Nguyen,

·7· ·after November 4th, 2016, before maybe some niceties in

·8· ·the hallway today?

·9· · · · · A· · No.

10· · · · · Q· · Okay.· While you were there at the urgent

11· ·care clinic on November 4th, 2016, if the person you

12· ·thought was a physician had recommended some sort of

13· ·clearly egregious form of treatment such as, you know,

14· ·putting a lit cigarette out on the baby's hand -- I know

15· ·that's a bad example, but if say that was one of the

16· ·recommended forms of treatment, would you have allowed

17· ·your baby to sit there and be subjected to that?

18· · · · · A· · Absolutely not.

19· · · · · Q· · Okay.· And in this case, when they had the

20· ·Kenalog injection, did you help assist the positioning of

21· ·the baby when they were giving the injection?

22· · · · · A· · Yes.

23· · · · · Q· · You held her, right?

24· · · · · A· · Right.· She's my baby.
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·1· · · · · Q· · Gotcha.· And if you did not want the baby to

·2· ·have an injection, would you not have sat there and held

·3· ·her?

·4· · · · · A· · Right.

·5· · · · · Q· · If you did not want the baby to have an

·6· ·injection of that medication, you would have left the

·7· ·clinic.· Is that fair to say?

·8· · · · · A· · That's fair.

·9· · · · · Q· · And then I believe that you had testified

10· ·that this divot -- and I believe you had referred to it

11· ·as a divot.· Is that fair enough?

12· · · · · A· · Yes.

13· · · · · Q· · So that we're talking about the same thing.

14· · · · · A· · Right.

15· · · · · Q· · Perfect.· So that is on the left buttock

16· ·cheek.· Is that correct?

17· · · · · A· · Yes.

18· · · · · Q· · And I believe you testified as well those

19· ·photos were taken March 25th of 2017.· Is that correct?

20· · · · · A· · Yes.

21· · · · · Q· · So that would have been a few months after

22· ·that November 2016 appointment.· Fair enough?

23· · · · · A· · Yes.

24· · · · · Q· · And I believe you also said that the
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·1· ·indentation resolved.· Is that correct?

·2· · · · · A· · Yes.

·3· · · · · Q· · All right.· And do you remember when that

·4· ·resolved?

·5· · · · · A· · It took a while.· It took probably up to a

·6· ·year for it to fully come back, but there's still a

·7· ·little bit of discoloration there.

·8· · · · · Q· · Gotcha.· And do you recall if -- Strike that.

·9· ·Do you recall if when they were administering the

10· ·injection if there was more than just you and your

11· ·husband present in the room when that gentleman that we

12· ·don't know his name?

13· · · · · A· · It was the three of us, the baby, and then I

14· ·believe there was an assistant.

15· · · · · Q· · And that assistant that you recall, can you

16· ·describe him or her, please?

17· · · · · A· · It was a female.

18· · · · · Q· · As you sort of sit here today, do you recall

19· ·any other occasions where your baby has been administered

20· ·an injection in the buttock?

21· · · · · A· · No.· Usually they have a shot that's given in

22· ·their thigh or arm.

23· · · · · Q· · How many times has your baby had an injection

24· ·in her arm?
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·1· · · · · A· · She's not a baby anymore, but after that or

·2· ·before that?

·3· · · · · Q· · You know, I'll clarify the question a little

·4· ·bit further.· Do you recall any other occasions where

·5· ·your daughter has been administered a steroid injection

·6· ·apart from November 2016?

·7· · · · · A· · Yes, last year.

·8· · · · · Q· · And why did she get a steroid injection last

·9· ·year?

10· · · · · A· · Because she was sick.· It was during COVID,

11· ·the pandemic.

12· · · · · Q· · Gotcha.· And do you recall if she had been

13· ·diagnosed with COVID or was it just respiratory illnesses

14· ·again?

15· · · · · A· · It wasn't respiratory.· It was something

16· ·else.· So she had I believe it was the flu or something

17· ·similar to the flu.

18· · · · · Q· · Do you remember who administered that

19· ·injection?

20· · · · · A· · Our pediatrician, Dr. Wesley Robertson.

21· · · · · Q· · Gotcha.· And apart from those occasions, as

22· ·you sit here today, do you recall any other injections of

23· ·a steroid?· Not a vaccination, but a steroid?

24· · · · · A· · No.
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·1· · · · · Q· · Okay.· And I believe you had also testified

·2· ·that you had noticed this divot develop.· Do you remember

·3· ·when you first noticed the divot, the exact date?

·4· · · · · A· · I don't remember the exact date.· But before

·5· ·this was taken, this was after our appointment with our

·6· ·pediatrician.· So this was taken, I believe, after I --

·7· ·around the same time that I filed the complaint is when

·8· ·this was taken.· And then this one started to form before

·9· ·that, but I believe it escalated rather quickly and

10· ·became deep.· So I want to say probably a couple of weeks

11· ·before this was taken.· Probably three weeks.

12· · · · · · · ·It started as a small dimple, and we thought

13· ·it was just a baby dimple like she has underneath her

14· ·butt cheeks right there underneath her buttocks.· That's

15· ·what it looked like when it first started.· Kind of like

16· ·a cellulite dimple.

17· · · · · Q· · And you know how babies have cellulite or

18· ·other dimples on their buttocks; correct?

19· · · · · A· · Uh-huh.· Yes.

20· · · · · Q· · Perfect.· And then just to sort of clarify,

21· ·so is it your recollection that the divot started to form

22· ·about three weeks before that photo was taken in March

23· ·25th of 2017, so would that have been about Februaryish?

24· · · · · A· · Yes.
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·1· · · · · Q· · Okay.· Gotcha.· And just to clarify as well

·2· ·for the record, this is a photo of your daughter who

·3· ·we've been referring to as Patient A.· I just want to

·4· ·make sure that everybody is on the same page.· Is that

·5· ·your understanding as well?

·6· · · · · A· · Yes.

·7· · · · · Q· · Okay.· Perfect.· Not another daughter, right?

·8· · · · · A· · Right.

·9· · · · · Q· · Okay.· I just wanted to make sure of that as

10· ·well.· And then I believe you had also testified about

11· ·your husband going and getting or requesting the

12· ·patient's records?

13· · · · · A· · Yes.

14· · · · · Q· · Do you recall, did you go with him when he

15· ·requested those records?

16· · · · · A· · I went with him, but I stayed in the vehicle

17· ·with the baby, and then he ran in and then had requested

18· ·them.

19· · · · · Q· · Okay.· Do you recall if he requested it in

20· ·writing?

21· · · · · A· · What he told me is he went in and then had

22· ·asked for any kind of record from our appointment.· They

23· ·said the doctor wasn't there, and they said that they

24· ·couldn't give him anything or provide any information,
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·1· ·and then that's pretty much it and that he had walked out

·2· ·because they brushed him off.

·3· · · · · Q· · Okay.· But just to sort of clarify as well,

·4· ·is it your understanding that he did not write a sort of

·5· ·written request for the records, right?

·6· · · · · A· · I wasn't there, so I can't say if he did or

·7· ·not.

·8· · · · · Q· · And to clarify, you did not submit a written

·9· ·request for records; is that correct?

10· · · · · A· · Correct.

11· · · · · Q· · And the gentleman that you testified that you

12· ·recall discussing the risks and benefits or, you know,

13· ·the risk/benefit of the Kenalog injection, is it your

14· ·understanding that --

15· · · · · · · ·MR. BRADLEY:· I'm going to object.· I don't

16· ·believe she actually ever testified that the risks and

17· ·benefits were discussed.· She testified that she was told

18· ·there would be soreness at the site.· I don't think she

19· ·used the words "risks and benefit."· I think that's words

20· ·you're using.

21· · · · · Q· · (BY MS. BUYS:)· Ms. DelGrosso, if I in my

22· ·question refer to risks and benefits, would it be fair to

23· ·assume that that means the soreness that could occur

24· ·after an injection?· Do you understand that?
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·1· · · · · A· · Right.

·2· · · · · Q· · Okay.· So I'll rephrase the question based on

·3· ·Counsel's objection.· So when that gentleman discussed

·4· ·that there could be soreness, that was before he gave the

·5· ·injection, right?

·6· · · · · A· · Yes.

·7· · · · · Q· · And is it your testimony here today that the

·8· ·person who discussed that, you don't recall it being this

·9· ·gentleman, right?

10· · · · · A· · Right.

11· · · · · Q· · Okay.· And for the record, I'm pointing to my

12· ·right at Dr. Hai Nguyen.· And I believe you also

13· ·testified that your daughter does not have any

14· ·sensitivity or pain to the injection site currently;

15· ·correct?

16· · · · · A· · Currently, no.

17· · · · · Q· · Looking back at some of the records, I

18· ·believe you had testified that you submitted these two

19· ·photos to the Nevada Board of Medical Examiners; is that

20· ·correct?

21· · · · · A· · Yes, I have Laura Ward on my email

22· ·attachment.

23· · · · · Q· · Did you submit any other photos to the

24· ·investigator?
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·1· · · · · A· · Not on my email.· These ones.

·2· · · · · Q· · Okay.· So is it fair to say that you didn't

·3· ·submit any photographs of your daughter's buttocks that

·4· ·was taken prior to these March 25th, 2017 photos, right?

·5· · · · · A· · No.

·6· · · · · Q· · Okay.· And have you produced any photographs

·7· ·subsequent to these March 25th, 2017 photos?

·8· · · · · A· · After the fact?

·9· · · · · Q· · Correct.

10· · · · · A· · No.

11· · · · · Q· · Okay.· And have you ever consulted with an

12· ·attorney about, you know, this divot or this dimple?

13· · · · · A· · I did.

14· · · · · Q· · All right.· And who did you consult with?

15· · · · · · · ·MS. BRADLEY:· I'm going to object.· I don't

16· ·think it's relevant if she was going looking into a civil

17· ·matter.· We're not here in a civil matter.· We're here

18· ·regarding the Board's complaint filed in this case.

19· · · · · · · ·MS. BUYS:· I believe it's relevant as to the

20· ·investigation and for the purpose of bringing the

21· ·complaint against a physician as well as if legal counsel

22· ·was involved which was not disclosed to Dr. Nguyen.

23· · · · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· I'm going to

24· ·sustain the objection.
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·1· · · · · Q· · (BY MS. BUYS:)· Following the November of

·2· ·2016 visit, did your daughter have to be admitted to a

·3· ·hospital for treatment for those respiratory symptoms?

·4· · · · · A· · She was admitted for the croup that she had.

·5· · · · · Q· · When was she admitted?

·6· · · · · A· · I believe it was prior to that is what we had

·7· ·discussed, right?· What we testified.

·8· · · · · Q· · Okay.· And I'll clarify my question.

·9· · · · · A· · Okay.· You're confusing me.

10· · · · · Q· · Sorry about that.· After this November 4th,

11· ·2016 visit, was your daughter hospitalized for her

12· ·respiratory symptoms?

13· · · · · A· · No.

14· · · · · Q· · Okay.· Thank you for clarifying that.· I just

15· ·want to make sure I had that record.· So when that

16· ·gentleman discussed the Kenalog injection with you, was

17· ·your husband present?

18· · · · · A· · Yes.

19· · · · · Q· · And is it your understanding that your

20· ·husband did not object to the Kenalog injection?

21· · · · · A· · Correct.

22· · · · · Q· · And you also did not object to the Kenalog

23· ·injection being administered; correct?

24· · · · · A· · Correct.
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·1· · · · · Q· · And you don't recall any other details

·2· ·regarding any other side effects that could potentially

·3· ·be as a result of the Kenalog injection being discussed

·4· ·with you; is that correct?

·5· · · · · A· · That we were warned about?· Just besides the

·6· ·soreness on the site?

·7· · · · · Q· · Correct.· That you recall.

·8· · · · · A· · No.

·9· · · · · · · ·MS. BUYS:· I'm just going to review my notes,

10· ·but I believe those are the questions that I currently

11· ·have.

12· · · · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· When you're done

13· ·reviewing your notes, do you have any further?

14· · · · · · · ·MS. BUYS:· Nothing further at this time.

15· · · · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· Thank you.

16· · · · · · · ·MS. BRADLEY:· If I could do a couple of

17· ·redirect.

18· · · · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· I was just going

19· ·to go to you.

20· · · · · · · ·MR. BRADLEY:· Thank you.

21

22

23

24
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·1· · · · · · · · · · · · REDIRECT EXAMINATION

·2· ·BY MS. BRADLEY:

·3· · · · · Q· · Mrs. DelGrosso, you testified that you don't

·4· ·recognize Dr. Nguyen, who is sitting by Ms. Buys.· Is

·5· ·that correct?

·6· · · · · A· · Correct.

·7· · · · · Q· · Okay.· Is it possible that five years ago,

·8· ·Dr. Nguyen may have looked different and that's why

·9· ·you're not recognizing him today?

10· · · · · · · ·MS. BUYS:· Objection.· Calls for speculation.

11· · · · · · · ·MS. BRADLEY:· Okay.· I don't know.· I guess

12· ·do you want to rule on that?· I mean, I guess I would say

13· ·that most people know that people change their hair color

14· ·and appearance sometimes over the years.

15· · · · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· I think everyone

16· ·gets your point.· I'm sure we all looked -- you know,

17· ·people age.· I don't know what to say about that.· Your

18· ·point -- I don't think the point needs to be belabored.

19· · · · · Q· · (BY MS. BRADLEY:)· So it possible that --

20· ·because your testimony was it was a younger Asian man

21· ·with black hair, I believe.· Is that what you said?

22· · · · · A· · Yes.· Yes.

23· · · · · Q· · So is it possible if Dr. Nguyen was five

24· ·years younger and still had darker hair that that could

http://www.litigationservices.com


Page 78
·1· ·be the person that you saw?

·2· · · · · A· · No.

·3· · · · · · · ·MS. BRADLEY:· Okay.· I have no further

·4· ·questions.

·5· · · · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· Thank you.

·6· · · · · · · ·MS. BUYS:· If I may, I just have one other

·7· ·question.

·8

·9· · · · · · · · · · · RECROSS EXAMINATION

10· ·BY MS. BUYS:

11· · · · · Q· · Do you recall an MA attempting to give the

12· ·injection or just a physician?

13· · · · · A· · Just the physician.· Wait.· I'm sorry.· Let

14· ·me back up.· I believe they wanted the nurse to give the

15· ·injection, and then I requested the physician give it

16· ·because I didn't want a nurse to do it.

17· · · · · Q· · Gotcha.· Thank you for clarifying that point.

18· ·And then I believe you also had testified earlier that

19· ·you remember one attempt at the injection.· Is that

20· ·correct?· Just one attempt?

21· · · · · A· · Correct.

22· · · · · · · ·MS. BUYS:· Okay.· Thank you very much.  I

23· ·appreciate your time today, Ms. DelGrosso.

24· · · · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· Does that lead to
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·1· ·anything further?

·2· · · · · · · ·MS. BRADLEY:· No.· I have no further

·3· ·questions for Ms. DelGrosso, and I would ask that she be

·4· ·excused.

·5· · · · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· Ms. Buys, I don't

·6· ·know if she's on your witness list.· If she is, do you

·7· ·agree with her being excused?

·8· · · · · · · ·MS. BUYS:· She is on our witness list, but we

·9· ·agree that she may be excused.

10· · · · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· All right.· Thank

11· ·you, Ms. DelGrosso.· We appreciate your time today.

12· · · · · · · ·THE WITNESS:· Thank you.

13· · · · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· Ms. Bradley, did

14· ·you want to excuse Ms. Diaz as well?· I know he's still

15· ·here, but do you want to relieve him?

16· · · · · · · ·MS. BRADLEY:· I can excuse Mr. Diaz, I think.

17· · · · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· I meant to ask you

18· ·earlier.· Your next witness?

19· · · · · · · ·MR. BRADLEY:· I would call Dr. Hall.

20· · · · · · · ·And I think, Dr. Hall, if you want to sit

21· ·maybe to the left of Meg.

22· · · · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· Dr. Hall, were you

23· ·sworn?

24· · · · · · · ·DR. HALL:· No.
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·1· · · · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· Can you please

·2· ·raise your right hand.

·3· · · · · · · · ·(The witness was sworn.)

·4· · · · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· Thank you.· And

·5· ·and can you please state your name and spell your name

·6· ·for the record.

·7· · · · · · · ·THE WITNESS:· I can.· Scott Hall.· Last name

·8· ·is:· H-A-L-L.

·9

10· · · · · · · · · · · · DIRECT EXAMINATION

11· ·BY MS. BRADLEY:

12· · · · · Q· · All right.· Thank you.· So, Dr. Hall, are you

13· ·licensed as a medical doctor in the State of Nevada?

14· · · · · A· · Yes.

15· · · · · Q· · How long have you been licensed?

16· · · · · A· · Since 2006, so roughly 16 years.

17· · · · · Q· · And are you licensed in any other states?

18· · · · · A· · Yes.· California and Utah.

19· · · · · Q· · How long have you been licensed in those

20· ·states?

21· · · · · A· · In California, since 2008.· In Utah, it's

22· ·this year, so recently.

23· · · · · Q· · Where did you go to medical school?

24· · · · · · · ·MS. BUYS:· I apologize.· Would it be possible
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·1· ·to take a quick comfort break?

·2· · · · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· Yes.· Absolutely.

·3· ·Are you okay with that?

·4· · · · · · · ·MS. BRADLEY:· Yeah, that's fine.· I could use

·5· ·one too.

·6· · · · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· So it's 10:22.

·7· ·Sorry.· I know you just got started.

·8· · · · · · · ·THE WITNESS:· No problem.

·9· · · · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· We're going to

10· ·take a small break, and let's come back again at -- How

11· ·long do you think you need, Ms. Buys?· Do you want to do

12· ·10:30?

13· · · · · · · ·MS. BRADLEY:· That's all I would need.

14· · · · · · · ·MS. BUYS:· Yeah, 10:30 would be fine.  I

15· ·appreciate it.· Just five minutes.

16· · · · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· Thank you.

17· ·We'll be off the record until then.

18· · · · · · · · · · · · · · (Recess.)

19· · · · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· We're back on the

20· ·record in Case Number 21-38084-1.· At the time we broke,

21· ·Dr. Hall was testifying on direct, and he had just gotten

22· ·past his licensing.

23· · · · · · · ·I remind you, Dr. Hall, that you remain under

24· ·oath.
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·1· · · · · Q· · (BY MS. BRADLEY:)· So where did you go to

·2· ·medical school, Dr. Hall?

·3· · · · · A· · Ohio State.

·4· · · · · Q· · And what was your residency in?

·5· · · · · A· · Family medicine.

·6· · · · · Q· · Are you certified by the American Board of

·7· ·Medical Specialties?

·8· · · · · A· · Yes.

·9· · · · · Q· · In what specialty?

10· · · · · A· · Family medicine.· I also have a certificate

11· ·of added qualifications in sports medicine.

12· · · · · Q· · And what kind of medicine do you practice?

13· · · · · A· · Full spectrum family medicine with an

14· ·emphasis on acute musculoskeletal injuries.

15· · · · · Q· · And are you currently clinically practicing?

16· · · · · A· · Yes.

17· · · · · Q· · And seeing patients?

18· · · · · A· · Yes.

19· · · · · Q· · So if you would turn in the exhibits to

20· ·what's been pre-marked as the Board's Exhibit 18 and 19.

21· ·So it's probably towards the bottom of your stack there.

22· ·Have you seen these documents before?

23· · · · · A· · Yes.

24· · · · · Q· · And what are they?
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·1· · · · · A· · They're my CV.

·2· · · · · Q· · Do they appear to be a true and correct copy

·3· ·of your CV as provided to the Board?

·4· · · · · A· · Yes.

·5· · · · · Q· · And do they accurately summarize your

·6· ·education and experience?

·7· · · · · A· · Yes.

·8· · · · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· I'm sorry.· What

·9· ·exhibit is it?

10· · · · · Q· · (BY MS. BRADLEY:)· Eighteen and 19.

11· · · · · · · ·Did you prepare those documents?

12· · · · · A· · Yes.

13· · · · · Q· · And you did provide them to the Board?

14· · · · · A· · I did.

15· · · · · · · ·MS. BRADLEY:· Okay.· Based on that, I would

16· ·ask that eighteen and 19 be admitted.

17· · · · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· Ms. Buys?

18· · · · · · · ·MS. BUYS:· No objection.

19· · · · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· Thank you.· Board

20· ·Exhibits eighteen and 19 are admitted.

21· · · · · · · ·MR. BRADLEY:· And can I clarify?· My

22· ·apologies.· Is Exhibit 6 admitted?· I believe I asked,

23· ·but I just want to make sure.

24· · · · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· I think it was,
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·1· ·but if it wasn't, it will be.

·2· · · · · · · ·MS. BRADLEY:· Okay.· I thought I asked, but

·3· ·--

·4· · · · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· Pretty sure it

·5· ·was.· Yes.

·6· · · · · Q· · (BY MR. BRADLEY:)· Okay.· Have you served as

·7· ·a peer reviewer for the Board before, Dr. Hall?

·8· · · · · A· · Yes.

·9· · · · · Q· · Do you recall how many cases you may have

10· ·reviewed for the Board?

11· · · · · A· · I would estimate about eight.

12· · · · · Q· · And how long have you been reviewing cases

13· ·for the Board?

14· · · · · A· · I would estimate since 2010, so approximately

15· ·12 years.

16· · · · · Q· · Okay.· And are you familiar with

17· ·Investigation 17-17109 regarding Dr. Nguyen?

18· · · · · A· · Yes.

19· · · · · Q· · So let's look at Exhibit 5, and that has been

20· ·admitted, and that's the Board's exhibit.· So why does

21· ·the record show that Patient A was taken to see

22· ·Dr. Nguyen?

23· · · · · A· · So the medical record indicates that chief

24· ·complaint of cough and congestion.
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·1· · · · · Q· · And what else?· Is there any other

·2· ·information?

·3· · · · · A· · Yes.· There is a description of the history

·4· ·of present illness including cough, runny nose,

·5· ·vomiting/congestion with yellow-green phlegm for four

·6· ·days.

·7· · · · · Q· · How often is vomiting noted on that record?

·8· · · · · A· · Vomiting is mentioned one, two, three times

·9· ·that I read.

10· · · · · Q· · Okay.· And does it say how often that the

11· ·patient was vomiting?

12· · · · · A· · Vomiting once a day for four days.

13· · · · · Q· · Do you see anything noted that says that oral

14· ·steroids would not -- was mentioned to not be enough for

15· ·this patient?

16· · · · · A· · I do not.

17· · · · · Q· · So based on your review of the records in

18· ·this case, what treatment would you have provided to the

19· ·patient?

20· · · · · A· · I also would have chosen corticosteroids.

21· · · · · Q· · Okay.· Oral or?

22· · · · · A· · Yes, I would have chosen oral

23· ·corticosteroids.

24· · · · · Q· · But you would not have done an injection?
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·1· · · · · A· · I would not have done an injection.

·2· · · · · Q· · And why would you not do an injection?

·3· · · · · A· · The medical evidence indicates that when oral

·4· ·medication is reasonable or feasible, that is the

·5· ·preferred method.

·6· · · · · Q· · Okay.· And so in this case, why do you think

·7· ·that it's reasonable or feasible for the oral medication?

·8· · · · · A· · Well, Dr. Nguyen chose to prescribe oral

·9· ·corticosteroids.

10· · · · · Q· · So he chose to prescribe oral?

11· · · · · A· · Yes.

12· · · · · Q· · And the injection?

13· · · · · A· · That is correct.

14· · · · · Q· · And that's what the records shows?

15· · · · · A· · That's what the record shows.· Yes.

16· · · · · Q· · Okay.· And do you have concerns with that?

17· · · · · A· · I do have some concern given the potential

18· ·complications from an intramuscular injection.· I would

19· ·note that the medical evidence and the references I

20· ·provided will allow for an intramuscular injection, but

21· ·oral is preferred.

22· · · · · Q· · Okay.· And so the treatment you would have

23· ·prescribed is different than what Dr. Nguyen did in this

24· ·case?
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·1· · · · · A· · There is a subtle difference.· Yes.

·2· · · · · Q· · Okay.· What dose of Kenalog did the patient

·3· ·receive according to the medical records?· I don't know

·4· ·if you can tell in those.

·5· · · · · A· · The dose was by my recollection was

·6· ·approximately 20 milligrams.· Let me confirm that here.

·7· ·The medical record in Exhibit 5 indicates:· Administer

·8· ·Kenalog 40 milligrams per milliliter.· It does not

·9· ·specifically give me the exact dosing, but I believe in

10· ·other exhibits, it's 20 milligrams.

11· · · · · Q· · Okay.· And I think you can also turn, if you

12· ·want, to Respondent's exhibit, and I believe it's 12.

13· ·It's the newer shot administration record.· I believe

14· ·you're familiar with that?

15· · · · · A· · Yes.· I may not have that one.

16· · · · · Q· · We can provide you with a copy because I know

17· ·we have one for you.· And I think we may have a color

18· ·copy; at least mine is color.· Yeah, there we go.

19· · · · · A· · Yes.

20· · · · · Q· · Does that provide the dosing, that record?

21· · · · · A· · So the dose listed here is one milliliter,

22· ·and that, according to the Kenalog description here, or I

23· ·should say the Kenalog description in Exhibit 5 lists 40

24· ·milligrams per milliliter.· It's difficult to for me to
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·1· ·confirm that exact dosing, but this record would suggest

·2· ·if Exhibit 5 is also correct that administration of 1

·3· ·milliliter would be approximately 40 milligrams of

·4· ·Kenalog.

·5· · · · · Q· · Okay.· So they're consistent then at least

·6· ·with regard to the dosing?

·7· · · · · A· · It's a little hard to say because under the

·8· ·display name -- well, at the top, it says, "Kenalog, 40

·9· ·milligrams per milliliter injection."· So I'm going to

10· ·say yes.· It appears that there was one milliliter

11· ·administered which would be 40 milligrams of Kenalog.

12· · · · · Q· · Okay.· So I think you identified you had

13· ·concerns regarding the treatment.· Let's talk about

14· ·informed consent.· So what is informed consent?

15· · · · · A· · So informed consent would be where the risks,

16· ·benefits and alternatives are discussed with the patient

17· ·and they have the option to elect to receive or not

18· ·receive a certain treatment.

19· · · · · Q· · Is that the same as requesting a treatment?

20· · · · · A· · I would draw a distinction between requesting

21· ·and consenting or providing informed consent.

22· · · · · Q· · Okay.· And what is informed consent when you

23· ·have a patient who is a minor?

24· · · · · A· · So when you have a minor, obviously you would
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·1· ·obtain informed consent from their parent or legal

·2· ·guardian.

·3· · · · · Q· · And then what do you do when you get informed

·4· ·consent?· Is that documented?

·5· · · · · A· · Yes.· So medical treatment, there should be

·6· ·informed consent and it should be documented.

·7· · · · · Q· · And how would you document it?

·8· · · · · A· · So typically how would I document it in the

·9· ·medical record, you would have a discussion or include a

10· ·description of what you did to inform the individual and

11· ·acknowledge their consent.

12· · · · · Q· · So let's go back to Exhibit 5, and I'm

13· ·looking at a page that's marked NSBME 014.· I think it's

14· ·the top page in Exhibit 5.

15· · · · · A· · Okay.

16· · · · · Q· · And so if we go right above, there's a

17· ·heading that says, "Chief complaint."· Right above that,

18· ·there's a line that starts with, "Patient."· Could you

19· ·read that for us?

20· · · · · A· · Yes.· It says, "Patient agrees with treatment

21· ·plan and verbalizes understanding."

22· · · · · Q· · So what does that mean to you?

23· · · · · A· · So that to me would mean that the patient is

24· ·going to agree with the treatment plan and understands
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·1· ·it.

·2· · · · · Q· · Okay.· And who is the patient in this case?

·3· · · · · A· · So the patient in this case is listed on the

·4· ·document is Patient A DelGrosso.

·5· · · · · Q· · And how old is Patient A?

·6· · · · · A· · Patient A at the time --

·7· · · · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· Excuse me.  I

·8· ·thought we were --

·9· · · · · · · ·MS. BRADLEY:· Patient A.· I'm sorry.

10· · · · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· So I will direct

11· ·that she be referenced as Patient A and that any prior

12· ·references to her name in the record be reflective of

13· ·that designation.

14· · · · · Q· · (BY MS. BRADLEY:)· Thank you, and I

15· ·apologize.· So how old is Patient A?

16· · · · · A· · Patient A is approximately three years old.

17· ·Just under three years old.

18· · · · · Q· · Or just under two?

19· · · · · A· · Excuse me.· Just under two years old.

20· · · · · Q· · Okay.· So just under two years old.· So is

21· ·she capable of consenting?

22· · · · · A· · No.

23· · · · · Q· · So in this case, I think you already

24· ·testified, but who should be consenting in this case?
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·1· · · · · A· · The parents.

·2· · · · · Q· · And this documentation here, I mean, do you

·3· ·think that's documenting an informed consent?

·4· · · · · A· · No, I do not.

·5· · · · · Q· · Why?

·6· · · · · A· · Well, because the statement here suggests the

·7· ·patient was providing consent and we -- the patient's

·8· ·incapable of providing informed consent in this case.

·9· · · · · Q· · Okay.· Because the patient is a minor?

10· · · · · A· · Correct.

11· · · · · Q· · And then what about the parents?· Would this

12· ·sufficiently document informed consent on behalf of

13· ·parents in your view?

14· · · · · A· · No, because it does not state parents.

15· · · · · Q· · Okay.· But what about risks and benefits?

16· · · · · A· · I do not see a description of the risks and

17· ·benefits.

18· · · · · Q· · I mean, and I think again, you said you would

19· ·document -- I mean, what would your sentence look like if

20· ·you were documenting informed consent in a case like

21· ·this?

22· · · · · A· · So in my practice, we would typically have a

23· ·separate sheet that would document this is the treatment

24· ·proposed, these are the potential risks, this is the
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·1· ·benefits and these are the alternatives.· So in my

·2· ·practice, we would include a document that a patient

·3· ·would elect to sign if they wanted to proceed with an

·4· ·intramuscular or what's more commonly for me is a joint

·5· ·injection.

·6· · · · · Q· · Okay.· So you would have a separate written

·7· ·document that the patient signs?

·8· · · · · A· · Yes.

·9· · · · · Q· · Or the guardian?

10· · · · · A· · Yes.

11· · · · · Q· · Is it required that it be a written document?

12· · · · · A· · No.· My study of this question indicates that

13· ·written or verbal may suffice for informed consent.· So I

14· ·have encountered this clinically.· I have some -- I have

15· ·physician situations who choose to do it like I do, which

16· ·is to have written consent, and there are other

17· ·physicians who choose to use a verbal consent.

18· · · · · Q· · Okay.· But based on the documentation in this

19· ·case, do you think the verbal consent was complete?

20· · · · · A· · I do not.

21· · · · · Q· · Okay.· Do you believe that the Kenalog

22· ·injection was necessary in this case?

23· · · · · A· · No.

24· · · · · Q· · And why was that?
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·1· · · · · A· · The reason being is the medical references

·2· ·recommend oral therapy when that's feasible.· And in this

·3· ·case, oral therapy was prescribed, and so it appears

·4· ·redundant to also administer an intramuscular injection.

·5· · · · · Q· · And is there a concern with prescribing, I

·6· ·guess, double prescribing the medication or prescribing

·7· ·it in two different ways?

·8· · · · · A· · There is a concern.· Essentially, if you were

·9· ·going to administer both oral and intramuscular

10· ·corticosteroids, dosing considerations would be relevant.

11· · · · · Q· · What could happen if a patient got too much

12· ·steroid?

13· · · · · A· · There's a fairly -- there are a number of

14· ·things that can happen.· Obviously, corticosteroids, we

15· ·are primarily using in medicine to -- and what's

16· ·applicable in this case is to reduce or treat

17· ·inflammation, but it also influences the endocrine system

18· ·and other organ systems within the body.· So an excess

19· ·dose of corticosteroids could have a detrimental effect.

20· · · · · Q· · Okay.· So in your view then, the standard of

21· ·care would not include prescribing medication, two

22· ·different versions of the same medication?

23· · · · · A· · That would --

24· · · · · · · ·MS. BUYS:· I'll just make an objection.· Oh,
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·1· ·sorry.· Objection, as the question's vague.· When you're

·2· ·referring to the two types the same medication, we're

·3· ·referring to Prednisone and Kenalog, so I just want to

·4· ·make a clarification for the record.

·5· · · · · Q· · (BY MS. BRADLEY:)· Okay.· I'll rephrase.

·6· ·What would the standard of care have dictated the patient

·7· ·be prescribed in this case?

·8· · · · · A· · So as I reviewed the medical literature, the

·9· ·standard of care in this case and under the diagnosis

10· ·that I'm using is croup.

11· · · · · · · ·Obviously, Dr. Nguyen, in his documentation,

12· ·he lists cough with possible croup.· And I think that's a

13· ·very reasonable diagnosis, but under a diagnosis of

14· ·croup, corticosteroids are recommended.· And the medical

15· ·literature states that one can use oral or intramuscular

16· ·corticosteroids for treatment of croup, so that would be

17· ·the standard medical care.· I did not find references

18· ·that would support both oral and intramuscular

19· ·corticosteroids.

20· · · · · Q· · Okay.· And are there concerns, separate

21· ·concerns for giving an injection like Kenalog to a child

22· ·versus an adult?

23· · · · · A· · Honestly, I don't know that there would be

24· ·more concern with administering it in a pediatric
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·1· ·situation versus an adult situation.· I think the risks

·2· ·and benefits would be roughly the same.

·3· · · · · Q· · Okay.· Do you believe -- so let's go to

·4· ·Exhibit 6, which has been admitted, and that's a

·5· ·photograph.· So looking at this exhibit, does that appear

·6· ·to you to be possibly the result of a Kenalog injection?

·7· · · · · A· · Yes.

·8· · · · · Q· · Have you seen something like that before?

·9· · · · · A· · Yes.

10· · · · · Q· · And so what happens?· Why are we seeing a

11· ·photo with a divot like that?

12· · · · · A· · So a known complication of Kenalog

13· ·administration when it's done intramuscularly is where if

14· ·the medication gets into subcutaneous tissues, it can

15· ·lead to atrophy of those tissues.· And so this type of

16· ·complication is a known complication from a Kenalog

17· ·injection.

18· · · · · Q· · So even if it was done in the muscle, this

19· ·could still happen?

20· · · · · A· · So according to the manufacturer, that risk

21· ·is minimized if the injection is done intramuscularly.

22· ·But this could happen if that medication reached the

23· ·subcutaneous tissues.

24· · · · · Q· · Okay.· So it sounds like then but just -- I'm
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·1· ·going to ask anyway.· So does it look like the injection

·2· ·was provided appropriately based on this photo?

·3· · · · · A· · Based on the photo, one would question the

·4· ·depth of the injection.

·5· · · · · Q· · Let's go back to Exhibit 5.· And again, I'm

·6· ·looking at page 014, that first page.· There's a line

·7· ·kind of in the middle under plan that starts with,

·8· ·"Administer."· Could you read that for us, please?

·9· · · · · A· · Yes.· It says:· "Administer Kenalog 40

10· ·milligrams per milliliter injection suspension," in

11· ·parentheses, "(Triamcinolone acid)" -- I'm going to miss

12· ·this name.

13· · · · · Q· · Sorry.

14· · · · · A· · It's Triamcinolone.

15· · · · · Q· · Okay.· I guess what I'm really interested in

16· ·that last part.· It says:· After once.

17· · · · · A· · Oh, got it.· It says:· "Inject 0.5

18· ·milliliters intramuscularly once to be done November 4th,

19· ·2016."

20· · · · · Q· · So when this was documented, had the

21· ·injection occurred based on that sentence?

22· · · · · A· · I would read this as an order from Dr. Nguyen

23· ·for his staff to provide the injections, the way I would

24· ·read this.
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·1· · · · · Q· · Okay.· So it was documented that it was going

·2· ·to be done intramuscularly?

·3· · · · · A· · Yes.

·4· · · · · Q· · But how it was actually injected, is that

·5· ·documented?

·6· · · · · A· · Not on this form.

·7· · · · · Q· · Okay.· If we go to the Exhibit 12, I believe,

·8· ·which is the Respondent's color copy.

·9· · · · · A· · It may in the main, the other binder.· Got

10· ·it.· Okay.· I'm on Exhibit 11.· Is that the one you're

11· ·referring to?

12· · · · · Q· · I think so, yeah.· It's the color copy of the

13· ·injection record.

14· · · · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· Just for the

15· ·record because you had the actual conference, prehearing

16· ·conference disclosure marked as Exhibit 1, that actually

17· ·comes out as Exhibit 12.· I know it's marked different in

18· ·your binder, but that's how we did it.

19· · · · · Q· · (BY MS. BRADLEY:)· Okay.· Twelve.  I

20· ·apologize.· Okay.· So looking at that, does it show where

21· ·the injection was provided?

22· · · · · A· · Yes.· So this injection register states the

23· ·right gluteal region.

24· · · · · Q· · And does it say, under route, it tells us the
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·1· ·kind of injection?

·2· · · · · A· · It does.· It states intramuscular.

·3· · · · · Q· · Interestingly, there's a date and time for

·4· ·the injection.· Do you see that?

·5· · · · · A· · I do.

·6· · · · · Q· · And what is that?

·7· · · · · A· · So I would assume that that would represent

·8· ·the date of documentation and the time which would

·9· ·roughly correlate with when the injection was

10· ·administered.

11· · · · · Q· · Okay.· So what does it show just for the

12· ·record on here?

13· · · · · A· · It's listed at 4 November 2016, at 6:56 p.m.

14· · · · · Q· · Okay.· And there is even an administered by.

15· · · · · A· · Yes.

16· · · · · Q· · What's that name for the record?

17· · · · · A· · The medical record states Hampton, Chanel.

18· · · · · Q· · And if we go back though to Exhibit 5 and the

19· ·Board's exhibits, on the top of that page, that top page

20· ·14, there's something that says DOS.· What is that?

21· · · · · A· · Date of service is 11-4-2016.· November 4th,

22· ·2016.

23· · · · · Q· · And at what time?

24· · · · · A· · 10:45 a.m.
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·1· · · · · Q· · So those times don't correlate, do they?

·2· · · · · A· · No.

·3· · · · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· I'm sorry.· Where

·4· ·are you looking at 10:45 a.m.?

·5· · · · · · · ·THE WITNESS:· It's at the very top.

·6· · · · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· That's Exhibit 5?

·7· · · · · · · ·MS. BRADLEY:· Yeah.

·8· · · · · · · ·THE WITNESS:· It's the upper right-hand

·9· ·corner of Exhibit 5, page 14.

10· · · · · Q· · (BY MR. BRADLEY:)· Okay.· And I'm just

11· ·checking Exhibit 5.· Do you see that same name, that

12· ·Chanel Hampton?· I don't see that name on this record.

13· ·I'm just --

14· · · · · A· · I do not.· The medical assistant listed on

15· ·page 16 of Exhibit 5 is Glenisha Barner.

16· · · · · Q· · Okay.· And the time for Glenisha's note, what

17· ·time is that?

18· · · · · A· · 10:42 a.m.

19· · · · · Q· · And then what's the time for Dr. Nyugen's

20· ·note?

21· · · · · A· · 5:19 p.m.

22· · · · · Q· · Okay.· So do we know when the patient was

23· ·seen by this record?

24· · · · · A· · I would follow the date of service listed on
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·1· ·the medical record which, is listed as November 4, 2016,

·2· ·at 10:45 a.m.

·3· · · · · Q· · Okay.· So then it sounds like the patient was

·4· ·seen earlier in the morning and then perhaps by the end

·5· ·of the day, Dr. Nguyen signed the note?

·6· · · · · A· · Uh-huh.

·7· · · · · Q· · And then perhaps by the end of the day,

·8· ·that's also when that shot administration record was

·9· ·created?

10· · · · · A· · That would be logical.· Yes.

11· · · · · Q· · Is it more painful to receive an injection

12· ·intramuscularly or superficially?· Which one?

13· · · · · A· · They hurt.· Yeah, they hurt.

14· · · · · Q· · Would the bruising that Ms. DelGrosso

15· ·described in her testimony, would that have occurred for

16· ·an intramuscular shot?

17· · · · · A· · It could.

18· · · · · · · ·MS. BUYS:· Objection, misstates testimony.

19· ·She did not actually testify regarding bruising as she

20· ·testified here today.

21· · · · · Q· · (BY MR. BRADLEY:)· I'll withdraw the

22· ·question.· Would you please turn to what's been

23· ·pre-marked as the Board's Exhibit 7 through 17.· These

24· ·haven't been admitted yet.· So have you seen these
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·1· ·documents before?

·2· · · · · A· · Yes.

·3· · · · · Q· · And what are they?

·4· · · · · A· · So that's the medical literature I reviewed

·5· ·to assist with rendering an opinion.

·6· · · · · Q· · Okay.· So let's look at the first one, which

·7· ·is Exhibit 7.· And I believe it's titled, "Clinical

·8· ·Practice," and then it says, "Croup" from the New England

·9· ·Journal of Medicine.· So did you provide this to the

10· ·Board?

11· · · · · A· · I did.

12· · · · · Q· · Does this appear to be a true and correct

13· ·copy of the article, one of the articles that you relied

14· ·on when assessing Dr. Nguyen's care in this case?

15· · · · · A· · Yes.

16· · · · · Q· · Did you provide this document to the Board?

17· · · · · A· · Yes.

18· · · · · Q· · Does this article articulate the standard of

19· ·care that would have been in effect as of November 4,

20· ·2016, when Dr. Nguyen saw the patient in this case?

21· · · · · A· · Yes.

22· · · · · · · ·MS. BUYS:· I'll just lodge a late objection

23· ·as to vague as to what the standard of care is as this is

24· ·regarding just the treatment of what appears to be croup.
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·1· ·So I just wanted to make an objection for the record.

·2· ·Apologize for the delay.

·3· · · · · · · ·MR. BRADLEY:· So I'd ask that Exhibit 7 be

·4· ·admitted.

·5· · · · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· Ms. Buys, noting

·6· ·your objection, do you stipulate to the exhibit being

·7· ·admitted at this point?

·8· · · · · · · ·MS. BUYS:· Correct, with the objection noted.

·9· ·Thank you.

10· · · · · Q· · (BY MR. BRADLEY:)· Let's turn to Exhibit 8.

11· ·So this one is called "Acute Management of Croup in the

12· ·Emergency Department."· Is this a document you've seen

13· ·before?

14· · · · · A· · Yes.

15· · · · · Q· · And is this something that you relied on when

16· ·providing your opinion to the Board?

17· · · · · A· · Yes.

18· · · · · Q· · Now, if you look at the bottom, it appears --

19· ·Can you tell us what the copyright date is there?

20· · · · · A· · Yes.· It's 2017.

21· · · · · Q· · All right.· And do you recall the date of

22· ·service that Dr. Nguyen saw the patient?

23· · · · · A· · Yes.· It was the 4th of November, 2016.

24· · · · · Q· · Okay.· And I think you testified that you
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·1· ·relied on this article to make your opinion to the Board?

·2· · · · · A· · It's one of the articles that I used.· Yes.

·3· · · · · Q· · Would the standard of care articulated in

·4· ·this article, was it different at the time that

·5· ·Dr. Nguyen saw the patient?

·6· · · · · A· · No.

·7· · · · · Q· · And this appears to be a true and correct

·8· ·copy of the article that you provided to the Board?

·9· · · · · A· · Yes.

10· · · · · · · ·MS. BRADLEY:· So based on Dr. Hall's

11· ·testimony, I'd ask that Exhibit 8 be admitted.

12· · · · · · · ·MS. BUYS:· And we would further like to lodge

13· ·objection, as this refers to acute management of croup in

14· ·the emergency department and the care rendered was at an

15· ·urgent care facility.· And again, it looks like, even at

16· ·the top, it is a 2017 article.· So we would just like

17· ·that noted for the record.

18· · · · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· Okay.· With that

19· ·notation, do you stipulate to the admission?

20· · · · · · · ·MS. BUYS:· Yes, we stipulate to that is what

21· ·Dr. Hall relied upon in forming his opinion.

22· · · · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· Thank you.

23· · · · · Q· · (BY MR. BRADLEY:)· All right.· In Exhibit 9,

24· ·this is called, "Croup Diagnosis and Management."· Have
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·1· ·you seen this document before, Dr. Hall?

·2· · · · · A· · Yes.

·3· · · · · Q· · And this is an article that you provided to

·4· ·the Board with your review of this case?

·5· · · · · A· · Yes.

·6· · · · · Q· · Do you see the date at the bottom of the

·7· ·article for the copyright?· What is that?

·8· · · · · A· · Yes.· The date is 2018.

·9· · · · · Q· · And would anything in this article have been

10· ·different?· Like would the standard have changed from

11· ·2016 to 2018, when this was published?

12· · · · · A· · No.

13· · · · · Q· · And how do you know that?

14· · · · · A· · Well, the way that these articles are

15· ·written, as I've been an author for the American Family

16· ·Physician, for example, for this article, these articles

17· ·are typically in process about two years before an

18· ·article is published.· So, in other words, the authors

19· ·are going to write this article.· They're going to submit

20· ·it for peer review.· It's going to be peer reviewed, it's

21· ·going to come back for editing, and that process takes a

22· ·year or two.· So yes, it would be consistent with the

23· ·medical literature in 2016.

24· · · · · Q· · Okay.· And so this appears to be a true and
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·1· ·correct copy of the article that you provided to the

·2· ·Board?

·3· · · · · A· · Yes.

·4· · · · · · · ·MS. BRADLEY:· I would ask that Exhibit 9 be

·5· ·admitted.

·6· · · · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· Ms. Buys?

·7· · · · · · · ·MS. BUYS:· And we'd further note for the

·8· ·record our objection that this article appears to have

·9· ·been written May 1st of 2018, and therefore would not

10· ·have been in existence at the time Dr. Nguyen provided

11· ·care in 2016.· But with that objection on the record, we

12· ·can stipulate as to admissibility as this was a basis of

13· ·Dr. Hall's opinion in this case.

14· · · · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· Thank you.· Number

15· ·9 will be admitted.· I note the objection.

16· · · · · Q· · (BY MR. BRADLEY:)· Thank you.· Going to

17· ·Exhibit 10, have you seen Exhibit 10 before?· I think the

18· ·next one, probably.

19· · · · · A· · Yes.

20· · · · · Q· · Okay.· And so it's titled, "Kenalog-40

21· ·Injection."· Do you know where this came from?

22· · · · · A· · Yes.· So it's the reference as provided by

23· ·the manufacturer relative to the use and administration

24· ·of Kenalog.
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·1· · · · · Q· · And is this something that you found in your

·2· ·research?

·3· · · · · A· · Yes.

·4· · · · · Q· · How did you find it?

·5· · · · · A· · So these documents are included with the

·6· ·medication, and you can search for them and they're

·7· ·available free online, too.

·8· · · · · Q· · Okay.· And did you find this one?

·9· · · · · A· · Yes.

10· · · · · Q· · Where did you find this one?

11· · · · · A· · So good question.· I believe it was from the

12· ·FDA website, is my belief.

13· · · · · Q· · Okay.· And you reviewed this document and

14· ·provided it to the Board?

15· · · · · A· · Yes.

16· · · · · Q· · Based on -- and this appears to be a true and

17· ·correct copy of what you provided?

18· · · · · A· · Yes.

19· · · · · · · ·MS. BRADLEY:· Based on Dr. Hall's testimony,

20· ·I would ask that Exhibit 10 be admitted.

21· · · · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· Ms. Buys?

22· · · · · · · ·MS. BUYS:· We further note for the record our

23· ·objection that this document appears to be updated.

24· ·Ms. Bradley may be referencing the next exhibit with

http://www.litigationservices.com


Page 107
·1· ·regard to the date, as this is labeled as incomplete or

·2· ·partial, and the IC's Exhibit Number 11 is labeled as

·3· ·complete, but to the extent that it is updated, it is

·4· ·unclear and speculative as to whether it was in effect,

·5· ·the guidance provided at the time Dr. Nguyen provided

·6· ·care and treatment in 2016.

·7· · · · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· Thank you.

·8· · · · · · · ·MS. BUYS:· Otherwise, we do.· Thank you.

·9· · · · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· All right.· So

10· ·noting that objection, Exhibit 10 will be admitted.

11· · · · · Q· · (BY MR. BRADLEY:)· Okay.· So let's turn to

12· ·Exhibit 11.· Have you seen this before, Dr. Hall?

13· · · · · A· · Yes.

14· · · · · Q· · And what is this?

15· · · · · A· · So this is further documentation from the

16· ·manufacturer of Kenalog regarding the use and

17· ·administration of that particular medication.

18· · · · · Q· · Okay.· And I do think if we turn to the last

19· ·page of this exhibit, we do see a date on there.· What's

20· ·the date on this one?

21· · · · · A· · June 2018.

22· · · · · Q· · And you located this document?

23· · · · · A· · The same process.· I went to the FDA website.

24· · · · · Q· · Okay.· And do you recall if it differs from
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·1· ·the previous one?· Because they have the same title, at

·2· ·least.· I can tell the print is different.

·3· · · · · A· · I do not recall the distinction between these

·4· ·two.

·5· · · · · · · ·MS. BUYS:· To clarify for the record, when

·6· ·you say "The previous one," are you referring to IC's

·7· ·Exhibit Number 10?

·8· · · · · · · ·MR. BRADLEY:· Yeah.

·9· · · · · · · ·MS. BUYS:· Okay.· Thank you for clarifying.

10· · · · · Q· · (BY MR. BRADLEY:)· Okay.· So is this

11· ·something then that you provided to the Board when you

12· ·reviewed this case?

13· · · · · A· · Yes.

14· · · · · Q· · And this appears to be a true and correct

15· ·copy of what you provided to the Board?

16· · · · · A· · Yes.

17· · · · · · · ·MS. BRADLEY:· Based on Dr. Hall's testimony,

18· ·I'd ask that Exhibit 11 be admitted.

19· · · · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· Ms. Buys?

20· · · · · · · ·MS. BUYS:· And consistent with our prior

21· ·objections, we object that the date of this document is

22· ·after the date of care.· This is labeled June of 2018,

23· ·and the care provided was in 2016, but we stipulate as to

24· ·the admissibility that this was a document relied upon by
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·1· ·Dr. Nguyen.

·2· · · · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· Thank you.· I do

·3· ·note the objection, and Exhibit 11 is admitted.

·4· · · · · Q· · (BY MS. BRADLEY:)· So let's go to Exhibit 12,

·5· ·what's been pre-marked as 12 and not yet admitted.· And

·6· ·this is titled, "Documenting Vaccination."· Dr. Hall,

·7· ·have you seen this before?

·8· · · · · A· · Yes.

·9· · · · · Q· · And what is this?

10· · · · · A· · So this is information I obtained from an

11· ·immunization website to provide information regarding how

12· ·documentation would occur in the medical record.

13· · · · · Q· · Okay.· And so this is about documenting a

14· ·vaccination.· Is there a vaccination in this case?

15· · · · · A· · There is no vaccination in this case.

16· · · · · Q· · So why did you pull this one?

17· · · · · A· · So I pulled this one because I was trying to

18· ·find several references that would describe how when

19· ·something is administered to a patient, how that would be

20· ·documented in the medical record.

21· · · · · Q· · And so you felt that documenting the

22· ·vaccination might be similar to documenting an injection?

23· · · · · A· · Yes.

24· · · · · · · ·MS. BRADLEY:· Based on Dr. Hall's testimony,
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·1· ·I'd ask that Exhibit 12 be admitted.

·2· · · · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· Ms. Buys?

·3· · · · · · · ·MS. BUYS:· And we'd just lodge further

·4· ·objection regarding the date of this article appears to

·5· ·be updated, and relevance as it refers to vaccination as

·6· ·opposed to a steroid injection but do stipulate as to its

·7· ·admissibility to show that this is a document that

·8· ·Dr. Hall relied upon in forming his opinions.

·9· · · · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· Thank you.· With

10· ·that, I note the objection, and Exhibit 12 will be

11· ·admitted.

12· · · · · Q· · (BY MR. BRADLEY:)· Okay.· And Exhibit 13,

13· ·Dr. Hall, do you see that one?

14· · · · · A· · I do.

15· · · · · Q· · And it's titled, "Evaluating Medical Decision

16· ·Making Capacity in Practice."· Do you see a date for this

17· ·article?

18· · · · · A· · Yes.· So the article was published on July

19· ·1st, 2018.

20· · · · · Q· · And does this appear to be a true and correct

21· ·copy of what you provided to the Board with your review?

22· · · · · A· · Yes, it does.

23· · · · · Q· · And you relied on this as part of your review

24· ·of this case?
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·1· · · · · A· · Yes.

·2· · · · · Q· · And I think you already testified, but what's

·3· ·contained in here would not be different than what was

·4· ·the standard of care as of November 4th, 2016?

·5· · · · · A· · Yes.

·6· · · · · · · ·MS. BRADLEY:· Based on Dr. Hall's testimony,

·7· ·I'd ask that Exhibit 13 be admitted.

·8· · · · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· Ms. Buys?

·9· · · · · · · ·MS. BUYS:· Thank you.· Respondent further

10· ·objects that the date of this article appears to be July

11· ·1st, 2018, which was almost two years after the care

12· ·provided in 2016, and therefore not in existence at the

13· ·time but does stipulate that this is an article that

14· ·Dr. Hall relied upon in forming his opinions in this

15· ·matter.

16· · · · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· Thank you.· I note

17· ·the objection, and Exhibit 13 is admitted.

18· · · · · Q· · (BY MR. BRADLEY:)· Then let's look at Exhibit

19· ·14 next, please.· So this is titled, "Croup."· What does

20· ·this appear to be from?

21· · · · · A· · So this is an article published in the

22· ·Lancet, which is a medical journal.

23· · · · · Q· · Okay.· And then I think we can look at the

24· ·date on top there as well.
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·1· · · · · A· · Yes.· This article was published in January

·2· ·or February of 2008.

·3· · · · · Q· · Okay.· And does this appear to be a true and

·4· ·correct copy of an article that you provided to the

·5· ·Board?

·6· · · · · A· · Yes.

·7· · · · · Q· · And this is something that you relied on in

·8· ·your review of this case?

·9· · · · · A· · Yes.

10· · · · · · · ·MS. BRADLEY:· Based on Dr. Hall's testimony,

11· ·I'd ask that Exhibit 14 be admitted.

12· · · · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· Ms. Buys?

13· · · · · · · ·MS. BUYS:· And we stipulate that this is an

14· ·article that Dr. Hall relied upon in forming his opinions

15· ·in this matter and therefore stipulate to its

16· ·admissibility.

17· · · · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· Thank you.

18· ·Exhibit 14 will be admitted.

19· · · · · Q· · (BY MR. BRADLEY:)· So now we are on Exhibit

20· ·15.· This is titled, "Chapter 15:· Intramuscular

21· ·Subcutaneous and Intradermal Injections."· Have you seen

22· ·this before, Dr. Hall?

23· · · · · A· · Yes.

24· · · · · Q· · And what is that?
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·1· · · · · A· · So this is one of the chapters from a

·2· ·textbook on current procedures in pediatrics, and it's

·3· ·information from that particular publication.

·4· · · · · Q· · Okay.· Do we have a date for this, I wonder?

·5· ·Let's see from the back.

·6· · · · · A· · I think I should be able to find it here.· So

·7· ·this particular book was published in 2007.

·8· · · · · Q· · Okay.· 2007?

·9· · · · · A· · Yes.

10· · · · · Q· · Okay.· And does this appear to be a true and

11· ·correct copy of the chapter that you reviewed when

12· ·forming your opinion in this case?

13· · · · · A· · Yes.

14· · · · · · · ·MS. BRADLEY:· Based on Dr. Hall's testimony,

15· ·I'd ask that Exhibit 15 be admitted.

16· · · · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· Ms. Buys?

17· · · · · · · ·MS. BUYS:· And then we further also go and

18· ·object to the extent we can't find a date on the copy of

19· ·the article that we have.· It appears to be updated to us

20· ·as well as object to the reference to intradermal

21· ·injections.· It's not relevant to the care at issue in

22· ·this case.· We do stipulate as to its admission to show

23· ·that this is a document Dr. Hall relied upon in forming

24· ·his opinions in this case.
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·1· · · · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· Thank you.· I note

·2· ·the objection, and Respondent's Exhibit 15 is admitted.

·3· · · · · Q· · (BY MS. BRADLEY:)· Dr. Hall, why did you pull

·4· ·this document?· Do you remember in your review?

·5· · · · · A· · Yes.· I was trying to find the most relevant

·6· ·information I could regarding the clinical situation

·7· ·presented, which was an intramuscular injection in a

·8· ·pediatric patient.

·9· · · · · Q· · And you testified that this is from a book

10· ·called -- What was the name of the book again?

11· · · · · A· · The name of the book is Current Procedures;

12· ·Pediatrics."

13· · · · · Q· · Okay.· Thank you.· All right.· And then let's

14· ·go to Exhibit 16.· This is titled, "Musculoskeletal

15· ·Injections - a Review of the Evidence."· Have you seen

16· ·this before?

17· · · · · A· · Yes.

18· · · · · Q· · And what is this?

19· · · · · A· · So this is an article written in the American

20· ·Family Physician regarding musculoskeletal injections.

21· · · · · Q· · And it appears it's dated October 15, 2008?

22· · · · · A· · That is correct.

23· · · · · Q· · And does this appear to be a true and correct

24· ·copy of an article that you provided to the Board?
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·1· · · · · A· · Yes.

·2· · · · · Q· · And you relied on this in forming your

·3· ·opinion in this case?

·4· · · · · A· · Yes.

·5· · · · · Q· · And it's about musculoskeletal injections.

·6· ·Is that the same kind of injection that we had in this

·7· ·case?

·8· · · · · A· · There's a distinction I would draw between

·9· ·generally what we would call a musculoskeletal injection

10· ·versus what was administered to Patient A in this case.

11· ·Having said that, there are some similarities.

12· · · · · Q· · And so you felt like it was relevant to

13· ·review?

14· · · · · A· · It was relevant.· Yes.

15· · · · · · · ·MS. BRADLEY:· Okay.· Based on Dr. Hall's

16· ·testimony, I would ask that Exhibit 17 be admitted.

17· · · · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· Exhibit 16.

18· · · · · · · ·MS. BRADLEY:· Sorry.· Yeah.· Sixteen.  I

19· ·apologize.· Gosh, I'm already jumping ahead.

20· · · · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· Ms. Buys?

21· · · · · · · ·MS. BUYS:· Yes, and Respondent further

22· ·objects that again, we're dealing with an intramuscular

23· ·injection rather that a musculoskeletal injection and

24· ·therefore objects to the relevance of this article as to
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·1· ·the standard of care; both its reference to treatment of

·2· ·conditions such as bursitis and carpal tunnel which are

·3· ·not at issue in this matter.· But we do, however,

·4· ·stipulate to the admissibility to demonstrate this was an

·5· ·article relied upon by Dr. Hall in forming his opinions

·6· ·in this case.

·7· · · · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· Thank you.· I note

·8· ·the objection and I admit Respondent's Exhibit 16.

·9· · · · · Q· · (BY MS. BRADLEY:)· Okay.· I then would go to

10· ·Exhibit 17, which is titled, "Joint and Soft Tissue

11· ·Injection."· Have you seen this before, Dr. Hall?

12· · · · · A· · Yes.

13· · · · · Q· · And what is it?

14· · · · · A· · So it is an article written for the American

15· ·Family Physician describing joint and soft tissue

16· ·injections.

17· · · · · Q· · And is that the same kind of injection we

18· ·have in this case?

19· · · · · A· · It is, yes, generally speaking, yes.

20· · · · · Q· · Okay.· Maybe can you explain that for me?

21· ·Because a joint injection sounds different to me than an

22· ·intramuscular one, but I'm not a doctor.

23· · · · · A· · Yeah.· So the difference that I would

24· ·describe is a joint injection is what you would imagine,
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·1· ·and that involves putting a needle into a joint and

·2· ·administering a medication.· A soft tissue injection

·3· ·would be different.· That would be placing medication

·4· ·into the soft tissues.· And by definition in this

·5· ·article, that would include into subcutaneous tissues or

·6· ·into the muscles.

·7· · · · · Q· · Okay.· And this appears to be a true and

·8· ·correct copy of an article that you provided to the Board

·9· ·in your review of this case?

10· · · · · A· · Yes.

11· · · · · Q· · And then for the record, I think on the

12· ·bottom of the first page there, there's a date of this

13· ·article.· Do you see that?

14· · · · · A· · Yes.· July 15th, 2002.

15· · · · · · · ·MS. BRADLEY:· Based on Dr. Hall's testimony,

16· ·we would ask that this article be admitted into evidence.

17· · · · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· Ms. Buys?

18· · · · · · · ·MS. BUYS:· And yes, we further object as to

19· ·the relevance of this article as it deals with again

20· ·joint and soft tissue injections as opposed to

21· ·intramuscular injection for treatment of respiratory

22· ·symptoms, and we therefore object to the relevance as to

23· ·the standard of care.· However, we do stipulate to the

24· ·admissibility to show that there was an article relied
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·1· ·upon by Dr. Hall in forming his opinions in this matter.

·2· · · · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· Okay.· I note the

·3· ·objection.· I admit Respondent's Exhibit 17.· Thank you.

·4· · · · · Q· · (BY MR. BRADLEY:)· So, Dr. Hall, I think

·5· ·you've looked at the Board's Exhibit 5 a lot, and we've

·6· ·also looked at the Board's Exhibit 11 or -- sorry --

·7· ·Respondent's Exhibit 11, which is that shot record.· If

·8· ·we go to --

·9· · · · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· Respondent's

10· ·Exhibit 12.

11· · · · · Q· · (BY MS. BRADLEY:)· Oh, Respondent's Exhibit

12· ·12.· I apologize.· I need to change these.· I'll do that

13· ·at lunch.· If we go to Respondent's Exhibit I think it's

14· ·5 and 6, I'm looking at medical records.· Is that what we

15· ·have for 5 and 6 for Respondent?

16· · · · · · · ·MS. BUYS:· Are you referring to a certain

17· ·Bates stamped page?

18· · · · · · · ·MS. BRADLEY:· No, I'm just referring to the

19· ·exhibits and I'm hoping I have the exhibit numbers right.

20· · · · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· Respondent's 5?

21· · · · · · · ·MS. BRADLEY:· Respondent's 5 and Respondent's

22· ·6.

23· · · · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· And Respondent's

24· ·6.
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·1· · · · · · · ·MS. BRADLEY:· Yes.· Okay.· I'm looking at the

·2· ·right thing, and I think that you have them in your

·3· ·binder too.

·4· · · · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· Ms. Buys, I have

·5· ·Respondent's 5 is the HealthCare Partners Medical

·6· ·Group-700 building with the address of Warm Springs Road,

·7· ·and then Exhibit 6 starts with a certificate of the

·8· ·custodian of records, and its corporate office and it

·9· ·says:· "Allscripts" on the top right.

10· · · · · · · ·MS. BUYS:· Thank you.· That's what we have in

11· ·front of us as well.

12· · · · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· Okay.· Thank you.

13· · · · · Q· · (BY MR. BRADLEY:)· Have you seen these

14· ·before, Dr. Hall?

15· · · · · A· · I may be out of order here because I think

16· ·mine are a little different.· I just need to make sure

17· ·I'm on the right record.

18· · · · · Q· · Okay.· That's 5.

19· · · · · A· · We're going to use this one.· All right.  I

20· ·got it.· Number five.

21· · · · · Q· · Yeah.· Have you seen those before?

22· · · · · A· · This first page, I have not seen before or at

23· ·least I don't recall seeing it before.· I do recall -- so

24· ·the first page, I've not seen before.· The subsequent
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·1· ·pages are consistent with what I reviewed regarding the

·2· ·medical record from the date of service November 4th,

·3· ·2016.

·4· · · · · Q· · And I guess I just want to talk about the

·5· ·records a little bit.· Are you familiar with a standard

·6· ·in Nevada regarding what consists of timely, legible

·7· ·accurate and complete medical records?

·8· · · · · A· · I would say your description is somewhat

·9· ·self-evident to me that medical records should be

10· ·legible, they should be completed in a timely manner, so

11· ·yes.

12· · · · · Q· · Okay.· And I know I've had you look at a lot

13· ·of the Board's exhibits, and the reason I wanted you to

14· ·look at the Respondent's is I think there's a handful

15· ·more pages of medical records that Dr. Nguyen has

16· ·provided than what we had initially obtained.

17· · · · · A· · Yeah, I agree.· Yes, I agree.

18· · · · · Q· · Okay.· Because my question really is:· Based

19· ·on what we've talked about today, would you say these

20· ·records are timely, legible, accurate and complete?

21· · · · · A· · What I reviewed previously, so that for the

22· ·record is pages 2, 3, and 4, appear to me to be timely,

23· ·legible and accurate in the sense that there are --

24· ·Well, I'm aware that there are some additional pages now,
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·1· ·so I would question if we had all of the medical records

·2· ·with my original review.· That's what I would question.

·3· · · · · Q· · Okay.· But, for example, I think we talked

·4· ·about the informed consent documentation.

·5· · · · · A· · Yes.

·6· · · · · Q· · Do you think that should have been more

·7· ·complete in the record?

·8· · · · · A· · Yes.

·9· · · · · Q· · And so if informed consent isn't documented

10· ·as completely, I mean, does that make the record now not

11· ·complete?

12· · · · · A· · Yes.· One would need to document informed

13· ·consent.· Yes.

14· · · · · Q· · And if it's not documented, I've heard people

15· ·say if it's not documented, it didn't happen.· Is that

16· ·something --

17· · · · · A· · I've heard the same thing.

18· · · · · Q· · And where have you heard that?

19· · · · · A· · Well, in my medical training and certainly

20· ·from a medical/legal perspective, I've heard the same

21· ·principle discussed.

22· · · · · Q· · Okay.· Why is documentation so important in

23· ·patient records?

24· · · · · A· · Well, I think this is a great example, is
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·1· ·we've heard testimony today from Mrs. DelGrosso, and it's

·2· ·difficult to recollect an event that happened years ago.

·3· ·And so to provide an accurate, timely and legible medical

·4· ·record provides an opportunity to support a treatment

·5· ·plan and provide an appropriate indication for the

·6· ·recommendations provided.

·7· · · · · Q· · Okay.· And then as far as the Board's

·8· ·standard for malpractice, are you familiar with that?

·9· · · · · A· · I've read through it.

10· · · · · Q· · Okay.· And is it your understanding that it's

11· ·different perhaps than it might be in a civil case?

12· · · · · A· · Yes.

13· · · · · Q· · Do you know how it's different?

14· · · · · A· · I don't.

15· · · · · Q· · So the Board's standard for malpractice is

16· ·that a person has failed to use reasonable care, skill,

17· ·or knowledge ordinarily used under similar circumstances.

18· ·So do you believe that Dr. Nyugen's care constitutes

19· ·malpractice as defined by the Board?

20· · · · · A· · So yes, so my written statement, yes, I

21· ·stated that.

22· · · · · Q· · Okay.· And what was the reason for that?

23· · · · · A· · There were three reasons that I made that

24· ·statement.· Number one:· I could not find documentation
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·1· ·of informed consent for administration of Kenalog

·2· ·intramuscularly.· Number two:· I didn't understand the

·3· ·reasoning behind providing both oral and intramuscular

·4· ·corticosteroids.· And finally, there wasn't -- in the

·5· ·medical record I initially reviewed -- there was not a

·6· ·description of how the injection was administered.

·7· · · · · Q· · Okay.· And but now we have that?

·8· · · · · A· · We now have that.

·9· · · · · Q· · Okay.· But also too, just to clarify, I think

10· ·you talked about the two, both the oral and the

11· ·injection, but there's also the question of whether so

12· ·there's the redundant medication.

13· · · · · A· · Yes.

14· · · · · Q· · But there's also the question of whether the

15· ·shot was necessary at all.

16· · · · · A· · Yes.

17· · · · · · · ·MS. BRADLEY:· All right.· I have no further

18· ·questions for Dr. Hall at this time.

19· · · · · · · ·MS. BUYS:· I believe it's about 11:15 now.

20· ·Would everyone be all right breaking for lunch a little

21· ·bit earlier than noon?

22· · · · · · · ·MS. BRADLEY:· No.· I'm not sure Dr. Hall is

23· ·going to be available much after lunch, and so I would

24· ·suggest that if you have cross-examination for him that
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·1· ·it be done now.

·2· · · · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· Do you need a

·3· ·small break, Ms. Buys?

·4· · · · · · · ·MS. BUYS:· Yes, that would be great.

·5· · · · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· Okay.· So it's

·6· ·11:16, so why don't we come back at 11:25.

·7· · · · · · · ·MS. BRADLEY:· Okay.· Thank you.

·8· · · · · · · · · · · · (Recess.)

·9· · · · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· I noted that

10· ·everyone is back present.· Are you prepared to continue?

11· · · · · · · ·MS. BUYS:· Yes.· Can everybody hear us okay?

12· · · · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· We can now.

13· · · · · · · ·MS. BUYS:· Yes, we're ready to go back.

14· · · · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· We're back on the

15· ·record.· It is now 11:29 a.m., and I remind Dr. Hall that

16· ·you remain under oath.

17· · · · · · · ·Go ahead, Ms. Buys.· Thank you.

18

19· · · · · · · · · · · · ·CROSS-EXAMINATION

20· ·BY MS. BUYS:

21· · · · · Q· · Thank you so much.· Dr. Hall, I believe that

22· ·you testified that you've been a consultant for the

23· ·Nevada State Board for cases other than this matter; is

24· ·that correct?

http://www.litigationservices.com


Page 125
·1· · · · · A· · So I've been a peer reviewer for other cases,

·2· ·yes.

·3· · · · · Q· · And how many of those cases have you reviewed

·4· ·for the Nevada Board of Medical Examiners?

·5· · · · · A· · I would estimate around eight.

·6· · · · · Q· · And how many years have you been a consultant

·7· ·to the Nevada State Board?

·8· · · · · A· · I would estimate since approximately 2010.

·9· · · · · Q· · And, Dr. Hall, to your understanding, were

10· ·you the only physician to have conducted a review of this

11· ·case pursuant to the request of the Nevada Board of

12· ·Medical Examiners Investigative Committee?

13· · · · · A· · I'm aware of no other physicians who have

14· ·looked at this case.· Yes.

15· · · · · Q· · Apart from the documents that have been

16· ·disclosed by the Investigative Committee which I believe

17· ·were marked as exhibits, they were investigative exhibits

18· ·5 through I believe it's 17, if I have that correctly,

19· ·did you rely on any other documents or information in

20· ·formulating your opinions about this case?

21· · · · · A· · No.

22· · · · · Q· · Have you ever seen Patient A or had an

23· ·opportunity to examine Patient A?

24· · · · · A· · No.
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·1· · · · · Q· · Is it fair to say that you have not directly

·2· ·observed any skin -- I believe we referred to it as a

·3· ·divot on Patient A yourself; is that correct?

·4· · · · · A· · That's correct.

·5· · · · · Q· · And, Dr. Hall, did you review all of the care

·6· ·and treatment received by Patient A or just care that was

·7· ·provided by Dr. Nguyen?

·8· · · · · A· · So I was given additional medical records

·9· ·which I included a list of in my review, so there were

10· ·additional medical records that I reviewed as requested

11· ·as provided by the State Medical Board.

12· · · · · Q· · All right.· I'll just make a note that we

13· ·were not provided a list of any written documents that

14· ·you had reviewed or a written statement.· Is it your

15· ·testimony that you had a written list of documents you

16· ·reviewed as well as a written report that you provided to

17· ·the Investigative Committee?

18· · · · · A· · Yes, that is correct.· So I received

19· ·additional medical records beyond the date of service in

20· ·question as part of my review.

21· · · · · Q· · All right.· And I just want to make a note

22· ·for the record that those documents were requested by

23· ·Dr. Nguyen, a motion was filed, and that objection was

24· ·overruled.· And I just wanted to make that clear for the
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·1· ·record that we had not had an opportunity to review any

·2· ·of those additional documents.

·3· · · · · · · ·So, Dr. Hall, I just want to clarify as well.

·4· ·Would you agree that the date Dr. Nguyen provided care to

·5· ·Patient A was November 4th of 2016?

·6· · · · · A· · Yes, that's the date of service on the

·7· ·medical record.

·8· · · · · Q· · All right.· Do you know where the date of

·9· ·November 11, 2016 came from?· Do you have any

10· ·understanding?

11· · · · · A· · I do not.

12· · · · · Q· · Okay.· Would you agree with me that the

13· ·Nevada State Board of Medical Examiners should list all

14· ·of the testimony and facts of the case before

15· ·determination is made about Dr. Nguyen both from the

16· ·Respondent and all expert witnesses called to testify?

17· · · · · A· · You're going to have to forgive me.· I am not

18· ·experienced legally, but obviously, the principle of

19· ·providing evidence, complete evidence is, I think,

20· ·important.

21· · · · · Q· · Gotcha.· So is it fair to say if you were

22· ·sitting to the right of me where Dr. Nguyen is, you would

23· ·want the Board to consider evidence from the Respondent

24· ·as well as the Investigative Committee; is that fair
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·1· ·enough?

·2· · · · · A· · Yes.

·3· · · · · Q· · Okay.· Are we in agreement that this child,

·4· ·Patient A, was so sick that on November 4th, 2016, her

·5· ·parents thought she needed to be seen at an urgent care

·6· ·clinic because they didn't want to risk waiting a few

·7· ·days to see her pediatrician at an appointment?

·8· · · · · A· · That was the testimony of Patient A's mother.

·9· ·Yes.

10· · · · · Q· · All right.· And I believe you had testified

11· ·to this earlier, but can we agree that the illness the

12· ·patient complained of principally presented as a

13· ·respiratory illness?

14· · · · · A· · Yes.

15· · · · · Q· · Okay.· And would you agree with me that the

16· ·standard of care for a physician is determined based upon

17· ·the date the care was provided?

18· · · · · A· · Yes.

19· · · · · Q· · All right.· And what is your definition of

20· ·the standard of care just for the record?

21· · · · · A· · Well, I would agree with what was stated

22· ·previously.· I don't have the exact definition in front

23· ·of me, but to follow generally accepted medical standards

24· ·and to provide appropriate documentation.
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·1· · · · · Q· · All right.· And that's the definition you

·2· ·relied upon in forming your opinions in this case; is

·3· ·that correct?

·4· · · · · A· · So I relied upon the statement that

·5· ·Ms. Bradley read previously.

·6· · · · · Q· · All right.· And you had also testified that

·7· ·you had reviewed the records that were, I believe,

·8· ·admitted as the IC's Exhibit Number 5 as well as

·9· ·Respondent's exhibits I believe they're listed as

10· ·Exhibits Number 7 and 8 which have both Bates stamps at

11· ·the bottom:· HCP 001 through 17 and the admin log 1

12· ·through 7 as well as Respondent's Exhibit -- I believe

13· ·it's Number 13 with patient administration details.· Do

14· ·you have those documents in front of you?

15· · · · · A· · We're trying to find those, so we might need

16· ·you to go back through them and list them.· So I do have,

17· ·on the State Medical Board Exhibit 5, that's the medical

18· ·record.· And then from the -- this would be from the

19· ·Respondent's exhibit binder under 5, I've got the

20· ·HealthCare Partners Medical Group.· It's part of medical

21· ·record.· And pages two, three, and four are consistent,

22· ·are the same documents that are under Exhibit 5 for the

23· ·State Medical Board's record.· And then which were the

24· ·other ones that you wanted to ask about?
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·1· · · · · · · ·MS. BUYS:· I also wanted to talk about the

·2· ·medical administration log, which I believe we now have

·3· ·listed as Respondent's Exhibit Number 6, as well as the

·4· ·medication administration details, which is Respondent's

·5· ·Exhibit Number 12.

·6· · · · · · · ·MS. BUYS:· So I believe we have the same

·7· ·document as listed as Number 6, and we have a

·8· ·declaration, under Exhibit 12, we have a declaration from

·9· ·Melissa Vogt.· That's what I have.

10· · · · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· So they're going

11· ·to be one number, I think.· Like if she says 12, it's

12· ·going to be 13.· If she says it's six, it's going to be

13· ·seven.

14· · · · · · · ·THE WITNESS:· Oh, okay.· Sorry.· So with

15· ·clarification, we also have standard operating procedure

16· ·for HealthCare Partners of Nevada.· We do have that

17· ·exhibit, but it's under a different number on my binder.

18· · · · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· Can you just

19· ·clarify each exhibit, and if it's Respondent as or the

20· ·Board's, and I'll clarify for everyone on this end.

21· · · · · Q· · (BY MS. BUYS:)· Thank you.· I was referring

22· ·also to it is Respondent's Exhibit -- I believe we

23· ·stipulated to its admission as Respondent's Exhibit

24· ·Number 12, and it's Medical Administration Details, Bates
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·1· ·stamped Med Admin Details 00001 through 2.

·2· · · · · A· · Yes, I have that one.

·3· · · · · Q· · Okay.· Perfect.· And have you had an

·4· ·opportunity to review all of these documents before your

·5· ·testimony here today?

·6· · · · · A· · So the document that you just referenced, I

·7· ·received this by email the night of May 23rd, and I did

·8· ·review that.· Under Exhibit 5, so on Exhibit 5, I have

·9· ·not reviewed until today or have not seen until today

10· ·pages 1, 5, and 6.· So I did not receive 1, 5 or 6

11· ·previous to today.

12· · · · · Q· · All right.· And when you say Exhibit Number

13· ·5, are you referring to it's medical records from

14· ·HealthCare Partners and Bates stamped at the bottom HCP

15· ·01 through 17?

16· · · · · A· · Yeah, so that is correct.· I'm referring to

17· ·the medical record from HealthCare Partners under

18· ·Respondent's Exhibit 5, and I'm referring to HCP 1, 5, 6,

19· ·and 7 are the ones that I have not previously reviewed.

20· · · · · Q· · All right.· Thank you for clarifying.· I just

21· ·wanted to make that point for the record.· If you could

22· ·please go and take a look at that it's Respondent's

23· ·Exhibit Number 12, the Medication Administration Details.

24· · · · · A· · Yes.
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·1· · · · · Q· · Do you have that in front of you?

·2· · · · · A· · I do.· Thank you.

·3· · · · · Q· · Thank you.· I believe Ms. Bradley had asked

·4· ·you earlier about the dosage for the Kenalog injection,

·5· ·and if I recall your testimony correctly, you believed

·6· ·you had stated it was one mL.· Is that correct?

·7· · · · · A· · So there -- I was a little confused, and

·8· ·there is a distinction between what is documented under

·9· ·Tab 5 and what is documented under Tab 12.· So under Tab

10· ·5, if you look at the Kenalog order, the order says

11· ·Kenalog, 40 milligrams per milliliter, and it says:

12· ·Inject 0.5 milliliters intramuscularly.· That dosing

13· ·would be 20 milligrams.· However, on Exhibit 12, the

14· ·documentation here lists a dose of 1 milliliter, which

15· ·would be 40 milligrams of Kenalog.· So there is a little

16· ·distinction.

17· · · · · Q· · All right.· Just to clarify for the record,

18· ·Doctor, where do you see that 1 milliliter on this

19· ·documentation?· I believe -- actually, strike that.· Do

20· ·you see at the top of the page under it says,

21· ·"Administration details"?

22· · · · · A· · Yes.

23· · · · · Q· · There is a statement right there.· It looks

24· ·like it reads inject --
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·1· · · · · A· · Yes.

·2· · · · · Q· · -- 0.5 mL intramuscularly once.

·3· · · · · A· · Yes.· So that --

·4· · · · · Q· · Do you see that?

·5· · · · · A· · I do.· Yes.

·6· · · · · Q· · All right.· And did I read that correctly?

·7· · · · · A· · Yeah, that is correct.

·8· · · · · Q· · All right.· And the notation:· Inject 0.5

·9· ·milliliters intramuscularly once, would that be

10· ·consistent with the records that you reviewed in Exhibit

11· ·Number 5 regarding the .5 milliliter injection?

12· · · · · A· · Yes, it would.

13· · · · · Q· · All right.· So to clarify -- Strike that.

14· ·Would .5 milliliters of a 40 milligram per milliliter

15· ·injection, would that be 20 milligrams per milliliter?

16· · · · · A· · Yes, it would be 20 milligrams.

17· · · · · Q· · Twenty milligrams.· Thank you for clarifying.

18· ·And so would it be consistent that Dr. Nyugen's

19· ·documentation indicates that it was 20 milligrams that

20· ·was administered?

21· · · · · A· · Yes, I believe that is correct.· That is what

22· ·is stated in Exhibit 5.· And also, as you pointed out in

23· ·that section right underneath administration details,

24· ·that is the exact same description there.· So yes, I
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·1· ·believe the correct dosing is going to be 20 milligrams

·2· ·that was administered of Kenalog.

·3· · · · · · · ·MS. BUYS:· Thank you.

·4· · · · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· Sorry.· Can you

·5· ·point out to me the reference that you're both referring

·6· ·to on Exhibit 5 just so I can make sure that I'm in the

·7· ·same place?

·8· · · · · · · ·THE WITNESS:· Yeah, it's --

·9· · · · · · · ·MS. BUYS:· Certainly.· I was referring to it

10· ·looks like it's that paragraph that --

11· · · · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· Okay.· I see

12· ·Exhibit 5.· I'm sorry I misspoke.· Exhibit 12.

13· · · · · · · ·THE WITNESS:· Yeah, right here.· So if you

14· ·look right there.

15· · · · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· Where it says

16· ·dose:· 1 unit milliliter.

17· · · · · · · ·THE WITNESS:· I'm sorry.· Look above that.

18· · · · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· Okay.· Injection

19· ·of 0.5 milliliter.

20· · · · · · · ·THE WITNESS:· There you go.

21· · · · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· Thank you.

22· · · · · Q· · (BY MS. BUYS:)· Thank you.· For the record,

23· ·that's on Bates stamp page Med Admin Details 00001 just

24· ·for the record to make sure we're all on the same page.
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·1· · · · · · · ·Dr. Hall, I believe you had testified

·2· ·regarding your opinions as to the care and treatment that

·3· ·Dr. Nguyen provided when Mr. Bradley was asking you

·4· ·questions.· Do you remember that?

·5· · · · · A· · Yes.

·6· · · · · Q· · Did you express all of the opinions and

·7· ·criticisms that you had had about Dr. Nyugen's care at

·8· ·the time that she was asking you questions?

·9· · · · · A· · Can you repeat that?

10· · · · · Q· · Certainly.· Let me rephrase.

11· · · · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· Would you like

12· ·that read back, Ms. Buys?

13· · · · · · · ·MS. BUYS:· Yes, that would be great.

14· · · · · (Requested portion read by the reporter.)

15· · · · · · · ·THE WITNESS:· So my recollection is I brought

16· ·up three specific concerns, and those represent the three

17· ·concerns that I had when I reviewed the medical record.

18· · · · · Q· · (BY MS. BUYS:)· Thank you.· But you don't

19· ·have any additional concerns or criticisms other than

20· ·those three that you had testified to; is that correct?

21· · · · · A· · That is correct.· Yes.

22· · · · · Q· · Okay.· And, Dr. Hall, how many patients with

23· ·croup have you treated in your office?

24· · · · · A· · Over what time period?
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·1· · · · · Q· · Over the course of your career as a family

·2· ·medicine/sports medicine physician.

·3· · · · · A· · Oh, gosh.· Hundreds.· Somewhere -- quite a

·4· ·few.

·5· · · · · Q· · All right.· And all of those patients, were

·6· ·they treated in your private office or were they seen in

·7· ·hospitals?

·8· · · · · A· · So if you extend all of my medical training,

·9· ·in my medical training, I saw them both in the office and

10· ·in the hospital.· I've not done hospital medicine for

11· ·more than ten years, so recently, it's just been in my

12· ·office.

13· · · · · Q· · And of those patients, how many specifically

14· ·did you see at your office?· Can you estimate a number?

15· · · · · A· · More than 100.

16· · · · · Q· · All right.· And in your experience, Doctor,

17· ·how many two-year-olds resist having medication injected?

18· · · · · A· · All of them.

19· · · · · Q· · And how many require additional assistance

20· ·from a parent to help kind of stabilize them during an

21· ·administration of an injectable medication?

22· · · · · A· · All of them.

23· · · · · Q· · In your experience, Doctor, has a child who

24· ·has had a history of vomiting ever thrown up medication
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·1· ·that was taken orally?

·2· · · · · A· · Yes.

·3· · · · · Q· · And if a child vomits up oral medication, how

·4· ·is the parent supposed to know how much medication they

·5· ·threw up?

·6· · · · · A· · That's difficult to estimate.

·7· · · · · Q· · And I believe when you reviewed -- you had

·8· ·stated that you had reviewed the records for Patient A.

·9· ·On November 4th, 2016, what percentile was Patient A for

10· ·weight for a three-year-old child?

11· · · · · · · ·MS. BRADLEY:· I'm going to object.· That

12· ·misstates the evidence.· She wasn't three years old.

13· · · · · Q· · (BY MS. BUYS:)· Right.· I just would like to

14· ·know for a three-year-old though.

15· · · · · A· · And the question is percentile?

16· · · · · Q· · Correct.· What percentile was Patient A?

17· · · · · · · ·MS. BRADLEY:· I'm still going to object.  I

18· ·don't understand why we're asking about a three-year-old

19· ·when the patient wasn't three.· The patient was not quite

20· ·two.

21· · · · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· Ms. Buys --

22· · · · · · · ·MS. BRADLEY:· So what's the relevance of a

23· ·three-year-old?

24· · · · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· -- can you repeat
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·1· ·the question for me, please?

·2· · · · · · · ·MS. BUYS:· Certainly.· I was inquiring as to

·3· ·the percentile for this child's weight as in a three-year

·4· ·old's percentile.· She appears to me to be rather large

·5· ·even for a two-year-old.· However, I could certainly go

·6· ·and rephrase the question as to what percentile this

·7· ·child was for a two-year-old.

·8· · · · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· Go ahead.

·9· · · · · · · ·THE WITNESS:· So I don't have the percentile

10· ·chart in front of me, so I don't know that I can answer

11· ·that question as to what percentile this child would fall

12· ·under.

13· · · · · Q· · (BY MS. BUYS:)· All right.· And so leading to

14· ·my other question, do you recall if the weight of the

15· ·child was documented in the medical record?

16· · · · · A· · Yeah.· So as documented here, the child was

17· ·33 pounds.

18· · · · · Q· · All right.· And just to clarify, it's your

19· ·testimony that at this time, as you sit here today, you

20· ·cannot state what percentile weight the child would be in

21· ·as you would need to refer to a chart; is that correct?

22· · · · · A· · That is correct.

23· · · · · Q· · All right.· And in your experience treating

24· ·pediatric patients, how often are two-year-old pediatric
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·1· ·patients ambulating for, you know, approximately six,

·2· ·nine months?

·3· · · · · A· · How often are they ambulating?

·4· · · · · Q· · Correct.

·5· · · · · A· · So two-year-olds, if they were following

·6· ·normal development, would be walking.

·7· · · · · Q· · You were present during Ms. DelGrosso's

·8· ·testimony.· Do you recall her stating that her daughter

·9· ·was walking at the time?

10· · · · · A· · I don't recall for sure, but it would make

11· ·sense to me that that would be the case.

12· · · · · Q· · All right.· And switching gears a little bit,

13· ·Doctor, based on your experience, can children be

14· ·hospitalized due to croup?

15· · · · · A· · Absolutely.

16· · · · · Q· · Or croup-like symptoms?

17· · · · · A· · Yes.

18· · · · · Q· · And was this child hospitalized following her

19· ·November 4th, 2016 urgent care visit with Dr. Nguyen due

20· ·to croup?

21· · · · · A· · Not according to the medical records I

22· ·reviewed.

23· · · · · Q· · Can children die from croup?

24· · · · · A· · Yes.
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·1· · · · · Q· · And based on your review and your

·2· ·investigation, this child, Patient A did not die; is that

·3· ·correct?

·4· · · · · A· · That is correct.

·5· · · · · Q· · Could it be that the treatment provided by

·6· ·Dr. Nguyen prevented this child from being hospitalized

·7· ·or, you know, suffering a more serious outcome like

·8· ·death?

·9· · · · · A· · Yes.

10· · · · · Q· · And have you seen any cases of a single

11· ·injection leading to a gluteal muscle atrophy?

12· · · · · A· · Yes.

13· · · · · Q· · How many times have you seen a single

14· ·injection leading to a gluteal muscle atrophy?

15· · · · · A· · The number that comes to my mind is about

16· ·four.

17· · · · · Q· · Were any of these pediatric patients?

18· · · · · A· · No.

19· · · · · Q· · Were any of those patients administered a

20· ·series of steroid injections?

21· · · · · A· · I don't recall.

22· · · · · Q· · And I believe when you had testified earlier

23· ·that I apologize -- Strike that.· I believe you had

24· ·testified earlier that complications can occur despite a
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·1· ·steroid injection being administered intramuscularly

·2· ·appropriately, that that's an issue that can still occur.

·3· ·Is that correct?

·4· · · · · A· · That is correct.

·5· · · · · Q· · All right.· And I also believed that you had

·6· ·referenced some FDA guidance regarding Kenalog injections

·7· ·as the basis of your opinion.· Is that correct?

·8· · · · · A· · That is correct.

·9· · · · · Q· · All right.· And I believe we had discussed

10· ·earlier that the FDA guidance that you had referred to

11· ·was revised in 2018.· Do you recall that?

12· · · · · A· · So just for clarification, the FDA stores the

13· ·information as provided by the manufacturer of the

14· ·medications, and I think it was referenced -- and I'm

15· ·trying to find it, but one of the references did list a

16· ·date of publication of 2018.· Yes.

17· · · · · Q· · All right.· And I believe that you had

18· ·provided two copies of that FDA guidance.· One seems like

19· ·it was partial and the other one was sort of labeled as a

20· ·complete.· Do you recall seeing those exhibits?

21· · · · · A· · I do.· Yes.

22· · · · · Q· · And you provided both of those exhibits to

23· ·the investigative committee; is that correct?

24· · · · · A· · I believe I did.· Yes.
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·1· · · · · Q· · Are those the same document as the partial

·2· ·exhibit a, you know, direct copy of the more complete

·3· ·exhibit, it's just missing some of the pages?

·4· · · · · A· · I would have to look.· I am not sure exactly

·5· ·what the distinction is between those two documents.

·6· ·They appear fairly similar to me.

·7· · · · · Q· · And my next question would be for that

·8· ·partial document, would it be your understanding that

·9· ·that shows part of the revised 2018 guidance for a

10· ·Kenalog injection?

11· · · · · A· · I'm trying to see if I can answer that here.

12· · · · · Q· · Certainly.· Take your time reviewing.

13· · · · · A· · So what I'm seeing under Exhibit 10 is a

14· ·partial copy of the manufacturer's information regarding

15· ·Kenalog, and under Exhibit 11 -- so Exhibit 10 is a

16· ·larger in size and so it's a little easier on my eyes,

17· ·and so Exhibit 11 is a smaller but essentially similar

18· ·document, but it is not -- it is not complete in terms of

19· ·every page.· That's what I'm seeing.

20· · · · · Q· · All right.· And just to clarify and come back

21· ·to my question, is it your understanding that that IC

22· ·Exhibit 10 is documentation that was revised in 2018

23· ·similar to the IC's Exhibit 10?

24· · · · · A· · I cannot testify as to when this was revised.
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·1· ·I can testify that the date listed is 2018.

·2· · · · · Q· · Okay.· Thank you, Doctor.· And do you recall

·3· ·when you pulled this FDA guidance?

·4· · · · · A· · Yeah, somewhere I wrote it down.· So I

·5· ·accessed the information on July 21st, 2018.

·6· · · · · Q· · Thank you.· And I'd like to draw your

·7· ·attention to it was Respondent's Exhibit Number 11.

·8· ·Specifically, it is Bates stamp BMS underscore (2011)

·9· ·underscore 000017.

10· · · · · A· · I think we have that one.

11· · · · · Q· · Perfect.· And it should have that Bates stamp

12· ·at the bottom of BMS underscore (2011) 00001.

13· · · · · A· · I do have that.· Yes.

14· · · · · Q· · All right.· And, Doctor, under the header

15· ·"Dosage, Systematic," could you please read the first

16· ·sentence of the paragraph that appears directly after the

17· ·words "dosage systematic" on that page?· Just the first

18· ·sentence.

19· · · · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· It's going to be

20· ·page 17.

21· · · · · · · ·THE WITNESS:· Seventeen.· Okay.· Yes, I can.

22· ·"The suggested initial dose is 60 milligrams injected

23· ·deeply into the gluteal muscle."

24· · · · · Q· · (BY MS. BUYS:)· All right.· And just for the
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·1· ·record as well, Doctor, this was the FDA guidance that

·2· ·was available in 2016, revised in 2011.· The date of that

·3· ·is on the back on Bates stamp page 20 of that exhibit.

·4· ·Based on that first sentence -- actually, strike that.

·5· ·Have you ever seen this document before, Dr. Hall?

·6· · · · · A· · I have not seen this particular version, but

·7· ·my initial thought is it looks very similar to the

·8· ·document in the exhibits from the State Medical Board.

·9· · · · · Q· · Gotcha.· And based upon this document, which

10· ·is I'll represent to you the FDA guidance that was

11· ·revised in 2011 for a Kenalog 40-milligram injection --

12· ·make sure I have it correctly.· The title is "Kenalog 40

13· ·Injection."· In 2016, Doctor, did the FDA approve the use

14· ·of a Kenalog injection by administering it deeply into

15· ·the gluteal muscle?

16· · · · · A· · Yes.

17· · · · · Q· · And, Doctor, I'd also like to draw your

18· ·attention on that same exhibit, but it is on page 14.· So

19· ·it's Bates stamp BMS underscore (2011) 000014.· Do you

20· ·have that in front of you?

21· · · · · A· · I do.

22· · · · · Q· · All right, Doctor.· And do you see that there

23· ·is a second paragraph on that page?

24· · · · · A· · I do.

http://www.litigationservices.com


Page 145
·1· · · · · Q· · All right.· And at the top of that second

·2· ·paragraph, does it state quote, "The efficacy and safety

·3· ·of corticosteroids in the pediatric population are based

·4· ·on the well-established course of effect of

·5· ·corticosteroids which is similar in pediatric and adult

·6· ·populations"?

·7· · · · · A· · Yes, I see that.

·8· · · · · Q· · All right.· And I read that correctly;

·9· ·correct?

10· · · · · A· · Yes.

11· · · · · Q· · All right, Doctor.· And based on that FDA

12· ·guidance, in 2016, did the FDA approve of the use of

13· ·Kenalog injections in pediatric patients?

14· · · · · A· · Yes.

15· · · · · Q· · All right.· And based on your review of this,

16· ·Doctor, in 2016, did the FDA approve of the use of

17· ·Kenalog injections for a respiratory illness?

18· · · · · A· · Yes.· Yes.· I believe that is listed here.

19· · · · · Q· · All right.· And you previously testified

20· ·regarding the FDA guidance on the location of a Kenalog

21· ·injection is gluteal muscle.· Is that correct?

22· · · · · A· · Yes.

23· · · · · Q· · All right.· Which is the exact location this

24· ·injection was given.· Is that correct?
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·1· · · · · A· · That is the location listed on the medical

·2· ·record.· Yes.

·3· · · · · Q· · Okay.· And does the standard of care require

·4· ·that a doctor ignore an approved process by the FDA on

·5· ·where an injection should be administered?

·6· · · · · A· · There are different sites of administration

·7· ·that can be utilized, and I would reference one of the

·8· ·other exhibits described some other locations that

·9· ·Kenalog may be administered, and especially in the

10· ·pediatric population, but administering it into the

11· ·gluteal area is probably the most common place that these

12· ·medications are administered.

13· · · · · Q· · So would it be the standard of care for a

14· ·reasonable physician to administer this type of Kenalog

15· ·injection into the gluteal muscle?

16· · · · · A· · Yes.

17· · · · · Q· · Okay.· And, Doctor, what is the percentage of

18· ·people who get a cutaneous or subcutaneous atrophy from a

19· ·single steroid injection?

20· · · · · A· · I would estimate it's very low.

21· · · · · Q· · And, Dr. Hall, I can't quite put my hands on

22· ·it, but can you please tell me the Nevada case,

23· ·regulation or statute that says that standard of care

24· ·requires that consent for a Kenalog injection be written?
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·1· · · · · A· · I could not cite that.

·2· · · · · Q· · And I believe you had testified as to your

·3· ·opinions regarding consent in this matter.· Do you recall

·4· ·that?

·5· · · · · A· · I do.

·6· · · · · Q· · In your experience, Doctor, do patients

·7· ·sometimes forget every single side effect or risk of a

·8· ·treatment that you've gone through with them?

·9· · · · · A· · Patients' recollections can be incomplete.

10· · · · · Q· · And in your experience, is it possible that,

11· ·you know, a patient could go and understand the risks and

12· ·benefits and alternatives to treatment at the time you

13· ·provide them care and then, you know, approximately five

14· ·or so years later, they can't recall specifically what

15· ·was discussed?

16· · · · · A· · I think that yes, that can happen.

17· · · · · Q· · And I believe there was also testimony that

18· ·this divot is on the left buttock of Patient A.· Is that

19· ·correct?

20· · · · · A· · Yes.

21· · · · · Q· · And you had testified that you reviewed

22· ·photographs which I believe it was the IC Exhibit Number

23· ·6?

24· · · · · A· · Yes.
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·1· · · · · Q· · Is that correct?

·2· · · · · A· · That is correct.

·3· · · · · Q· · And your understanding is that it shows a

·4· ·divot on the left buttock?

·5· · · · · A· · Yes.

·6· · · · · Q· · Okay.· And then going back to Respondent's

·7· ·Exhibit Number 13, if I can pull that in front of you,

·8· ·it's the Medication Administration Details.

·9· · · · · A· · Yes.· Okay.· I've got that as number 12.

10· · · · · Q· · Yeah, I think the numbering was off, so just

11· ·to clarify for the record, do you have the document in

12· ·front of you?· It's Bates stamped med admin details --

13· · · · · A· · Yes.

14· · · · · Q· · -- 001?

15· · · · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· That's going to be

16· ·Respondent's Exhibit 12.

17· · · · · Q· · (BY MS. BUYS:)· Okay.· Thank you for

18· ·clarifying.

19· · · · · · · ·Doctor, do you see where it lists a site

20· ·where a Kenalog injection was administered for the

21· ·Patient A?

22· · · · · A· · I do.

23· · · · · Q· · And where is the site documented?

24· · · · · A· · It's documented as the right gluteal region.
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·1· · · · · Q· · All right.· And in your experience, Doctor,

·2· ·if an injection is given on the right gluteal muscle

·3· ·intramuscularly, can that lead to a divot on the left

·4· ·buttock?

·5· · · · · A· · No, I would not expect that.

·6· · · · · Q· · All right.· How quickly after a steroid

·7· ·injection would you expect a divot like this to occur in

·8· ·a patient?

·9· · · · · A· · It takes some time.· I would generally agree

10· ·with the description from Ms. DelGrosso.· The atrophy

11· ·occurs -- you wouldn't necessarily see initially, and it

12· ·would take a little time to develop, and I would estimate

13· ·weeks to months for it to fully mature.

14· · · · · Q· · Can you estimate more specifically the time

15· ·that you would believe it would mature?

16· · · · · A· · I would say in my experience, one to two

17· ·months.

18· · · · · Q· · Okay.· And so just to clarify as well, when

19· ·you mentioned the word "atrophy," are you referring to

20· ·muscle atrophy or subcutaneous atrophy?

21· · · · · A· · Well, I've not seen medical evidence that

22· ·makes a distinction there.· We generally feel the atrophy

23· ·is more related to the subcutaneous tissue rather than

24· ·the muscle, but I've not seen evidence to help us answer
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·1· ·that question as to which part of the body atrophies

·2· ·more.

·3· · · · · Q· · All right.· So to clarify, your opinions in

·4· ·this case do not draw a distinction between a muscle

·5· ·atrophy or a subcutaneous atrophy?

·6· · · · · A· · Right.· I don't think I can tell you which

·7· ·one it was.· Yes.

·8· · · · · Q· · Okay.· And, Doctor, are there occurrences

·9· ·where a patient can have spontaneous lipodystrophy or a

10· ·subcutaneous dystrophy?

11· · · · · A· · I've never seen it.

12· · · · · Q· · And my question is a little bit different.

13· ·Not necessarily if you've ever seen it, but are you aware

14· ·if there are any occurrences of spontaneous lipodystrophy

15· ·or subcutaneous dystrophy?

16· · · · · A· · I'm unaware of spontaneous atrophy.

17· · · · · Q· · All right.· And to clarify, that's

18· ·spontaneous lipodystrophy or subcutaneous atrophy;

19· ·correct?

20· · · · · A· · That is correct.

21· · · · · Q· · All right.· And would it be possible that

22· ·subcutaneous atrophy could occur as a result of trauma?

23· · · · · A· · It would be possible.

24· · · · · Q· · All right.· And would that trauma include a
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·1· ·patient falling?

·2· · · · · A· · It could.

·3· · · · · Q· · All right.· And I believe you had also

·4· ·testified regarding your criticisms as to the consent

·5· ·documentation.· Do you remember that testimony?

·6· · · · · A· · Yes.

·7· · · · · Q· · And if you recall correctly, your criticism

·8· ·was that Dr. Nguyen only documented that the patient

·9· ·verbalized and agreed with the treatment plan and that it

10· ·was your understanding that that was referring to Patient

11· ·A as opposed to the patient's proxy or parent.· Is that

12· ·right?

13· · · · · A· · That is correct.

14· · · · · Q· · Okay.· Is it common for a physician to refer

15· ·to a pediatric patient just as patient mean that to

16· ·encompass the patient's proxy like a patient?

17· · · · · A· · I would say no, I would not say that's

18· ·common.

19· · · · · Q· · All right.· And what do you base that opinion

20· ·on?

21· · · · · A· · My medical experience.· Normally, the medical

22· ·record will draw a distinction between a pediatric

23· ·patient and the adult parents.

24· · · · · Q· · All right.· And in your review of the medical
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·1· ·record in this case, did you see a reference to any of

·2· ·the patient's parents by name?

·3· · · · · A· · In looking at Exhibit 5, I'll go back and

·4· ·look when I referenced it.· I do not see a direct

·5· ·reference to the parents in the medical record I was

·6· ·provided.

·7· · · · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· Are you looking at

·8· ·Board's Exhibit 5?

·9· · · · · · · ·THE WITNESS:· I am.· Yes.

10· · · · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· Okay.· Maybe you

11· ·want to take a moment to read through that before you --

12· · · · · · · ·THE WITNESS:· Unless I'm missing something, I

13· ·don't see a discussion about the parents.

14· · · · · Q· · (BY MS. BUYS:)· All right.· And I'll go

15· ·clarify, Doctor.· You have the Board's Exhibit 5 in front

16· ·of you.· Is that correct?

17· · · · · A· · That is correct.

18· · · · · Q· · All right.· On that first page under history

19· ·of present illness slash review of symptoms, do you see a

20· ·paragraph towards the bottom?

21· · · · · A· · Yeah, I do.· And I see at the top of that,

22· ·there is a description:· "Toddler here with her parents."

23· · · · · Q· · Okay.· And so there is reference to the

24· ·patient's parents being there as part --
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·1· · · · · A· · Yes.

·2· · · · · Q· · -- of the visit; is that correct?

·3· · · · · A· · That is correct.

·4· · · · · Q· · All right.· And then I also wanted to draw

·5· ·your attention, Doctor, to Respondent's exhibit.· We'll

·6· ·pull this one, and it is going to be Respondent's Exhibit

·7· ·Number 5 that was admitted.· And at the bottom, Bates

·8· ·stamp HCP 007.· Do you see that?

·9· · · · · A· · Yes, I do.

10· · · · · Q· · And is it your understanding, Doctor, that

11· ·the medical insurance and driver's license that are

12· ·included as part of Patient's A record are her parents'?

13· · · · · A· · Yes.

14· · · · · Q· · Okay.· And so your criticism of Dr. Nguyen

15· ·regarding consent is that it appeared to you that it was

16· ·documented that it was the two-year-old giving the

17· ·consent; is that correct?

18· · · · · A· · That is correct.

19· · · · · Q· · All right.· But there is reference that the

20· ·patient's parents were there as the patient's proxy;

21· ·correct?

22· · · · · A· · That is correct.

23· · · · · Q· · Okay.· And, Doctor, in your experience in

24· ·treating a pediatric patient with croup, have you ever
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·1· ·done so in an urgent care setting?

·2· · · · · A· · I have not worked in an urgent care, but we

·3· ·see urgent acute appointments in our office.

·4· · · · · Q· · Gotcha.· And was that a private office that

·5· ·you sort of ran as the solo practitioner?

·6· · · · · A· · So I have worked in a couple different

·7· ·practice settings, but all of my practice settings have

·8· ·involved more than one provider.

·9· · · · · Q· · And when you're treating a pediatric patient

10· ·with possible croup, do you conduct a literature search

11· ·every time that you see that type of patient to make sure

12· ·you're adhering to the standard of care?

13· · · · · A· · I don't search literature with every patient,

14· ·no.

15· · · · · Q· · All right.· And would you agree that when

16· ·completing a timely, accurate and complete medical record

17· ·that it's appropriate for a doctor to finish signing his

18· ·note after he reviews it?

19· · · · · A· · That is appropriate.· Yes.

20· · · · · Q· · Okay.· And do you sign your, I guess,

21· ·narrative or progress note immediately after you see a

22· ·patient?

23· · · · · A· · Not always.

24· · · · · Q· · Is it reasonable for a physician to wait
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·1· ·until the end of the day to finish signing and

·2· ·documenting his note?

·3· · · · · A· · Yes, it is.

·4· · · · · Q· · And when you had reviewed this document, I

·5· ·guess this case originally, you did not have the

·6· ·documentation that was the Respondent's Exhibit Number

·7· ·12; correct?

·8· · · · · A· · That is correct.

·9· · · · · Q· · Okay.· And so for the record, the prior

10· ·criticisms regarding failure to document the lot number,

11· ·failure to document expiration date, has that been

12· ·satisfied based upon the production of this document?

13· · · · · A· · Yes, it has.

14· · · · · Q· · Okay.· And when you were testifying regarding

15· ·the standard of care in providing a Kenalog injection in

16· ·a patient with respiratory illness, I believe you had

17· ·testified that your criticism was that it was redundant

18· ·to the oral medication.· Is that correct?

19· · · · · A· · That is correct.

20· · · · · Q· · Okay.· And is it your opinion that a

21· ·reasonable provider who had been told that a patient

22· ·previously did not get better with oral steroids alone

23· ·would want to go and move towards considering an

24· ·injection of a steroid?
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·1· · · · · A· · Can you ask that question again?· I didn't

·2· ·quite understand.

·3· · · · · Q· · Certainly.· You know, and I'll strike that

·4· ·and rephrase.· Could you please go ahead and pull up, I

·5· ·believe it was the IC's Exhibit 8.· I believe it was

·6· ·titled, "Acute Management of Croup in the Emergency

·7· ·Department."

·8· · · · · A· · Yeah.

·9· · · · · Q· · Okay.· Perfect.· This is one of the documents

10· ·you testified was the basis for your opinions; correct?

11· · · · · A· · That is correct.

12· · · · · Q· · All right.· In the abstract, there appears to

13· ·be a statement towards the bottom and it says quote,

14· ·"Despite the evidence supporting the use of steroids as

15· ·the cornerstone of croup treatment, there is significant

16· ·practice variation among physicians treating croup in the

17· ·emergency department."· Did I read that correctly?

18· · · · · A· · Yes.

19· · · · · Q· · Based upon that sentence in this article that

20· ·you relied upon, is there a significant practice

21· ·variation among physicians on treating croup?

22· · · · · A· · So this author stated that there was.

23· · · · · Q· · And this was one of the articles that you

24· ·relied upon --
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·1· · · · · A· · Yes.

·2· · · · · Q· · -- in reviewing this case?

·3· · · · · A· · Yes.

·4· · · · · Q· · Okay.· Gotcha.· And so if a patient had

·5· ·respiratory illness, you know, possible croup and a

·6· ·physician had been told that oral steroids alone had

·7· ·previously not helped worsening symptoms, would it be

·8· ·reasonable for a physician to consider an injection of a

·9· ·steroid?

10· · · · · A· · It would.

11· · · · · Q· · Okay.· And, Doctor, I believe you had

12· ·testified as well that you had not previously treated

13· ·patients in an urgent care setting.· Is that correct?

14· · · · · A· · I generally don't work in the urgent care.  I

15· ·have done some urgent care work, but it's been -- that

16· ·was many, many years ago.· So not recently, I've not

17· ·treated patients in an urgent care.

18· · · · · Q· · In your practice now, do you primarily focus

19· ·on sports medicine?

20· · · · · A· · So I'm about 50/50, so I do general family

21· ·medicine about 50 percent and about, I would say, acute

22· ·musculoskeletal injuries about 50 percent.

23· · · · · Q· · And when you refer to acute musculoskeletal

24· ·injury, are you referring to arthritis or more orthopedic
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·1· ·injuries?

·2· · · · · A· · Typically, yes.

·3· · · · · Q· · Okay.· Have you ever treated a patient that

·4· ·has developed a divot as a result of a steroid injection?

·5· · · · · A· · Yes.

·6· · · · · Q· · How many patients have you seen treated with

·7· ·that?

·8· · · · · A· · It's pretty rare.· I think I mentioned it

·9· ·previously, I've encountered it four times.· It's

10· ·something around that.

11· · · · · Q· · And when you have treated a patient and

12· ·recommended administration of a steroid injection, I

13· ·believe you had also testified that you provide a written

14· ·document as well as a verbal consent.· Is that correct?

15· · · · · A· · That is correct.

16· · · · · Q· · Is that a pre-printed form that you provide

17· ·your patients or is that -- Do you type a new written to

18· ·form out every time?

19· · · · · A· · The way I currently do it, I have a macro

20· ·that has standard language and includes some relevant

21· ·information from the current situation, but you could

22· ·roughly consider it a pre-printed form.

23· · · · · Q· · All right.· How about in 2016?

24· · · · · A· · Yeah, we did the same approach at that point.
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·1· ·Yes.

·2· · · · · Q· · Okay.· And when you're referring to

·3· ·injections, that includes steroid injections as well as

·4· ·vaccinations; is that correct?

·5· · · · · A· · So it would include when we're administering

·6· ·a medication.· Vaccine, I've seen different practices use

·7· ·different styles, and I'm trying to think back on 2016

·8· ·for vaccines.· I don't know that we asked for written

·9· ·consent for a vaccine.

10· · · · · Q· · All right.· And when you testified earlier, I

11· ·believe you had stated that either verbal or written

12· ·consent is appropriate.· Did I recall that correctly?

13· · · · · A· · Yes, that is correct.

14· · · · · Q· · All right.· And in this case, in your review

15· ·of the records, is there a documentation referencing that

16· ·the patient understood and verbalized the treatment plan?

17· · · · · A· · So according to the medical record I

18· ·reviewed, it states the patient agrees with treatment

19· ·plan and verbalizes understanding.· Yes.

20· · · · · Q· · All right.· And for purposes of my question,

21· ·so we're on the same page, if patient is referring to the

22· ·patient's proxy or the parent, would that be

23· ·documentation of a consent discussion that was held prior

24· ·to, you know, treatment?
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·1· · · · · A· · I think that would be a fairly weak

·2· ·description of consent for a Kenalog injection.

·3· · · · · Q· · My question is a little bit different.· Is

·4· ·that documentation of consent?

·5· · · · · A· · That is documentation of consent.

·6· · · · · Q· · Okay.· Thank you, Doctor.· And looking back,

·7· ·I believe you had also stated that there was a subtle

·8· ·difference in treatment between, I think you said, oral

·9· ·and Kenalog injections.· Is that correct?

10· · · · · A· · Yes.

11· · · · · Q· · Okay.· Could you explain further what you

12· ·mean by "subtle difference"?

13· · · · · A· · Well, it's primarily a difference in the

14· ·route of administration.· So administering oral

15· ·corticosteroids or intramuscular corticosteroids, both

16· ·are very reasonable treatment approaches, and the

17· ·distinction being the route of administration, and

18· ·they're considered roughly equivalent in the context of

19· ·providing care in the acute setting.

20· · · · · Q· · And I believe we had also sort of discussed a

21· ·question as to the depth of the injection that was

22· ·provided in this case.· Do you remember testifying that

23· ·there was a question regarding the depth of the

24· ·injection?

http://www.litigationservices.com


Page 161
·1· · · · · A· · Yes.

·2· · · · · Q· · All right.· Can you state to a reasonable

·3· ·degree of medical probability what the depth of the

·4· ·injection was on the right gluteal muscle?

·5· · · · · A· · I cannot.

·6· · · · · · · ·MS. BRADLEY:· I'm going to object because

·7· ·that's not the standard that the Board uses.· I mean, the

·8· ·burden of proof in this case is a preponderance of the

·9· ·evidence which is not reasonable degree of medical

10· ·certainty.

11· · · · · Q· · (BY MS. BUYS:)· Well, I'll go and use the

12· ·Board's phrasing if that makes it easier.

13· · · · · · · ·Doctor, can you state by a preponderance of

14· ·the evidence the depth of the injection that was

15· ·administered in the right gluteal muscle?

16· · · · · A· · There is no indication in the medical record

17· ·as to the depth of the injection.

18· · · · · Q· · And since you haven't administered -- sorry.

19· ·Since you have not seen the patient and you weren't

20· ·present during the administration, can you testify to

21· ·that?

22· · · · · A· · I cannot testify to the depth of the

23· ·injection.

24· · · · · Q· · Okay.· And it appears going back through that
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·1· ·the patient in this case has received potentially

·2· ·additional injections.· Is that your understanding?

·3· · · · · A· · Yes, during Ms. DelGrosso's testimony, she

·4· ·mentioned that there had been a second injection

·5· ·provided.

·6· · · · · Q· · All right.· And do you know the date of that

·7· ·second injection that was provided?

·8· · · · · A· · She estimated fairly recently, but I couldn't

·9· ·give you a date.

10· · · · · Q· · You haven't reviewed any medical records

11· ·regarding that injection, right?

12· · · · · A· · I have not.

13· · · · · Q· · All right.· Us neither, Doctor.· And another

14· ·question I had regarding documentation.· Do you document

15· ·the depth of an injection of a steroid in your notes?

16· · · · · A· · So we do.· We document it by the length of

17· ·the needle that we use.

18· · · · · Q· · All right.· And so where is that portion

19· ·documented?· Is it in the narrative or is it an

20· ·additional shot record?

21· · · · · A· · So in my medical record, we have a procedure

22· ·note, and it would be documented as part of your

23· ·procedure note.

24· · · · · Q· · Is that a narrative where you can type in or
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·1· ·is that a checkmark box?

·2· · · · · A· · So the way I document it, it's narrated.

·3· · · · · Q· · Okay.· And, Doctor, do you have medical

·4· ·assistants in your practice that assist you in providing

·5· ·patient care?

·6· · · · · A· · Yes, I do.

·7· · · · · Q· · All right.· And is it reasonable for a

·8· ·physician to rely upon a medical assistant to administer

·9· ·a steroid injection?

10· · · · · A· · Yes.

11· · · · · Q· · Is it reasonable for a physician to rely upon

12· ·a medical assistant to document the administration of a

13· ·steroid injection?

14· · · · · A· · Yes.

15· · · · · Q· · Is it reasonable for a physician to rely upon

16· ·a medical assistant to document the lot number,

17· ·expiration and details from the vial?

18· · · · · A· · Yes, it is.

19· · · · · · · ·MS. BUYS:· Okay.· I believe I'm going to just

20· ·review my notes right now.· I believe that's all I have

21· ·for you, Doctor, at this time.· Thank you.

22· · · · · · · ·THE WITNESS:· Thank you.

23· · · · · · · ·MS. BRADLEY:· So for the record, I do have a

24· ·couple redirect questions, but it is 12:25.
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·1· · · · · · · ·THE WITNESS:· How long do you need?

·2· · · · · · · ·MS. BRADLEY:· I have just a few questions.

·3· · · · · · · ·THE WITNESS:· Do it.

·4

·5· · · · · · · · · · REDIRECT EXAMINATION

·6· ·BY MS. BRADLEY:

·7· · · · · Q· · All right.· So the first question in the

·8· ·medical records, whether it's the Board's or the

·9· ·Respondent's, did you see it documented that the oral

10· ·medication in this case was thrown up, was vomited?

11· · · · · A· · No.

12· · · · · Q· · And if parents or a patient asks you for

13· ·duplicate medication, is that something you would do just

14· ·because they ask?

15· · · · · A· · No.

16· · · · · Q· · Is it documented in this case that -- Did

17· ·Dr. Nguyen document that he was told that the patient

18· ·didn't get better before from a respiratory illness?

19· · · · · A· · Not that I saw in the medical record.

20· · · · · Q· · Okay.· And I think we talked about you talked

21· ·about it in cross, but I want to double-check.· On

22· ·Exhibit 12 for Respondent is the administration record

23· ·for the shot.· Right?

24· · · · · A· · Yes.
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·1· · · · · Q· · And does it say who injected that shot?

·2· · · · · A· · Yes.· Chanel Hampton.

·3· · · · · Q· · Is that reflected anywhere in the other

·4· ·medical record, that name?

·5· · · · · A· · I do not see it under Exhibit 5.· There was

·6· ·some narrative I was recently reviewing that it could be

·7· ·reflected on, but I did not see it on the other

·8· ·components of the medical report.

·9· · · · · Q· · And I think the other narrative you might be

10· ·referring to is Respondent's Exhibit 6 perhaps where

11· ·there's some notes regarding --

12· · · · · A· · Yes, yes, yes.· Yeah, so she is referenced or

13· ·her name is included in Exhibit 6.

14· · · · · Q· · Okay.· Would you consider that part of the

15· ·medical record?· I'm not quite sure what 6 is.

16· · · · · A· · I would consider it part of the medical

17· ·record.· To me, it represents a description of the work

18· ·flow regarding the task that Dr. Nguyen had ordered.· So

19· ·I would consider it.· Yes.

20· · · · · Q· · Okay.· And then I think you talked about

21· ·consent on cross, and we talked about the sentence on

22· ·Exhibit 5 that says:· "Patient agrees with treatment plan

23· ·and verbalized understanding."

24· · · · · A· · Yes.
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·1· · · · · Q· · Is that still sufficient though for informed

·2· ·consent in your view?

·3· · · · · A· · Yes.

·4· · · · · Q· · Why?

·5· · · · · A· · So the distinction --

·6· · · · · · · ·MS. BUYS:· I just wanted to lodge an

·7· ·objection that the question asked for what appeared to be

·8· ·a personal preference as opposed to reference to the

·9· ·standard of care issue which is a reasonable physician.

10· · · · · Q· · (BY MS. BRADLEY:)· Okay.· Would a reasonable

11· ·physician note only that the patient agrees with

12· ·treatment plan, verbalizes an understanding and that

13· ·constitutes informed consent?

14· · · · · A· · I would say no.· I would expect more

15· ·discussion about the risks and benefits and alternatives.

16· · · · · Q· · Okay.· Is informed consent the same as actual

17· ·consent?

18· · · · · A· · No.· That's one of the distinctions I would

19· ·draw is that there is consent, and then there's informed

20· ·consent which includes the elements that I just described

21· ·regarding the risks, the benefits and alternatives and

22· ·insuring a patient or their proxy recognizes those before

23· ·a treatment is administered.

24· · · · · Q· · So, in other words, you can say that

http://www.litigationservices.com


Page 167
·1· ·something is okay and that might be consent, but if you

·2· ·don't fully understand what you're saying okay to, that

·3· ·might not be informed consent?

·4· · · · · A· · That is right.

·5· · · · · Q· · Okay.· And I think you answered on cross

·6· ·about the patient's recollection or the mother's

·7· ·recollection might be incomplete.· Does that highlight

·8· ·for you the importance of complete documentation?

·9· · · · · A· · It does.

10· · · · · Q· · Because if we had better documentation in

11· ·this case, do you think we'd be here today?

12· · · · · A· · I do not.

13· · · · · Q· · And then earlier, you were talking about

14· ·spontaneous atrophy and perhaps an injury could have

15· ·caused it.· But what would be more likely than not that

16· ·would cause an injury that you see in Exhibit 6?

17· · · · · A· · The most likely explanation for what I see

18· ·pictured in Exhibit 6 is a Kenalog injection.· I'm not

19· ·sure it's --

20· · · · · Q· · Yeah, Exhibit 6.

21· · · · · A· · Exhibit 6 in the Board's is very consistent

22· ·with atrophy secondary to Kenalog injection.

23· · · · · Q· · Okay.· So there's other possibilities, but

24· ·given the fact that the patient had a Kenalog injection,
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·1· ·the parents are complaining about the Kenalog injection,

·2· ·filed the complaint and took the photo, you think it's

·3· ·most likely --

·4· · · · · A· · Yes, I do.

·5· · · · · Q· · -- it's related to that.· And what about the

·6· ·fact that this is shown on the left side and the shot

·7· ·administration says right side?

·8· · · · · A· · Yes.· So there's a conflict in the medical

·9· ·record regarding the site of administration.· I mean,

10· ·I've got the picture as evidence and I'm trying to

11· ·reconcile that with what we see on Exhibit 12 from the

12· ·Respondent, and there's a difference there.· So I can't

13· ·reconcile that other than this picture looked like the

14· ·kind of complication that would happen from a Kenalog

15· ·injection.

16· · · · · Q· · Okay.· And so it sounds like maybe then in

17· ·your mind, there's a question as to the accuracy of the

18· ·records --

19· · · · · A· · Yes, that is correct.

20· · · · · Q· · -- that we have?

21· · · · · · · ·MS. BUYS:· I would object that as it calls

22· ·for speculation.· The question is vague.· I apologize for

23· ·the late objection.

24· · · · · Q· · (BY MS. BRADLEY:)· Okay.· What does that
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·1· ·discrepancy mean to you with regards to the records in

·2· ·this case?

·3· · · · · A· · Well, when I went through -- and I will admit

·4· ·I've just recently been provided with Exhibit 12 -- I

·5· ·think the most likely explanation is the Kenalog

·6· ·injection was provided into the left, but that's what I

·7· ·think is most likely.

·8· · · · · Q· · And so then that would mean -- Does that mean

·9· ·the medical record is accurate?

10· · · · · A· · I am correct, it means the medical record is

11· ·inaccurate in regards to the location of the injection.

12· · · · · · · ·MS. BRADLEY:· Okay.· Thank you.· I have no

13· ·further questions for Dr. Hall at this time.

14· · · · · · · ·MS. BUYS:· I just do briefly because I know

15· ·the doctor has to leave, so if I may.

16

17· · · · · · · · · · ·RECROSS EXAMINATION

18· ·BY MS. BUYS:

19· · · · · Q· · Doctor, is it standard of care for a

20· ·physician to have to document every single side effect

21· ·from the a potential treatment in the medical record?

22· · · · · A· · So that is not generally what happens.· If

23· ·you look at the exhibits, you can see that there are a

24· ·number of side effects that can happen, but I do think it
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·1· ·is the responsibility of the physician to discuss common

·2· ·and serious side effects.

·3· · · · · Q· · And you've testified that this type of side

·4· ·effect is rare.· Is that correct?

·5· · · · · A· · Yes.

·6· · · · · Q· · All right.· And then to clarify my prior

·7· ·question, again, is it the standard of care for a

·8· ·physician to have to document in the record every single

·9· ·potential complication that can occur from administration

10· ·of a steroid injection?

11· · · · · A· · I do not think it is the standard of care to

12· ·document every single complication.

13· · · · · Q· · All right.· And, you know, we'll get into

14· ·this one later.· I know you have to leave, but if the

15· ·administration of the medication was on the right

16· ·buttock, could that have caused a divot on the left?

17· · · · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· That's been asked

18· ·and answered.

19· · · · · · · ·MS. BRADLEY:· That's been asked and answered.

20· · · · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· And normally, I

21· ·wouldn't cut you off for that, but you're already on

22· ·recross, which I've already given you leeway to do.

23· · · · · Q· · (BY MS. BUYS:)· Thank you.· And, Doctor, have

24· ·you ever reviewed another physician's notes regarding the
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·1· ·consent obtained for a Kenalog injection?

·2· · · · · A· · Yes, I have.

·3· · · · · Q· · Aside from this case, how many times have you

·4· ·reviewed it?

·5· · · · · A· · Once.· One other case.

·6· · · · · Q· · Was that for a physician who was in your same

·7· ·practice?

·8· · · · · A· · No, it was another peer review case.

·9· · · · · Q· · And that was in the State of Nevada?

10· · · · · A· · Yes.

11· · · · · Q· · All right.· Do you remember what year that

12· ·was?

13· · · · · A· · I would estimate 2015.

14· · · · · Q· · And you had also testified regarding

15· ·documentation and why you feel that documentation is

16· ·important.· What is the purpose of documentation for an

17· ·urgent care physician treating a patient?

18· · · · · A· · Well, the purpose is there are several

19· ·purposes.· Number one:· To provide an accurate

20· ·description of what took place.· There are purposes of

21· ·consent and accurate documentations of the

22· ·recommendations made, so there are a number of purposes

23· ·that are relevant to medical documentation regardless of

24· ·the setting.
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·1· · · · · Q· · And my question was a little bit different

·2· ·which was:· Why do you need to document what took place?

·3· ·What's the purpose of that?

·4· · · · · A· · Well, so there are -- why you would document

·5· ·what took place includes providing an accurate

·6· ·description of the patient's complaints, a physical exam

·7· ·and treatment recommendations along with an assessment or

·8· ·a diagnosis.· It's also going to include other elements

·9· ·like follow-up if there are recalls from a pharmacy or

10· ·questions that arise later as to what took place during

11· ·the medical visit.

12· · · · · Q· · And so just to clarify your answer a little

13· ·bit, Doctor, is it your testimony that the reason why you

14· ·document is in case there is a recall of medication as

15· ·well as to help refresh recollection of the physician?

16· · · · · A· · Those are some of the reasons, yes.

17· · · · · Q· · What are the other reasons?

18· · · · · A· · Well, there would be a number, which would

19· ·include an accurate description of the situation

20· ·including the patient's history and examination along

21· ·with medical decision making so that a clear thought

22· ·process could be understood as to why a physician or

23· ·provider recommended a certain treatment.

24· · · · · Q· · Why is it important to document the medical
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·1· ·history accurately?· What is the purpose of that?

·2· · · · · A· · Because it forms the foundation for medical

·3· ·decision making.

·4· · · · · Q· · Medical decision making at the time they

·5· ·provide care or --

·6· · · · · A· · Yes.

·7· · · · · Q· · -- in the future?

·8· · · · · A· · Well, it would be relevant in both

·9· ·situations.

10· · · · · Q· · Documentation after the fact would be

11· ·relevant to care being provided at the time that the

12· ·physician sees the patient.· Is that your testimony?

13· · · · · A· · That is my testimony because it lets the

14· ·reader know what the physician was hearing and how they

15· ·were making their decisions.· Yes.

16· · · · · · · ·MS. BUYS:· Thank you, Doctor.· That's all I

17· ·have.

18· · · · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· Any follow-up on

19· ·that?

20· · · · · · · ·MS. BRADLEY:· If I could ask one.

21

22· · · · · · · · · FURTHER REDIRECT EXAMINATION

23· ·BY MS. BRADLEY:

24· · · · · Q· · Dr. Hall, and I think I asked you this, but
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·1· ·because it came up again.· If you look at page --

·2· ·Exhibit 5, page 14:· "Patient agrees with treatment plan

·3· ·and verbalizes understanding."· Could you amend that so

·4· ·that you think it meets the standard of care for

·5· ·documenting informed consent?· What would you add?

·6· · · · · A· · Yeah.· So what I would add would be discuss

·7· ·the risks and benefits of a Kenalog injection which can

·8· ·include serious complications, and the patient's parents

·9· ·agreed with this treatment plan to proceed.

10· · · · · Q· · Okay.· So it sounds like the key things you

11· ·think are missing is this idea that risks and benefits

12· ·were discussed because it doesn't say that in the note.

13· · · · · A· · That's right.

14· · · · · · · ·MS. BRADLEY:· Okay.· I have no further

15· ·questions.· Thank you.· And just for the record, I am

16· ·going to excuse Dr. Hall for today.· He is available

17· ·tomorrow afternoon if we need him to come back.

18· · · · · · · ·THE WITNESS:· Yes.

19· · · · · · · ·MS. BRADLEY:· I, of course, am ever

20· ·optimistic that we won't, but he does have patients to

21· ·see this afternoon.

22· · · · · · · ·MS. BUYS:· Understood.· Thank you so much for

23· ·your time, Doctor.

24· · · · · · · ·THE WITNESS:· Thank you.
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·1· · · · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· So how long would

·2· ·you all like to break for what would essentially be a

·3· ·lunch?

·4· · · · · · · ·MS. BUYS:· Would 45 minutes or an hour

·5· ·suffice?

·6· · · · · · · ·MS. BRADLEY:· That works for me.

·7· · · · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· Which do you

·8· ·prefer:· 45 minutes or an hour?

·9· · · · · · · ·MS. BUYS:· I'm fine with an hour.· I didn't

10· ·know if you had any preference for anything.

11· · · · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· Do you have a

12· ·preference?

13· · · · · · · ·MS. BRADLEY:· I don't have a preference.

14· · · · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· Ms. Buys, if you

15· ·want an hour, you get an hour.

16· · · · · · · ·MS. BUYS:· If we come back earlier, we'll all

17· ·be here.

18· · · · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· So it's 12:40, so

19· ·we'll back by -- well, I expect people will be back by a

20· ·little bit before so we can start right at 1:40.

21· · · · · · · · · · · · · ·(Recess.)

22· · · · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· We're back on the

23· ·record in Case Number 21-38084-1 in the matter of charges

24· ·and complaint against Hai Thanh Nguyen, M.D.· I note that
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·1· ·Dr. Nguyen is present in the Las Vegas Medical Board

·2· ·Office with his attorney, Ms. Buys.· He is under oath.

·3· ·There are two new witnesses for Dr. Nguyen who have

·4· ·appeared.

·5· · · · · · · ·Ms. Buys, can you please introduce them and

·6· ·we'll have them sworn in.

·7· · · · · · · ·MS. BUYS:· Certainly.· Thank you very much,

·8· ·Madame Hearing Officer.· We have present Ms. Ellen

·9· ·Aliberti and Ms. Melissa Vogt, both of whom are

10· ·registered nurses.

11· · · · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· Can you please

12· ·spell those names for me, please?

13· · · · · · · ·MS. BUYS:· Certainly.· Ellen:· E-L-L-E-N.

14· ·Last name Aliberti:· A-L-I-B-E-R-T-I.· And Melissa:

15· ·M-E-L-I-S-S-A.· Vogt:· V, as in Victor, O-G, T as in Tom.

16· ·Excuse me.

17· · · · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· Okay.· Thank you.

18· ·If you could please raise your right hands.· Why don't

19· ·you go ahead and stand so we can observe some

20· ·formalities.

21· · · · · · · · ·(The witnesses were sworn.)

22· · · · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· Okay.· Thank you.

23· ·You may be seated.· And I'll note that the rule of

24· ·exclusion has not been invoked, and so they are allowed
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·1· ·to be present for the hearing.

·2· · · · · · · ·We left off with Dr. Hall, who finished his

·3· ·testimony on behalf of the Investigative Committee, so

·4· ·we're back to you.

·5· · · · · · · ·MS. BRADLEY:· And I would rest at this time.

·6· · · · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· Okay.· All right.

·7· ·So the IC rests.· So, Ms. Buys, it's your case.

·8· · · · · · · ·MS. BUYS:· Thank you very much.· And

·9· ·Respondent, Dr. Nguyen, would like to call Ms. Melissa

10· ·Vogt first to this matter.· And if we could have her go

11· ·to this chair over here.· I apologize.· I mispronounced

12· ·things.· Vogt just like voting.

13· · · · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· And so it's Ms.

14· ·B-O-U-G-H-T; correct?

15· · · · · · · ·MS. BUYS:· V-O-G-T.

16· · · · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· V-O-G-T.· Okay.

17· ·Got it.

18

19· · · · · · · · · · · DIRECT EXAMINATION

20· ·BY MS. BUYS:

21· · · · · Q· · Perfect.· And I apologize for

22· ·mispronunciation there.· I'm terrible with names.· All

23· ·right.· And, Ms. Vogt, you just raised your right hand

24· ·and swore to tell the truth.· Do you understand that that
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·1· ·is under the penalty of perjury?

·2· · · · · A· · I do.

·3· · · · · Q· · Perfect.· And please state and spell your

·4· ·name for the record just in case I mispronounced it.

·5· · · · · A· · My name is Melissa Vogt.· M-E-L-I-S-S-A.· My

·6· ·last name is V as in Victor, O, G as in good, T as in

·7· ·Tom.

·8· · · · · Q· · Thank you so much, Ms. Vogt.· And can you

·9· ·please tell us where you work?

10· · · · · A· · I'm a clinical educator at Intermountain

11· ·Healthcare.

12· · · · · Q· · And how long have you worked there?

13· · · · · A· · I've worked for this company for three years,

14· ·in the education department for one.

15· · · · · Q· · And you're a registered nurse; is that

16· ·correct?

17· · · · · A· · I am.

18· · · · · Q· · And as an employee of Intermountain

19· ·Healthcare, is it your understanding that HealthCare

20· ·Partners of Nevada had merged with Intermountain

21· ·Healthcare a few years ago?

22· · · · · A· · They were.· I was actually hired by when it

23· ·was HealthCare Partners, uh-huh, and then we've merged

24· ·with Intermountain Healthcare.
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·1· · · · · Q· · Got you.· And as an employee of Intermountain

·2· ·Healthcare, are you familiar with how electronic medical

·3· ·records are kept and accessed?

·4· · · · · A· · I am.

·5· · · · · Q· · All right.· And is it your understanding that

·6· ·Intermountain uses a third-party medical records

·7· ·retrieval to scan and help them respond to requests for

·8· ·medical records?

·9· · · · · A· · Medical records of the department, you mean?

10· ·Yeah.

11· · · · · Q· · Correct.

12· · · · · A· · Yes.

13· · · · · Q· · Okay.· And on Monday, May 23, 2022, did you

14· ·locate a medication administration details record for

15· ·what we're referring to as Patient A?

16· · · · · A· · I did.

17· · · · · · · ·MS. BUYS:· All right.· And I'd like to show

18· ·you what was marked as, I believe it is Respondent's

19· ·Exhibit 12.· And just for the record, Bates numbers on

20· ·that is med admin details 001 and 2.

21· · · · · · · ·If I may approach the witness, I'd like to

22· ·show her that record.

23· · · · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· Sure.

24· · · · · · · ·MS. BUYS:· Thank you.· Here you go.· I'll
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·1· ·just set this right here for you.

·2· · · · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· Is that other

·3· ·binder from the prior binder issue confusion?

·4· · · · · · · ·MS. BUYS:· I believe so, yes.

·5· · · · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· Can you just

·6· ·remove it, please?

·7· · · · · Q· · (BY MS. BUYS:)· Thank you so much, sir.

·8· · · · · · · ·And, Ms. Vogt, can you take a look at those

·9· ·two pages?

10· · · · · A· · I'm familiar with these.· I printed these.

11· · · · · Q· · That was going to be my question.· Are these

12· ·the pages that you printed?

13· · · · · A· · They are.

14· · · · · Q· · All right.· And did you make a true and

15· ·accurate copy of the record?

16· · · · · A· · I did.· This first one actually is the exact

17· ·copy from the medical record.· This one is just I zoomed

18· ·in so you could see the numbers better, but this is the

19· ·original.

20· · · · · · · ·MS. BRADLEY:· I don't know if it helps, but

21· ·we've already stipulated to the admission, and we're not

22· ·objecting to the fact that it's accurate, so I don't know

23· ·if that helps you at all, Ms. Buys.· We're also not

24· ·objecting to the fact that Ms. Vogt provided a
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·1· ·declaration explaining the delay in providing the report.

·2· ·So if you want to move on from those areas, we're glad,

·3· ·but it's up to you.

·4· · · · · Q· · (BY MS. BUYS:)· Certainly that definitely

·5· ·helps.· It will make it a whole lot shorter.

·6· · · · · · · ·I just wanted to confirm on the record, Ms.

·7· ·Vogt, did you alter or change any of the details of the

·8· ·record in any way before you printed it?

·9· · · · · A· · I did not.

10· · · · · Q· · Okay.· And if someone was asking for a

11· ·patient's medical record, how is it that this document

12· ·might not be included with the rest of the records?

13· · · · · A· · So I have a little knowledge of this because

14· ·it's happened before not to me but I've heard other

15· ·people talk about it.· I think the part of the medical

16· ·record that has office notes, labs and things like that

17· ·is separate from the medication administration record.

18· ·And I think when whoever provided the medical records

19· ·didn't include the medication administration record.

20· · · · · · · ·MS. BUYS:· Thank you so much for clarifying

21· ·that.· And that was the extent of my questions.· I just

22· ·wanted to verify that for the record.

23· · · · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· You just referred

24· ·to a document where she made a statement.· Has that been
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·1· ·marked and admitted into evidence?

·2· · · · · · · ·MS. BRADLEY:· It has been admitted, at least

·3· ·based on my records.

·4· · · · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· Oh, is that what

·5· ·we've marked as Respondent's Exhibit 13?

·6· · · · · · · ·MS. BRADLEY:· I think so.· It's an affidavit

·7· ·from Ms. Vogt or declaration, excuse me, for Ms. Vogt.

·8· · · · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· So that's a

·9· ·declaration that hasn't been -- well, it's been made

10· ·under penalty of perjury.· Did you just want to confirm

11· ·that with her?

12· · · · · · · ·MS. BRADLEY:· And I apologize.· I think

13· ·because my numbering is off, I thought we stipulated to

14· ·this one being admitted because in my mind, I did, so if

15· ·you have it as 13, we would stipulate that it can be

16· ·admitted.

17· · · · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· Okay.· I think

18· ·they've all been -- all of the Respondent's exhibits have

19· ·been admitted.

20· · · · · · · ·MS. BRADLEY:· Yeah.

21· · · · · Q· · (BY MS. BUYS:)· Perfect.· And just to clarify

22· ·for the record as well, if I may show Ms. Vogt the

23· ·declaration just so she could verify that is her

24· ·declaration.· I've made an extra copy.· Here we go.
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·1· · · · · · · ·And this was what had been disclosed as

·2· ·Respondent's Exhibit Number 13.· At the top, does it say

·3· ·"Declaration of Melissa Vogt"?

·4· · · · · A· · It does.

·5· · · · · Q· · All right.· And is this the declaration that

·6· ·you prepared regarding how you found the record?

·7· · · · · A· · It is.

·8· · · · · Q· · All right.· And that's your signature at the

·9· ·bottom; correct?

10· · · · · A· · That's my signature.

11· · · · · Q· · All right.· And the information contained in

12· ·that declaration, that is true and accurate; is that

13· ·correct?

14· · · · · A· · It is true and accurate.

15· · · · · · · ·MS. BUYS:· Thank you so much, Ms. Vogt.

16· ·Those are all of the questions.

17· · · · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· Thank you.

18· · · · · · · ·Ms. Bradley?

19· · · · · · · ·MS. BRADLEY:· Oh, I have no questions.· Thank

20· ·you.

21· · · · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· All right.· Thank

22· ·you, Ms. Vogt.· We appreciate your time.· We know that

23· ·was very short and hope that works out for you.

24· · · · · · · ·THE WITNESS:· That's okay.· Like to help.
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·1· · · · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· Thank you for your

·2· ·time.

·3· · · · · · · ·MS. BUYS:· And then just for the record, I'd

·4· ·request that Ms. Vogt be excused from the proceedings.

·5· · · · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· Thank you.· Ms.

·6· ·Vogt, that means you can leave right now.

·7· · · · · · · ·THE WITNESS:· Okay.

·8· · · · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· You can stay, but

·9· ·you're not subject to testify again if that's what you

10· ·choose to do.

11· · · · · · · ·THE WITNESS:· Okay.· Thank you.

12· · · · · · · ·MS. BUYS:· Thank you so much.· And then

13· ·Respondent would also like to go and call Ms. Ellen

14· ·Aliberti at this time.

15· · · · · · · ·THE WITNESS:· Thank you.

16

17· · · · · · · · · · · DIRECT EXAMINATION

18· ·BY MS. BUYS:

19· · · · · Q· · And Ms. Aliberti, do you understand that when

20· ·you raised your right hand, that you swore to tell the

21· ·truth in this proceeding?

22· · · · · A· · Yes.

23· · · · · Q· · Okay.· Will you please state and spell your

24· ·name for the record.
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·1· · · · · A· · Ellen:· E-L-L-E-N.· Last name Aliberti:

·2· ·A-L-I, B as in boy, E-R-T-I.

·3· · · · · Q· · Thank you very much, Ms. Aliberti.· Can you

·4· ·please tell us where you work?

·5· · · · · A· · Intermountain Healthcare.

·6· · · · · Q· · Perfect.· And what is your position there at

·7· ·Intermountain Healthcare?

·8· · · · · A· · I'm a clinical educator, registered nurse.

·9· · · · · Q· · Thank you.· And how long have you worked

10· ·there?

11· · · · · A· · Too long.· Thirteen -- this is my 13th year.

12· · · · · Q· · Thank you.· And, Ms. Aliberti, can you please

13· ·run us through your educational history.

14· · · · · A· · Me personally or the organization?

15· · · · · Q· · You personally.· Where did you go to nursing

16· ·school?

17· · · · · A· · Okay.· Sorry.· So I graduated from Mt. St.

18· ·Mary's College in Los Angeles, California in 1978.  I

19· ·have a Bachelor's of Science in nursing, and then I later

20· ·went back to school in 1993 and got a Master's in

21· ·gerontology, study of aging.

22· · · · · Q· · Thank you.

23· · · · · A· · Wait.· I'm a certified case manager, too.

24· · · · · Q· · Perfect.· And as an educational coordinator
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·1· ·with HealthCare Partners for Intermountain Health, are

·2· ·you familiar with the training that was provided to

·3· ·medical assistants at HealthCare Partners of Nevada in

·4· ·2016?

·5· · · · · A· · I absolutely am.· Since I've been there 13

·6· ·years, it's the only position I've held, and I've

·7· ·actually developed that department from scratch.

·8· · · · · · · ·MS. BRADLEY:· I'm going to object if this

·9· ·line of questioning is going to continue.· I don't know

10· ·what a medical assistant has to do with the allegations

11· ·against Dr. Nguyen.

12· · · · · · · ·MS. BUYS:· The allegations, at least in the

13· ·complaint initially, were regarding a medical assistant

14· ·assisting with the administration of this injection.

15· · · · · · · ·MS. BRADLEY:· Okay.· But, I mean, the

16· ·allegations are that Dr. Nguyen acted improperly.  I

17· ·guess I'm just not sure what this witness knows about the

18· ·incident that happened and why it's relevant.· That's

19· ·all.

20· · · · · · · ·MS. BUYS:· And in response, it's to explain

21· ·the training provided to the medical assistant, as it's

22· ·alleged that a medical assistant was involved in the care

23· ·and Dr. Nguyen supervised the medical assistant.

24· · · · · · · ·MS. BRADLEY:· Okay.· I'm looking at the
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·1· ·complaint, and I don't see medical assistant referenced,

·2· ·but I'll read through it again just to make sure I'm not

·3· ·missing something.· I see Respondent.· Okay.· "Respondent

·4· ·successfully injected the Kenalog into the buttocks after

·5· ·two unsuccessful attempts by the medical assistant."· So

·6· ·she's here to talk about the two unsuccessful attempts?

·7· · · · · · · ·MS. BUYS:· She's here to testify regarding

·8· ·the training provided to medical assistants to assist

·9· ·physicians on administering injections to patients.

10· · · · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· Is that applicable

11· ·to the medical assistant that is alleged to have acted in

12· ·this case?

13· · · · · · · ·MS. BUYS:· I'm sorry.· It seems to have

14· ·broken up a little bit.· What was the question?

15· · · · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· Is that applicable

16· ·to the medical assistant that was alleged to have acted

17· ·in the complaint in this case?

18· · · · · · · ·MS. BUYS:· Yes, back in 2016.

19· · · · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· Okay.· Well, let

20· ·me just give me a moment here because I see where you're

21· ·both going, and I just want to try to find an

22· ·intersection here.· Obviously, there's been different

23· ·testimony about there's the allegations of how the shot

24· ·occurred, and then there was the testimony about how the
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·1· ·shot occurred and who was there and who wasn't, who could

·2· ·be identified as being there, I guess.

·3· · · · · · · ·So I'm just wondering if you could clarify

·4· ·for me, Ms. Bradley, if the IC is relying on the fact

·5· ·that a medical assistant may or may not have tried two

·6· ·injections before the actual injection was given.

·7· · · · · · · ·MS. BRADLEY:· No.· I mean, I realize that's

·8· ·contained in the complaint, but I don't know that, I

·9· ·mean, our concern is what Mr. -- I'm sorry -- Dr. Nguyen

10· ·did.

11· · · · · · · ·We're not concerned about a medical

12· ·assistant.· I think that's just in there for context

13· ·because the records show that there was an attempt and

14· ·then an injection was done by Dr. Nguyen.· So I don't

15· ·know that I care that there were two unsuccessful

16· ·attempts.· I guess if they want to talk about that.  I

17· ·just don't really see medical assistant as being relevant

18· ·to this case at all.

19· · · · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· So where is the

20· ·language that -- Ms. Buys, where is the language that

21· ·you're having concerns with within the complaint?

22· · · · · · · ·MS. BUYS:· Certainly.· And I believe it was

23· ·also originally back even the underlying response to the

24· ·letter of 8-3 where Dr. Nguyen had explained his
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·1· ·recollection of the incident as well as the medical

·2· ·assistant and also as to documentation of the shot record

·3· ·by a medical assistant which has been produced.

·4· · · · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· So with regard to

·5· ·the language on the complaint, I'll just note that on the

·6· ·first page, starting at line 23, it says:· "Respondent

·7· ·successfully injected Kenalog into Patient A's lateral

·8· ·buttocks after two unsuccessful attempts by Respondent's

·9· ·medical assistant."· There hasn't been any -- I don't

10· ·know that that -- Do you just want to strike that part of

11· ·the complaint or do you want to go down this road?

12· · · · · · · ·MS. BRADLEY:· Yeah.· I mean, I think we can

13· ·strike it.· I mean, just Respondent successfully injected

14· ·Kenalog into patient in the lateral buttocks is fine with

15· ·me, period, and we can strike that.

16· · · · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· Ms. Buys, what is

17· ·your --

18· · · · · · · ·MS. BUYS:· And, Ms. Aliberti, if we were also

19· ·going and striking that and we can stipulate that that's

20· ·no longer a concern of the Board's, she was also to

21· ·testify as to the training provided to medical assistants

22· ·as to documentation and the documentation --

23· · · · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· Okay.

24· · · · · · · ·MS. BRADLEY:· I guess our belief, the Board's
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·1· ·position is it doesn't -- we don't license medical

·2· ·assistants, and we don't charge them with allegations,

·3· ·and so anything that occurred in this case is

·4· ·Dr. Nyugen's responsibility.· So that's our position.

·5· ·He's responsible for what medical assistants do or don't

·6· ·do.· So, I mean, I don't know.· Was Ms. Aliberti there on

·7· ·that day on November 4, 2016?· So she doesn't have

·8· ·personal knowledge of what occurred on that day, it

·9· ·sounds like.

10· · · · · · · ·MS. BUYS:· She was employed at the time and

11· ·was going to testify as to the training provided to

12· ·medical assistants regarding documentation policies and

13· ·procedures.

14· · · · · · · ·MS. BRADLEY:· Okay.· I mean, I don't have a

15· ·huge objection.· I just don't see a reason to provide

16· ·testimony that I don't think is relevant.· But, I mean, I

17· ·guess, Madame Hearing Officer, whatever you prefer.

18· · · · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· Okay.· So let's

19· ·just go back to the issue of the two unsuccessful

20· ·attempts.· So I don't want to push you one way or the

21· ·other on that because I think you can also argue that it

22· ·showed, you know, potentially why the Respondent would

23· ·have ended up doing it and why there could have been some

24· ·tenderness because it shows that the Patient A was
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·1· ·potentially difficult to give an injection to.

·2· · · · · · · ·I don't think you -- If the IC and you want

·3· ·to agree to strike that language so that we don't -- no

·4· ·one has to prove it up, that's up to you guys.· With

·5· ·regard to the training, I don't know if that's something

·6· ·you just want to proffer.· I agree that Ms. Aliberti

·7· ·wasn't there.· I'm assuming that these people were

·8· ·properly trained in it.· I don't think that's an issue.

·9· · · · · · · ·MS. BRADLEY:· We're willing to stipulate that

10· ·the medical assistants were trained, you know.· That's

11· ·required by the NAC, that any task medical assistants are

12· ·delegated, that there has to be training, it has to be

13· ·included in their file.· We've never sent an allegation

14· ·letter to Dr. Nguyen alleging that his medical assistants

15· ·were not properly trained or that that documentation

16· ·wasn't there, so we're not concerned with the medical

17· ·assistants or their training.

18· · · · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· So why don't you

19· ·just go ahead and make a proffer so you can have your

20· ·record.

21· · · · · Q· · (BY MS. BUYS:)· Thank you.· And,

22· ·Ms. Aliberti, just to sort of clarify, what we're doing

23· ·back and forth was you had just testified that you were

24· ·there in 2016 as the educational coordinator and that you
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·1· ·had -- Is it true that you provided training to medical

·2· ·assistants and HealthCare Partners to verify that they

·3· ·were competent in assisting a physician to provide care?

·4· · · · · A· · Yes, it's true.

·5· · · · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· Ms. Buys, Ms.

·6· ·Buys, do you understand what I'm asking you to do when

·7· ·I'm asking you to make a proffer?

·8· · · · · · · ·MS. BUYS:· If you could clarify.

·9· · · · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· So what I'm asking

10· ·you to do is to stand up and summarize -- well, you don't

11· ·have to stand up, but to summarize what Ms. Aliberti

12· ·would be testifying to in lieu of going through all of

13· ·the questioning with her and then --

14· · · · · · · ·MS. BUYS:· Oh, certainly.

15· · · · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· -- if the IC is

16· ·willing to accept that, we can move this along.

17· · · · · · · ·MS. BUYS:· Certainly.· Ms. Aliberti was going

18· ·to testify that the medical assistants that assisted

19· ·Dr. Nguyen on November 4th, 2016, were appropriately and

20· ·adequately trained to assist physicians in providing an

21· ·injection.· They were also trained regarding

22· ·documentation procedures and assisting the physician in

23· ·documenting the medical care provided to the patient

24· ·including the medication administration.
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·1· · · · · · · ·She was also going to testify regarding the

·2· ·competencies that are required of the staff at HealthCare

·3· ·Partners of Nevada to insure that everyone has received

·4· ·in-service education and was competent to provide

·5· ·appropriate medical care and documentation to the

·6· ·patients.

·7· · · · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· Okay.

·8· ·Ms. Bradley, do you have --

·9· · · · · · · ·MS. BRADLEY:· I just ask a question.· You

10· ·said "everyone."· What do you mean?· Doctors and MA's or

11· ·who are you talking that is having that training?

12· · · · · · · ·MS. BUYS:· So it was medical assistants as

13· ·well as physicians could attend the education sessions.

14· · · · · · · ·MS. BRADLEY:· Okay.· Because I'm willing to

15· ·accept that, but that doesn't mean that I accept that

16· ·everything was done correctly in this case.· I believe

17· ·that they trained their people and they tell them to do

18· ·the right thing.· I have no problem with that.

19· · · · · · · ·MS. BUYS:· And as well, that a physician is

20· ·able to rely on a medical assistant regarding

21· ·documentation of medication administration.

22· · · · · · · ·MS. BRADLEY:· No.· I mean, the law doesn't

23· ·allow a physician to obfuscate his or her responsibility

24· ·and rely fully on an MA, but certainly, MA's are allowed
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·1· ·to assist them.· So I will agree with you they can be

·2· ·trained and assist.· But no, just because an MA is

·3· ·trained in documentation doesn't mean that the physician

·4· ·just gets to rely on that person and walk away.· So I'm

·5· ·not sure what you're trying to say.

·6· · · · · · · ·MS. BUYS:· So we were going to establish via

·7· ·Ms. Aliberti's testimony that the medical assistants do

·8· ·provide assistance with the documentation and that the

·9· ·physician reviews the documentation.

10· · · · · · · ·MS. BRADLEY:· Okay.· That's fine.· They can

11· ·assist with documentation.· I have no issue with that.

12· · · · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· And the last

13· ·proposition that she's suggested, can you repeat that,

14· ·Ms. Buys, that they do -- Well, maybe we can read it

15· ·back.· I don't want to misstate it.

16· · · · · · · ·MS. BUYS:· Certainly.

17· · · · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· So let me just

18· ·clarify.· So the issue of whether a doctor can rely on

19· ·their medical assistants' entry is really a legal

20· ·question, right, like I can't have someone come in and

21· ·tell me whether that's legally viable or not if that

22· ·defeats a physician's obligation.

23· · · · · · · ·To the extent that I think aside from that,

24· ·everything else that you've proffered, I think, is being
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·1· ·accepted.· So I don't think that you need to walk through

·2· ·all of that with your witness.· It's on the record as you

·3· ·stated it.· Is there anything you would like to clarify

·4· ·or add to that?

·5· · · · · · · ·MS. BUYS:· Yes.· And I believe the last

·6· ·statement was about that the medical assistants are

·7· ·trained regarding documentation and that a physician

·8· ·reviews that documentation after it is entered by a

·9· ·medical assistant.

10· · · · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· That's the one.

11· · · · · · · ·MS. BRADLEY:· Okay.· Well, they're trained to

12· ·do that.· I mean, I don't know that you can say as a

13· ·matter of, you know, that they do it every single time,

14· ·but I'll concede that they're trained to do that.

15· · · · · · · ·MS. BUYS:· All right.· That there's a

16· ·procedure in place that HealthCare Partners of Nevada,

17· ·that that is the procedure that is trained --

18· · · · · · · ·MS. BRADLEY:· Sure.

19· · · · · · · ·MS. BUYS:· -- for the medical assistants as

20· ·well as the physicians.

21· · · · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· Right.· So I think

22· ·that -- and I don't want to misstate.· She can obviously

23· ·speak for herself, but I think her point is that she's

24· ·agreeing with everything you're saying, and she concedes
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·1· ·to the training.· And so the question would be if you

·2· ·want to continue down this line as to whether that

·3· ·training was actually followed in this case, and that

·4· ·would have to be by people who are actually there and

·5· ·participated.

·6· · · · · · · ·MS. BUYS:· Understood, Madame Hearing

·7· ·Officer, in which case, we will agree to the stipulations

·8· ·provided by counsel for the IC as to the training and

·9· ·procedures in place.

10· · · · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· Okay.· Thank you.

11· · · · · · · ·Thank you, Ms. Aliberti.· We fast-tracked

12· ·that for you, but we certainly appreciate you showing up

13· ·and being willing to testify today.

14· · · · · · · ·THE WITNESS:· Thank you.· Thanks.

15· · · · · · · ·MS. BUYS:· Thank you so much.· And for the

16· ·record, they're both excused for the purposes of this

17· ·proceeding.

18· · · · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· Thank you.

19· · · · · · · ·THE WITNESS:· Thank you.

20· · · · · · · ·MS. BUYS:· Thank you.· And so Respondent

21· ·would now like to call Dr. Nguyen to the stand.

22· · · · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· Would you prefer

23· ·that he stay seated next to you or does it matter?· We

24· ·don't have an official --
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·1· · · · · · · ·MS. BRADLEY:· Yeah, I'm fine either way.

·2· · · · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· Wherever you're

·3· ·more comfortable, Dr. Nguyen.

·4· · · · · · · ·THE WITNESS:· Thank you.

·5

·6· · · · · · · · · · ·DIRECT EXAMINATION

·7· ·BY MS. BUYS:

·8· · · · · Q· · Thank you very much.· Now, Dr. Nguyen, did

·9· ·you use your reasonable medical judgment to take into

10· ·consideration Patient A's history, exam, risk factors,

11· ·treatment benefits and alternatives in your decision to

12· ·administer a Kenalog steroid injection to Patient A?

13· · · · · A· · Yes, I did.

14· · · · · Q· · Tell us why.

15· · · · · A· · The parent had told me that the child was

16· ·having respiratory symptoms of cough, congestion and

17· ·nausea and vomiting for four days.· Initially, I

18· ·prescribed her oral Prednisone.· And after doing an exam

19· ·on the patient, I assessed her to have a respiratory

20· ·illness, possibly croup or other respiratory conditions,

21· ·and felt that the oral steroid would be adequate.

22· · · · · · · ·But when I came back to give her -- the

23· ·parent -- the medication and talk to her about the

24· ·possible side effects of the medication, I went over with
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·1· ·her and let her know that there are side effects, and she

·2· ·became concerned that the side effect of the oral

·3· ·Prednisone could lead to further vomiting or increased

·4· ·vomiting, and she asked me if there was any other

·5· ·treatment options.

·6· · · · · · · ·And I did let her know that there was an

·7· ·injectable form of medication, and we discussed the

·8· ·possible side effects of the injectable medication,

·9· ·specifically that it can cause some scarring, swelling,

10· ·redness and pain and bleeding to the area that is

11· ·injected.

12· · · · · Q· · And did you obtain informed consent prior to

13· ·administering a Kenalog steroid medication to Patient A?

14· · · · · A· · Yes, I did.· I let the mom know that there

15· ·are side effects and benefits and alternatives to the

16· ·medication, and she was agreeable with proceeding with

17· ·the treatment.

18· · · · · Q· · And did you use your reasonable medical

19· ·judgment as a family medicine specialist based on your

20· ·background, training and experience in treating Patient A

21· ·with Kenalog due to what you believed was respiratory

22· ·illness that was possibly croup?

23· · · · · A· · Yes, I did.

24· · · · · Q· · All right.· And if you had not given the
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·1· ·patient a Kenalog injection, what might have happened?

·2· · · · · A· · As I told the parent, the alternative is to

·3· ·give oral medication, the Prednisone that I prescribed.

·4· ·Possible side effects of the oral Prednisone is vomiting,

·5· ·weakness of the tendons, tendon rupture, weakness of the

·6· ·bones, elevation of blood sugar and GI side effects which

·7· ·include vomiting.

·8· · · · · Q· · And at the time you provided care to Patient

·9· ·A, did you make a reasonable effort to keep and maintain

10· ·an accurate, timely, legible and complete record?

11· · · · · A· · Yes, I did.

12· · · · · Q· · Please explain.

13· · · · · A· · The progress note or medical record has

14· ·everything that it needs to to continue care of the

15· ·patient if she were to follow up with her pediatrician or

16· ·if she were to come back to see another provider at my

17· ·urgent care or myself at the urgent care.

18· · · · · Q· · And I'd like to touch briefly on your

19· ·background, Doctor.· Where were you born and raised?

20· · · · · A· · I was born in Saigon, Vietnam, but I was

21· ·raised in Colorado.

22· · · · · Q· · And where did you attend college?

23· · · · · A· · I attended college at Cal State-Fullerton.

24· · · · · Q· · And what year did you graduate?
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·1· · · · · A· · From Cal-State Fullerton, I graduated in

·2· ·1995.

·3· · · · · Q· · What degree did you receive?

·4· · · · · A· · I received a Bachelor of Arts in Science, in

·5· ·particular, biology.

·6· · · · · Q· · And when did you decide you wanted to go to

·7· ·medical school?

·8· · · · · A· · My junior year in college.

·9· · · · · Q· · And where did you attend medical school?

10· · · · · A· · I attended medical school at University of

11· ·Colorado in Denver, Colorado.

12· · · · · Q· · And what did year did you complete medical

13· ·school?

14· · · · · A· · I completed it in 2008.

15· · · · · Q· · And where did you go your internship?

16· · · · · A· · I did my internship in Denver, Colorado at

17· ·the University Hospital.

18· · · · · Q· · And where did you do your residency?

19· · · · · A· · The same facility.

20· · · · · Q· · And was that residency focused on family

21· ·medicine?

22· · · · · A· · Yes.

23· · · · · Q· · And how did you decide to specialize in

24· ·family medicine at an urgent care setting?
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·1· · · · · A· · I enjoyed family medicine because it allows

·2· ·me to care for the whole family from infant to elderly,

·3· ·grandparent, and it allows me to make a difference in

·4· ·patients' lives.

·5· · · · · Q· · And just to clarify, how long have you been

·6· ·practicing medicine, Doctor?

·7· · · · · A· · I finished my residency in 2003, so 19 years.

·8· · · · · Q· · And can you estimate how many patients you've

·9· ·seen up to that time?

10· · · · · A· · I would estimate possibly 35,000 patients.

11· · · · · Q· · All right.· And during your residency, were

12· ·you trained in administering Kenalog injections?

13· · · · · A· · Yes, I was.

14· · · · · Q· · What training did you receive?

15· · · · · A· · Under my attending physicians, I was trained

16· ·to inject children, adults, elderly patients with Kenalog

17· ·for minor reasons such as respiratory illnesses.

18· · · · · Q· · And did you experience treating pediatric

19· ·patients with respiratory illnesses that resembled croup?

20· · · · · A· · Yes, I do.

21· · · · · Q· · And how many of those patients have you seen?

22· · · · · A· · If I had to guess, I would say approximately

23· ·300 patients.

24· · · · · Q· · And did you hear Dr. Hall testify this
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·1· ·morning?

·2· · · · · A· · Yes, I did.

·3· · · · · Q· · And do you disagree with each of these

·4· ·opinions that you fell below the standard of care?

·5· · · · · A· · Yes, I disagree with his thoughts.

·6· · · · · Q· · And can you briefly explain why?

·7· · · · · A· · My care of the patient was and does meet the

·8· ·standard of care.· I did examine the patient.· I assessed

·9· ·her, and I did get verbal consent from the parent, and I

10· ·did keep a timely record and a complete record for

11· ·continuation of care for the Patient A.

12· · · · · Q· · And let's go over your note for Patient A's

13· ·November 4th, 2016 visit.· Do you have a recollection of

14· ·Patient A's visit?

15· · · · · A· · Yes, I do.

16· · · · · Q· · All right.· And I would like to go and refer

17· ·for your review, I believe it is Respondent's Exhibit,

18· ·and I'll tell you the exact number.· I believe we had

19· ·this marked as Respondent's Exhibits 5 and 6 as well as

20· ·Respondent's Exhibit Number 12.· And I'd like to directly

21· ·refer your attention to what's been Bates stamped H18002

22· ·of the Exhibit Number 5.· Is that your narrative note of

23· ·Patient A's November 4th, 2016 visit?

24· · · · · A· · Yes, it is.
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·1· · · · · Q· · All right.· And I believe you just testified

·2· ·you have an independent recollection.· I believe you just

·3· ·testified that you have an independent recollection of

·4· ·treating the patient on November 4th of 2016?

·5· · · · · A· · I do.

·6· · · · · Q· · All right.· What do you recall about your

·7· ·visit with Patient A on November 4th, 2016 at the urgent

·8· ·care clinic?

·9· · · · · A· · It was notable that there was an attempt by

10· ·the medical assistant to give the Kenalog injection, but

11· ·he failed to do so.· And afterwards, the mother asked me

12· ·in particular to give the injection instead of having

13· ·another medical assistant or other RN or other nurse give

14· ·the injection.

15· · · · · Q· · And while you were treating the patient on

16· ·November 4th of 2016, did you review Patient A's medical

17· ·history?

18· · · · · A· · Yes, I did.

19· · · · · Q· · What did you review?

20· · · · · A· · I asked in particular if the child had asthma

21· ·and I asked her if she had any allergies to any

22· ·medications or any other substances, and I also reviewed

23· ·her family history of maternal grandmother having asthma.

24· ·And the mother did mention that she had prior croup
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·1· ·several months prior to her visit with me.

·2· · · · · Q· · And did you discuss with Patient A's parents

·3· ·what her symptoms were?

·4· · · · · A· · Yes, I did.· I gathered the history from the

·5· ·mother, as the patient was a 23-month-old and wasn't able

·6· ·to respond.

·7· · · · · Q· · And I believe you just testified regarding

·8· ·the patient's mother.· Do you recall the patient's father

·9· ·was also present for the visit?

10· · · · · A· · Initially, the father was present also, but I

11· ·had to excuse him after I finished my physical exam.· He

12· ·was late for work and had to leave.

13· · · · · Q· · And did you just testify that you performed a

14· ·physical exam of Patient A?

15· · · · · A· · That is correct.· I did.

16· · · · · Q· · And what did you find on exam of Patient A?

17· · · · · A· · I found that she had some nasal symptoms of

18· ·erythema, clear rhinorrhea.· Her lungs were clear, she

19· ·had good air exchange, she was walking and she was a

20· ·vigorous child.

21· · · · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· Ms. Buys, what is

22· ·Dr. Nguyen looking at?

23· · · · · · · ·MS. BRADLEY:· I was just going to ask that

24· ·same thing because I don't see erythema on the records

http://www.litigationservices.com


Page 205
·1· ·I'm looking at or vigorous child.· So just curious where

·2· ·that's coming from.

·3· · · · · · · ·MS. BUYS:· It's HCP 003 is the Bates stamp.

·4· ·I believe that's still Respondent's Exhibit 5.

·5· · · · · · · ·MS. BRADLEY:· Oh, okay.· I see erythema

·6· ·there.

·7· · · · · · · ·THE WITNESS:· Clear rhinorrhea.

·8· · · · · · · ·MS. BUYS:· No worries.· Just for the record.

·9· ·And just for the record, it's on that Bates stamp HTP 003

10· ·about -- towards the bottom of the page, maybe around the

11· ·middle lower half, there is documentation regarding the

12· ·erythema as well.

13· · · · · · · ·MS. BRADLEY:· Yeah, I just saw the erythema.

14· ·I don't see vigorous child.· So is that just from his

15· ·memory or --

16· · · · · · · ·THE WITNESS:· That was from my memory.

17· · · · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· Okay.· Thank you.

18· · · · · Q· · (BY MS. BUYS:)· Thank you.· And, Doctor, did

19· ·you come to a possible diagnosis of Patient A during her

20· ·November 4th, 2016 visit?

21· · · · · A· · Yes.· According to my medical documentation,

22· ·cough with possible croup.

23· · · · · Q· · What was that based on?

24· · · · · A· · Based on the medical history provided by the
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·1· ·appearance of the child, my physical exam, and her

·2· ·previous history.

·3· · · · · Q· · And based upon that diagnosis, did you

·4· ·develop a potential treatment plan for Patient A?

·5· · · · · A· · Yes, I did.

·6· · · · · Q· · What was that treatment plan?

·7· · · · · A· · Initially, it was oral Prednisone treatments

·8· ·that I was going to give the child, but once I came in to

·9· ·inform the mom, the parent of Patient A of possible side

10· ·effects of that medication, she expressed a lot of

11· ·concern that one of the side effects of the medication

12· ·was vomiting and asked me if there was any other

13· ·treatment that I could possibly give.

14· · · · · · · ·At that point, I did let her know that an

15· ·intramuscular injection is one possibility, and she

16· ·mentioned that previously, her daughter had croup and the

17· ·daughter needed an injection during that time to resolve

18· ·her symptoms.· So I thought it was a good idea since the

19· ·child was vomiting and the medicine can cause vomiting to

20· ·give her an injection of the medication of a steroid at

21· ·that time.· I wasn't sure if she would adequately take

22· ·the medicine and it would help her in her recovery.

23· · · · · Q· · And just to clarify for the record, did you

24· ·discuss with the patient's parent the risks, benefits and
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·1· ·alternatives to treatment were the oral steroid, the

·2· ·Prednisone?

·3· · · · · A· · Yes, I did.· I let her know that the

·4· ·medication has side effects, and she had questions and I

·5· ·answered those questions for her.

·6· · · · · Q· · And do you recall what the side effects were

·7· ·that you explained to the patient's parent regarding the

·8· ·oral Prednisone?

·9· · · · · A· · Yes.· I mentioned that the medication could

10· ·increase the patient's blood sugar level, cause increased

11· ·risk of infection, it could cause upset in the GI tract

12· ·or vomiting, it can cause weakness of the bones and

13· ·tendon rupture.

14· · · · · Q· · And then after you received that additional

15· ·information from the patient's parent, is that when you

16· ·considered giving the Kenalog injection?· Is that

17· ·correct?

18· · · · · A· · That is correct.· The mother told me that she

19· ·was concerned that the medicine I was going to give the

20· ·child can cause vomiting and the child is vomiting

21· ·already, that it would make her vomit more and, you know,

22· ·the child would not take down the medicine or not get

23· ·adequate amounts of the medicine, so I thought that was a

24· ·very valid concern.· And I thought a reasonable treatment
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·1· ·option would be to give the first dose as a steroid

·2· ·injectable medicine so that we could insure that the

·3· ·child receives the medicine and she would get better

·4· ·quicker.

·5· · · · · Q· · And prior to the Kenalog injection, did you

·6· ·discuss the risks and benefits and alternatives with

·7· ·Patient A's parent?

·8· · · · · A· · Yes, I did let her know that in addition to

·9· ·what the oral steroid can do, since it is an injectable,

10· ·that it can cause swelling, redness, pain, bleeding and

11· ·even scarring to the area where it's injected.

12· · · · · Q· · And did someone other than you attempt to

13· ·administer the injection?

14· · · · · A· · Yes, Mr. Barry Misiuk, who was my medical

15· ·assistant for that day, attempted to give the injection.

16· · · · · Q· · All right.· And what do you recall happened

17· ·when he attempted to give the injection?

18· · · · · A· · The parent was helping to position and

19· ·stabilize the patient for the injection.· She was at the

20· ·head of the bed and facing the child and trying to

21· ·comfort the child, and Barry cleaned the area.· Sorry.

22· ·Strike that.

23· · · · · · · ·Initially, he came in and thought about

24· ·giving the injection in the lateral thigh of the patient,
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·1· ·but he mentioned that he didn't think he could do that

·2· ·because he saw her moving quite a bit, and she was not

·3· ·stabilized to give the injection in the lateral thigh.

·4· ·He came in to let me know that he didn't think that was

·5· ·possible, and I asked if there was any other spot he

·6· ·could give the injection.· And I let him know that the

·7· ·gluteal area is an alternate site if he didn't think it

·8· ·was safe to give it into the lateral thigh.

·9· · · · · · · ·And he asked me for help in giving the

10· ·injection, so I went into the room with him.· We assessed

11· ·the patient, and with the mother's cooperation, we

12· ·positioned and stabilized the child.· Mr. Barry tried to

13· ·give the injection into the right buttock, but when he

14· ·went to inject the child, the child moved and he pierced

15· ·the skin but didn't push down on the plunger, and then

16· ·she moved again and he pierced her skin a second time

17· ·without giving the injection, and then she moved again

18· ·and the needle came out.

19· · · · · Q· · And why on the gluteal -- excuse me.· Why was

20· ·the injection attempted on the gluteal area?

21· · · · · A· · At the time, we had the information and there

22· ·was an FDA recommendation that the medication, Kenalog,

23· ·could be given in the gluteal area.

24· · · · · Q· · And in your experience providing care to
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·1· ·pediatric patients over 19 years, how often are children

·2· ·willing and accepting and sitting still when you try and

·3· ·give an injection?

·4· · · · · A· · Not very often.

·5· · · · · Q· · And do they often require a parent to help

·6· ·position the child for an injection?

·7· · · · · A· · Yes, often they do.

·8· · · · · Q· · And, Doctor, after the medical assistant's

·9· ·attempts to administer the injection, what happened then?

10· · · · · A· · Like I said, the needle had come out.  I

11· ·applied pressure to the area because there was a small

12· ·amount of blood coming from the perforation sites where

13· ·the needle went in.

14· · · · · · · ·I apologized to the mom and let her know that

15· ·I'm sorry that the medication wasn't given despite her

16· ·daughter being poked by the medical assistant.· At that

17· ·time, I let her know that I could get another medical

18· ·assistant or RN to give the injection.· She let me know

19· ·that she didn't want a medical assistant or a nurse to do

20· ·it.· She asked me if in particular if I could give the

21· ·injection because she trusted me.

22· · · · · Q· · And prior to -- actually, strike that.· And,

23· ·Doctor, do you document every detail of your encounter

24· ·with a patient?
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·1· · · · · A· · I document the details that are needed to

·2· ·help any other provider or provider like myself coming

·3· ·back; if a patient were to come back to continue her care

·4· ·or if she were to go back to a different pediatrician, he

·5· ·would understand the care that I gave to the patient.

·6· · · · · Q· · And was it your understanding that Patient A

·7· ·had a pediatrician appointment scheduled a few days into

·8· ·the future?

·9· · · · · A· · That is correct.

10· · · · · Q· · And was this the first visit that you had

11· ·with Patient A?

12· · · · · A· · Yes.

13· · · · · Q· · And was this the only visit that you had with

14· ·Patient A?

15· · · · · A· · Yes.

16· · · · · Q· · And I'd like to go and refer your attention

17· ·still on Respondent's Exhibit Number 5, but what is Bates

18· ·stamped as HCP 002.· Doctor, it appears that it says at

19· ·the bottom of -- look at the first paragraph after a list

20· ·of plans, and right at the last part of that paragraph,

21· ·it says:· "Patient agrees with treatment plan and

22· ·verbalizes understanding."· Do you see that?

23· · · · · A· · Yes, ma'am, I do.

24· · · · · Q· · Did I read that correctly?
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·1· · · · · A· · Correct.

·2· · · · · Q· · And is this a reference to the consent that

·3· ·you received prior to administering the Kenalog

·4· ·injection?

·5· · · · · A· · Yes, it is.

·6· · · · · Q· · And when you say "patient," are you referring

·7· ·to the child or are you referring to the patient's proxy

·8· ·or parent?

·9· · · · · A· · I was referring to the parent.

10· · · · · Q· · When you were getting the patient's medical

11· ·history, that came from the parent as well; is that

12· ·correct?

13· · · · · A· · Correct.

14· · · · · Q· · All right.· And when you are discussing with

15· ·a patient different treatments, do you pressure patients

16· ·what to choose:· one option other another?

17· · · · · A· · No.· I offer them my medical advice and let

18· ·them know that there are alternatives, and it was her

19· ·decision that would be honored.

20· · · · · Q· · And did your care and treatment of Patient A

21· ·meet the standard of care?

22· · · · · A· · Yes, it did.

23· · · · · Q· · Why is that?

24· · · · · A· · I did what a reasonable physician would have
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·1· ·done for a patient with the symptoms that the parent told

·2· ·me about.· After doing an assessment of the Patient A, I

·3· ·feel that any physician would have done the same thing

·4· ·that I would have done.

·5· · · · · Q· · And have you ever had a patient react to a

·6· ·Kenalog injection by developing a divot?

·7· · · · · A· · No, I have not.

·8· · · · · Q· · Following the administration of the Kenalog

·9· ·injection, did you provide any instructions for the

10· ·patient or the parent?

11· · · · · A· · Yes.· I let the parent know that she should

12· ·apply ice to the area because there may be some swelling

13· ·and discomfort for the child and to fill a prescription

14· ·for the Prednisone or medication that I did give her and

15· ·to follow up with her pediatrician and then also to come

16· ·in if there were any increased symptoms or further

17· ·symptoms that she needed to have me look at.

18· · · · · Q· · After the administration of the medication,

19· ·did you have a patient remain in your office for any

20· ·period of time?

21· · · · · A· · Yes.· We had her stay after the injection for

22· ·approximately ten minutes to make sure she didn't have

23· ·any adverse reactions to the injection.

24· · · · · Q· · And do you know if Patient A sought any
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·1· ·additional medical care for her symptoms?

·2· · · · · A· · I don't know.

·3· · · · · Q· · And prior to receiving correspondence from

·4· ·the Board, did anyone ever tell you Ms. Patient A had

·5· ·developed a divot or a complication related to a steroid

·6· ·injection?

·7· · · · · A· · No, I don't recall.

·8· · · · · Q· · And just because a patient has a skin

·9· ·reaction to a medication that's administered, does that

10· ·mean you deviated from the standard of care?

11· · · · · A· · No, ma'am.

12· · · · · Q· · And just because there are multiple attempts

13· ·to administer medication to a crying, kicking pediatric

14· ·patient, does that mean you fell below the standard of

15· ·care?

16· · · · · A· · No.

17· · · · · Q· · And have all of your opinions today been

18· ·stated by a preponderance of the evidence?

19· · · · · A· · Yes, it has.

20· · · · · · · ·MS. BUYS:· Thank you.

21· · · · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· Ms. Bradley?

22

23

24
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·1· · · · · · · · · · CROSS-EXAMINATION

·2· ·BY MS. BRADLEY:

·3· · · · · Q· · Okay.· Good afternoon, Dr. Nguyen.· You

·4· ·didn't document the conversation with Mrs. DelGrosso

·5· ·regarding her concerns with the prescription for oral

·6· ·steroids, did you?

·7· · · · · A· · No, I did not.

·8· · · · · Q· · And you testified that you discussed the

·9· ·benefits of the Kenalog shot with the parents, but you

10· ·didn't document that you discussed the benefits of the

11· ·Kenalog shot with the parents, did you?

12· · · · · A· · I believe I did.· I stated:· The patient

13· ·agrees with the treatment plan and verbalized an

14· ·understanding of the treatment plan.

15· · · · · Q· · So it's your testimony that that covers the

16· ·benefits of the Kenalog shot?

17· · · · · A· · It would cover the benefits, the risks and

18· ·alternatives because that's part of the treatment plan.

19· · · · · Q· · Okay.· Well, and I'm confused about the

20· ·treatment plan because maybe you can tell me then what it

21· ·ended up being because initially, you testified that the

22· ·treatment plan was oral steroids.

23· · · · · A· · That is correct.

24· · · · · Q· · And what was the treatment plan at the end of
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·1· ·the visit?

·2· · · · · A· · After receiving further information from the

·3· ·parent that she was very concerned that the medicine

·4· ·caused her daughter to vomit further and that her

·5· ·daughter in fact had previous injection of a steroid

·6· ·medication, I adjusted my treatment plan to include the

·7· ·Triamcinolone or Kenalog injection because I was worried

·8· ·that the patient might not get an adequate dose of the

·9· ·medication because she is vomiting, and her mother was

10· ·concerned that the medication caused additional vomiting,

11· ·and I know that the Prednisone is known to cause vomiting

12· ·in patients.

13· · · · · Q· · Okay.· You just testified that you were

14· ·worried.· Did you document anywhere in the patient's

15· ·records that you were worried about the ability to --

16· · · · · A· · No, I did not document that.

17· · · · · Q· · Okay.· So just to we're clear then, so you

18· ·started out with initially an oral steroid was the plan,

19· ·and then you modified it.· So in the end, the treatment

20· ·plan was both the oral steroids and the Kenalog shot.· Is

21· ·that true?

22· · · · · A· · That's correct.

23· · · · · Q· · Did you document in the patient's medical

24· ·records that the patient stayed for ten minutes after the
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·1· ·shot was provided?

·2· · · · · A· · No, I did not document that, but that is a

·3· ·standard of care for patients to make sure that they

·4· ·don't have adverse reaction after they receive an

·5· ·injectable medication.

·6· · · · · Q· · And I just want to clarify when the medical

·7· ·assistant attempted the injection.· So were you present

·8· ·when that occurred?· You saw it happen?

·9· · · · · A· · Yes, ma'am, I was there.· I was at the

10· ·child's foot at the time.

11· · · · · Q· · And you testified that the Patient A had

12· ·croup several months prior to her visit with me.· Did you

13· ·document that in the medical records?

14· · · · · A· · Yes.· I'm referring to my history of present

15· ·illness.· It states the patient had croup twice already,

16· ·last one seven months ago.· It's HCP 0002.

17· · · · · Q· · Yeah.· Thank you.· I saw it.· I was looking

18· ·above with the family history, but I do see it there

19· ·where you pointed it out.· Thank you.· Did you give the

20· ·parents instructions about when to give the oral

21· ·steroids?

22· · · · · A· · Yes, I did let them know that they were to

23· ·give it once a day as soon as they were able to give the

24· ·medication because with respiratory illnesses like croup,
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·1· ·inflammation can worsen her symptoms, so the sooner they

·2· ·gave the medicine, the sooner the child, the patient,

·3· ·would improve.

·4· · · · · Q· · So just to clarify then, so your intent was

·5· ·that first day, Patient A would have both a shot and an

·6· ·oral dose of steroids?

·7· · · · · A· · That is correct, ma'am.· Physicians often

·8· ·will give injections to make sure that the parent gets

·9· ·the first dose to help resolve sooner.· It's called a

10· ·loading dose.

11· · · · · · · ·MS. BRADLEY:· Okay.· I believe you have

12· ·hopefully in front of you the standard operating

13· ·procedure for HealthCare Partners.· I think it's Exhibit

14· ·7, but it might be 6 because my exhibits seem to be off.

15· · · · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· It's Exhibit 7.

16· · · · · · · ·MS. BRADLEY:· Exhibit 7.· Okay.

17· · · · · · · ·THE WITNESS:· Yeah, I do have it.

18· · · · · Q· · (BY MS. BRADLEY:)· Okay.· Have you seen that

19· ·before, Dr. Nguyen?

20· · · · · A· · I believe I have.

21· · · · · Q· · Okay.· If we go to page three, it's number

22· ·23.· Can you read that for us, number 23?

23· · · · · A· · Vastus lateralis is the preferred side for

24· ·children, thigh, from birth to 36 months of age for

http://www.litigationservices.com


Page 219
·1· ·intramuscular and subcutaneous injections.

·2· · · · · Q· · And I think you testified that the MA is the

·3· ·one that decided to deviate from this procedure?· I just

·4· ·want to make sure.

·5· · · · · A· · That's correct, ma'am.

·6· · · · · Q· · Okay.· So the medical assistant made the

·7· ·decision that the thigh was not appropriate, and then

·8· ·you're the one that said that the gluteal area would be

·9· ·appropriate.

10· · · · · A· · That's correct, ma'am.· Let me clarify.· It

11· ·would be an alternate site for intramuscular injection.

12· · · · · Q· · Okay.· Isn't it true that NRS 630.30621A,

13· ·which is one of the alleged statutes in this case, places

14· ·the obligation on maintaining timely, legible, accurate

15· ·and complete medical records for patients on you as the

16· ·physician?

17· · · · · · · ·MS. BUYS:· And I'll just object that it calls

18· ·for a legal conclusion.

19· · · · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· Sustained.· It's,

20· ·I mean, also the statute speaks for itself.

21· · · · · Q· · (BY MS. BRADLEY:)· Okay.· So, Dr. Nguyen, is

22· ·it your testimony today that the medical assistant is

23· ·responsible for documentation of a patient's medical

24· ·records?
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·1· · · · · A· · Medical assistants assist physicians in

·2· ·completing documentation such as providing the lot

·3· ·number, medication and the expiration date of medications

·4· ·when they inject the medications.

·5· · · · · Q· · Okay.· But who is licensed by the Board?· The

·6· ·medical assistant or the physician?

·7· · · · · A· · The physician is licensed by the Board.· And

·8· ·when they do document these records, other physicians

·9· ·like me do review those records to make sure that they're

10· ·accurate and timely.

11· · · · · Q· · So whose fault is it if there's an error in

12· ·the records?

13· · · · · · · ·MS. BUYS:· Objection.· Vague as it's unclear

14· ·what you mean by if there's --

15· · · · · Q· · (BY MS. BRADLEY:)· I'll rephrase.· If there

16· ·was an error in Patient A's medical records, who caused

17· ·that error?

18· · · · · · · ·MS. BUYS:· Same objection.

19· · · · · · · ·MS. BRADLEY:· I think he can say who he

20· ·thinks is the cause of an error in a record for a

21· ·patient.

22· · · · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· Well, I guess my

23· ·concern is if there's error, I mean, this is a

24· ·hypothetical that doesn't necessarily apply to the case,
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·1· ·so if there's an error in these records.

·2· · · · · · · ·MS. BRADLEY:· Well, I think there is an error

·3· ·in these records.· I think we've heard testimony about

·4· ·conflicting information in the records.

·5· · · · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· Then I would

·6· ·suggest the question should be if there was an error in

·7· ·these records.

·8· · · · · Q· · (BY MS. BRADLEY:)· Okay.· So, for example,

·9· ·Dr. Nguyen, if we go to Exhibit 12, and that's your

10· ·exhibit 001, med admin details.· Are you there?

11· · · · · A· · Yes, ma'am.· I am.· I'm looking at med

12· ·details 00001.

13· · · · · Q· · Do you see the name Hampton, Chanel on that

14· ·page?

15· · · · · A· · Yes, ma'am, I do.

16· · · · · Q· · Do you know who that is?

17· · · · · A· · That is my medical assistant that I normally

18· ·work with.

19· · · · · Q· · Okay.· Did you work with Ms. Hampton on

20· ·November 4th, 2016?

21· · · · · A· · No, I did not work with her that day.

22· · · · · Q· · So if this says "admin by," what does that

23· ·mean typically?

24· · · · · A· · When the physician generates a computer order
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·1· ·in the EMR for an injection, we'll often send that order

·2· ·to his normal -- his medical assistant that he normally

·3· ·works with, which is Ms. Chanel Hampton.

·4· · · · · Q· · So I guess I'm misunderstanding here.· So

·5· ·you're saying if you order medication, the order goes to

·6· ·someone that you normally work with but that you may not

·7· ·be working with on that day?· Is that what you're saying?

·8· · · · · A· · Yes, ma'am.· During that day, Mrs. Hampton,

·9· ·she had to call out sick that day because her daughter

10· ·was ill and she was not there.· So Mr. Barry Misiuk was

11· ·called up as a float medical assistant that HealthCare

12· ·Partners had hired to substitute if there's a member of a

13· ·staff medical assistant that's absent that day.

14· · · · · Q· · Okay.· Well, because it says, "Admin by."

15· ·What does "admin by" mean?· Does that mean administered?

16· ·Is that short for administered?

17· · · · · A· · It says that I had ordered Chanel Hampton to

18· ·give the injection, and it says the date that it was

19· ·given.

20· · · · · Q· · Okay.· So your testimony is then that the

21· ·name on there doesn't mean who administered the vaccine?

22· · · · · A· · That is correct, ma'am.

23· · · · · Q· · Okay.· But I thought this is supposed to be

24· ·the medication administration details.
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·1· · · · · A· · It has a lot of the details such as the

·2· ·amount, the area injected and where it was given.

·3· · · · · Q· · Okay.· But how are we supposed to know

·4· ·looking at this who provided the injection?· I thought

·5· ·that was the purpose of this record.

·6· · · · · A· · The person often also gives the injection can

·7· ·also be seen in the progress note.

·8· · · · · Q· · Okay.· So where does it show me in the

·9· ·progress note who gave the injection?

10· · · · · A· · It does say that I completed the injection,

11· ·Kenalog 40 milligrams 0.5 by mouth, intramuscular was

12· ·completed by Dr. Nguyen.

13· · · · · Q· · Where did it say that?· I'm sorry.· What page

14· ·are you on?

15· · · · · A· · It is HCT 0017.

16· · · · · Q· · 0017?· Okay.· So you're referring to then on

17· ·the bottom, kind of the bottom of the page, I mean, I

18· ·guess the middle, but the bottom of the entry of that

19· ·page?

20· · · · · A· · That's correct, ma'am.· Is says Nguyen, Hai

21· ·complete.

22· · · · · Q· · Complete.· So that's what you're saying is

23· ·proof that you administered the injection?

24· · · · · A· · That's correct, ma'am.
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·1· · · · · Q· · Okay.· And if we go back to Exhibit 5 though,

·2· ·if we go to page HCP 00006 in Exhibit 5.

·3· · · · · A· · Yes, ma'am.

·4· · · · · Q· · That Gleneisha Barner, is that the person you

·5· ·said you were working with that day?

·6· · · · · A· · I believe she was the triage medical

·7· ·assistant.· So in urgent care, we may have more than one

·8· ·medical assistant.· We have one that triages the patient,

·9· ·takes their initial complaint, and then she may take the

10· ·vitals and then a medical assistant helps in the back of

11· ·the office.

12· · · · · Q· · So where do we see reference to the medical

13· ·assistant that you said that you were working with on

14· ·that day?· I believe it was a gentleman's name.· Oh, I

15· ·think I might see it on Exhibit 6, med admin log 0003.

16· ·Was it Barry, you said, Misiuk?

17· · · · · A· · Yes, ma'am, that's correct.· It's right down

18· ·there at the end of the near the bottom of the page.

19· · · · · Q· · Okay.

20· · · · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· I'm sorry.· What

21· ·page?

22· · · · · Q· · (BY MS. BRADLEY:)· It's med admin log 00003.

23· ·It's in Exhibit 6 for the Respondent.· Have you seen this

24· ·Exhibit 6 before, Dr. Nguyen?

http://www.litigationservices.com


Page 225
·1· · · · · A· · Yes, ma'am.

·2· · · · · Q· · Okay.· What would you call this?· It says,

·3· ·"Allscripts" at the top.· I wasn't sure what kind of

·4· ·record it was.

·5· · · · · A· · It's part of the electronic medical record

·6· ·in regards to a billing the insurance and with trying to

·7· ·complete the record.

·8· · · · · Q· · Okay.· Because when I read this, and I don't

·9· ·know -- maybe you disagree -- but would you agree that it

10· ·sounds like there was some confusion over this shot and

11· ·what happened with it?

12· · · · · A· · The confusion was that the biller thought

13· ·Ms. Hampton was there that day to give the injection, and

14· ·I let her know that Ms. Hampton was not there and it was

15· ·actually Mr. Misiuk, Barry, that was present with me that

16· ·day.

17· · · · · Q· · Okay.· Yeah, because I'm just reading in the

18· ·middle.· Do you see where it says:· "Hello"?· Could you

19· ·read that?

20· · · · · A· · "Hello.· Did you administer this injection?

21· ·If not, can you send it back?· Thanks."

22· · · · · Q· · So it sounds like there was a question of

23· ·whether it was given or not and maybe that the injection

24· ·was somewhere in the office?· I don't know.
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·1· · · · · A· · I would have to speculate as far as why that

·2· ·message was sent to Mrs. Hampton.

·3· · · · · Q· · Okay.· But it looks like at the end, it is

·4· ·documented that Barry Misiuk was the one that provided it

·5· ·or at least helped.

·6· · · · · A· · Yes, he did help in drawing up the medication

·7· ·and helping with the injection.

·8· · · · · Q· · Okay.· Would you agree with me that there's a

·9· ·difference between consent and informed consent?

10· · · · · A· · Sorry.· Could you repeat the question?

11· · · · · Q· · Would you agree with me that there's a

12· ·difference between consent and informed consent?

13· · · · · A· · Yes.

14· · · · · Q· · How would you distinguish those two?

15· · · · · A· · Consent would be just saying okay versus

16· ·being informed of possible risks, alternatives, and side

17· ·effects of a medication.

18· · · · · · · ·MS. BRADLEY:· Thank you.· I have no further

19· ·questions.

20

21· · · · · · · · · · · REDIRECT EXAMINATION

22· ·BY MS. BUYS:

23· · · · · Q· · Thank you.· Dr. Nguyen, I believe counsel for

24· ·the Investigative Committee asked you questions regarding
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·1· ·what was Respondent's exhibit, I believe we are at, I

·2· ·believe, Respondent's Exhibit Number 6, which has

·3· ·"Allscripts" written at the top.· Do you recall that?

·4· · · · · A· · Yes, I do.

·5· · · · · Q· · Were you aware of this conversation with the

·6· ·medical assistants that's documented here?

·7· · · · · A· · Yes, I was.

·8· · · · · Q· · All right.· When did this take place?

·9· · · · · A· · That happened on November 8th, 2016.

10· · · · · Q· · And that was after the care that was provided

11· ·to the patient.· Is that correct?

12· · · · · A· · Correct.

13· · · · · Q· · And I believe you also testified that this

14· ·document is for purposes of billing.· Is that correct?

15· · · · · A· · I believe.

16· · · · · Q· · All right.· And I believe you were also asked

17· ·questions regarding Respondent's Exhibit Number 12, the

18· ·medication administration details.· And, Doctor, just to

19· ·clarify for this patient in 2016, were the medical

20· ·records electronic or paper?

21· · · · · A· · They were electronic.

22· · · · · Q· · Okay.· And in your practice in working at

23· ·HealthCare Partners in 2016, was it normal for the

24· ·medical assistants to assist you in filling out the
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·1· ·electronic health record regarding the shot record?

·2· · · · · A· · Yes, it was.

·3· · · · · Q· · Okay.· And in this case, it looks like on

·4· ·that medication administration details page, the

·5· ·injection site is listed as right gluteal region.· Is

·6· ·that correct?

·7· · · · · A· · That is correct.

·8· · · · · Q· · All right.· Do you have an independent

·9· ·recollection apart from this document where you gave the

10· ·injection?

11· · · · · A· · I do because I remember giving the injection

12· ·in the right buttock.

13· · · · · Q· · How do you know that?

14· · · · · A· · Because the table in that room is positioned

15· ·so that when the patient is lying on her stomach, her

16· ·right buttock would be to the left side of the bed.· And

17· ·I'm right handed, so it would make it easier for me to

18· ·place my hand on the right buttock to push down to help

19· ·stabilize the patient and to give the injection with my

20· ·right hand into the right buttock or gluteal area.

21· · · · · Q· · And I believe you had testified about the

22· ·medical assistant attempting to administer the injection.

23· ·Is that correct?

24· · · · · A· · That is correct, ma'am.
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·1· · · · · Q· · Do you recall where he attempted to give the

·2· ·injection?

·3· · · · · A· · He also tried to give the injection to the

·4· ·right gluteal buttock.

·5· · · · · Q· · And that is based upon your observation of

·6· ·him?

·7· · · · · A· · That is correct.· I was there when he tried

·8· ·to inject the medication and failed to give the

·9· ·injection.

10· · · · · Q· · All right.· And I believe there was also some

11· ·testimony regarding documentation as to the dosage of the

12· ·Kenalog injection.· Can you please clarify for the record

13· ·what was the dosage that was administered to Patient A?

14· · · · · A· · The dosage which I ordered on my progress

15· ·note states:· Kenalog, 40 milligrams per mL injection

16· ·suspension.· Inject 0.5 mL intramuscularly once.· And

17· ·that's from CP 0002.

18· · · · · Q· · And that's Respondent's Exhibit Number 5; is

19· ·that correct?

20· · · · · A· · I believe so.

21· · · · · Q· · All right, Doctor.· And it looks like on that

22· ·page as well, there is notation as to your name regarding

23· ·a treatment plan for the Kenalog injection.· Is that

24· ·correct?
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·1· · · · · A· · Yes, it does.

·2· · · · · Q· · All right.· And is it your understanding that

·3· ·when you're documenting an electronic medical record that

·4· ·the record can autopopulate a provider's name?

·5· · · · · A· · It can.

·6· · · · · Q· · And do you recall the electronic health

·7· ·record that was in effect at HealthCare Partners on

·8· ·November 4th, 2016?· Was it Cerner or a specific type of

·9· ·electronic healthcare record?

10· · · · · A· · I believe it was Allscripts.

11· · · · · Q· · And you had also testified regarding Chanel

12· ·Hampton.· Was it your testimony that she was your regular

13· ·medical assistant?

14· · · · · A· · Yes, Ms. Chanel Hampton worked for me for

15· ·approximately three years at HealthCare Partners.

16· · · · · Q· · And to clarify, when you prescribe a Kenalog

17· ·injection through the electronic healthcare record, was

18· ·it your testimony that it can autopopulate the typical

19· ·medical assistant that you worked with?

20· · · · · A· · Yes, it can autopopulate the name of the

21· ·medical assistant that normally works there.

22· · · · · Q· · Okay.· And, Doctor, I believe there was also

23· ·some testimony earlier regarding the timing of this

24· ·documentation.· Do you recall what time you finished
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·1· ·authoring your progress note for the patient?

·2· · · · · A· · What happens sometimes is I'm busy at the --

·3· ·I have another patient that I have to see in the urgent

·4· ·care, and then I'll go back at the end of the day to

·5· ·complete my progress note and to make sure everything is

·6· ·accurate as possible and reflects my care of the patient.

·7· · · · · Q· · And does the documentation that has been

·8· ·provided in this proceeding appear to indicate that you

·9· ·authored your progress note on November 4th of 2016?

10· · · · · A· · Yes, it does.

11· · · · · Q· · Which is the same day that you saw Patient A;

12· ·correct?

13· · · · · A· · Correct.

14· · · · · Q· · And then I also believe Board counsel asked

15· ·you questions regarding your documentation of the consent

16· ·given by Patient A's parents.· Do you remember those

17· ·questions?

18· · · · · A· · I believe -- Can we have a read back of that?

19· ·Sorry.

20· · · · · Q· · Otherwise, I'll rephrase my question.

21· · · · · · · ·Doctor, you had testified that you documented

22· ·that you had received consent from Patient A's parent in

23· ·your note.· Is that correct?

24· · · · · A· · Correct.
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·1· · · · · Q· · And is it your testimony that you received

·2· ·verbal consent from Patient A's parent prior to the

·3· ·Kenalog injection?

·4· · · · · A· · Yes, I did.

·5· · · · · Q· · And is it also your testimony that you

·6· ·received verbal consent from Patient A's parent for the

·7· ·oral medication that was prescribed?

·8· · · · · A· · Yes, I did.

·9· · · · · · · ·MS. BUYS:· All right.· That is all I have.

10· ·Thank you.

11· · · · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· I know we've been

12· ·doing redirect and recross.· Do you want to engage in

13· ·that?

14

15· · · · · · · · · · · RECROSS EXAMINATION

16· ·BY MS. BRADLEY:

17· · · · · Q· · I just have one question related to timing.

18· ·Dr. Nguyen, do you recall approximately when you saw

19· ·Patient A on November 4, s 2016?

20· · · · · A· · I believe it was right around 11:00 a.m.

21· ·because usually, the triage nurse sees the patient first,

22· ·gets their initial complaint, some of the symptoms and

23· ·does vital signs, so I believe that the note started at

24· ·10:45 a.m., so I would have seen her shortly thereafter.
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·1· · · · · Q· · Okay.· And so is it fair to say that probably

·2· ·she and her parents would have gone home by noon that

·3· ·day?

·4· · · · · A· · Likely, ma'am.

·5· · · · · · · ·MS. BRADLEY:· Okay.· That's all.· Thank you.

·6· · · · · · · ·MS. BUYS:· Thank you.· And would it be

·7· ·possible to take another comfort break?· I apologize.

·8· ·I've been drinking water.

·9· · · · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· Yes.· Let's see

10· ·what time.· It's 3:04.· So do you want to come back at

11· ·3:15?

12· · · · · · · ·MS. BUYS:· That would be great.· Thank you

13· ·very much.

14· · · · · · · · · · · · · ·(Recess.)

15· · · · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· We're back on the

16· ·record in Case Number 21-389084-1.

17· · · · · · · ·Ms. Buys, would you like to continue with

18· ·your case?

19· · · · · · · ·MS. BUYS:· Yes, thank you.· Respondent would

20· ·like to next call Dr. Eduardo Anorga.· I believe he's

21· ·sitting right here.

22· · · · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· Thank you.· And I

23· ·believe he was previously sworn; correct?

24· · · · · · · ·MS. BUYS:· Correct.
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·1· · · · · · · ·THE WITNESS:· Yes.

·2· · · · · · · ·MS. BUYS:· Perfect.

·3· · · · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· Can you spell the

·4· ·last name for me, please?

·5· · · · · · · ·THE WITNESS:· Sure.· It's A, N, as in Nancy,

·6· ·O-R-G-A.· First name Eduardo:· E-D-U-A-R-D-O.

·7· · · · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· Thank you.· I'll

·8· ·remind you that you remain under oath from when you were

·9· ·sworn in this morning.

10· · · · · · · ·THE WITNESS:· Thank you.

11· · · · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· Go ahead,

12· ·Ms. Buys.· Thank you.

13

14· · · · · · · · · · · · ·DIRECT EXAMINATION

15· ·BY MS. BUYS:

16· · · · · Q· · Thank you so much, Madame Hearing Officer.

17· ·Good afternoon, Dr. Anorga.· I believe you just stated

18· ·and spelled your name for the record, but could you

19· ·please let us knows what is your educational background?

20· · · · · A· · I went to UC Santa Cruz, graduated with a

21· ·degree in biology with honors, went to the University of

22· ·Vermont for medical school, and then I did my residency

23· ·at Long Beach Memorial Hill.· And subsequent to that, I

24· ·did a certificate of added qualification in sports
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·1· ·medicine, but I didn't renew it after the first seven

·2· ·years.· Decided not to renew it.· I also got a

·3· ·certificate in utilization management and quality

·4· ·management, early career.· And that I haven't renewed

·5· ·either.

·6· · · · · Q· · Gotcha, Doctor.· And I'd like to go and show

·7· ·you what has been marked as I believe it is Respondent's

·8· ·Exhibit Number 8, if I can approach you.· And,

·9· ·Dr. Anorga, is this a copy of your Curriculum Vitae?

10· · · · · A· · Yes, it is.

11· · · · · Q· · And is it an accurate copy of your CV?

12· · · · · A· · Yes, actually it is.· Yes.

13· · · · · Q· · Doctor, in your practice, have you had

14· ·occasion to deal with pediatric patients?

15· · · · · A· · Yes.

16· · · · · Q· · And how often have you treated pediatric

17· ·patients over your years of practicing medicine?

18· · · · · A· · Well, through my training, I've treated

19· ·pediatric patients as part of family practice training.

20· ·And subsequent to that, as I started my practice, I had a

21· ·fairly robust pediatric population being that I had kids,

22· ·all of my friends were having kids, and so I took care of

23· ·a lot of children early on.

24· · · · · · · ·As we got probably in the last 15 years, I've
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·1· ·seen fewer kids in my practice primarily because they've

·2· ·all grown up.· Although now, occasionally I get calls on

·3· ·their kids, and I also have had a lot of pediatric

·4· ·experience going to Haiti.· I've been to Haiti 25 times

·5· ·for medical care, and I also worked with for over ten

·6· ·years working with a group of pediatric nurses in Haiti

·7· ·and would be their kind of resource person for difficult

·8· ·cases.

·9· · · · · · · ·In addition to that, I was on the Board of

10· ·Directors for West Side Neighborhood Clinic which was a

11· ·family medicine clinic which included a lot of

12· ·pediatrics.· I would be involved in regular oversight of

13· ·the care there.· And then subsequent to that, I joined

14· ·the board for Long Beach Children's Clinic, and was there

15· ·for three years when they actually absorbed West Side

16· ·Neighbor and again was involved with oversight, planning,

17· ·care with regards to pediatrics.

18· · · · · Q· · Thank you.· And aside from your trips to

19· ·Haiti, have you practiced medicine anywhere else on

20· ·mission trips?

21· · · · · A· · I went to Honduras after Hurricane Mitch;

22· ·I've been down to Mexico.· I also for many years worked

23· ·for a company Newmatic that's now called UnitedHealthcare

24· ·Global and participated in the management of over a
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·1· ·thousand traveling patients, and basically my role there

·2· ·was to give a report in Spanish and assess for the

·3· ·adequacy of care and make a decision as to whether or not

·4· ·the patient needed to be evacuated, for example, with an

·5· ·air ambulance or whatnot.· So that would be the regular

·6· ·routine.· They'd call me, I'd talk to the doctor, review

·7· ·the records and then make a decision as to whether they

·8· ·were safe to stay where they were or whether we needed to

·9· ·evacuate them by one means or another.

10· · · · · Q· · Thank you, Doctor.· And over the course of

11· ·your career, have you treated patients that have had

12· ·symptoms of croup?

13· · · · · A· · Yes.· Croup, asthma.· Many, many, many.

14· · · · · Q· · And what are the symptoms of croup?

15· · · · · A· · Croup is primarily a barking cough.· It's

16· ·pretty striking and it is kind of frightening.· Actually,

17· ·I even took my -- when I was a physician, I actually took

18· ·my daughter to the emergency room when she had croup one

19· ·night.

20· · · · · · · ·We actually didn't get into the emergency

21· ·room because by the time we got there, the cool night air

22· ·had kind of, you know, we'd already tried walking around

23· ·in the cool night air.· It finally kicked in and she was

24· ·relieved.· But when it happens, it's pretty frightening
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·1· ·because you wonder okay, are they going to go into

·2· ·respiratory arrest or not.

·3· · · · · Q· · And so in your experience then in your

·4· ·treating patients with croup, can their symptoms worsen

·5· ·suddenly?

·6· · · · · A· · Yes.· Typically, it happens during the night.

·7· · · · · Q· · Thank you, Doctor.· And how many times have

·8· ·you administered steroid injections in your practice?

·9· · · · · A· · Upwards hundreds if not thousands.

10· · · · · Q· · And have you seen any major complications

11· ·from administering steroid injections?

12· · · · · A· · I've never had a complication from

13· ·administrating a steroid injection.

14· · · · · Q· · Have you seen any cases where a patient has

15· ·developed atrophy in the thousands of injections that

16· ·you've provided?

17· · · · · A· · Not in my practice, no.· I did see one case

18· ·one time on one of the people that went to Haiti with us

19· ·got a shot in her deltoid and she had a small divot.  I

20· ·didn't give the shot, and it wasn't part of the trip.

21· ·She had gone somewhere else.

22· · · · · Q· · Understood.· And, Doctor, is a divot a rare

23· ·complication of a steroid injection?

24· · · · · A· · I would say that it is.
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·1· · · · · Q· · All right.· Is it a serious complication?

·2· · · · · A· · I would say that it's not.· It typically

·3· ·resolves over the course of the year by itself.

·4· · · · · Q· · And if a patient would develop a divot after

·5· ·undergoing a steroid injection, when would you expect to

·6· ·see the divot develop?

·7· · · · · A· · As I understand it, it would be within the

·8· ·course of a month.

·9· · · · · Q· · So hypothetically speaking, if an

10· ·administration of an injection was given on November 4th

11· ·of 2016, you would expect to see a divot develop by

12· ·December 4th or so of 2016?

13· · · · · A· · That would be reasonable.

14· · · · · Q· · And in your practice in administering

15· ·thousands of Kenalog injections, have you ever seen a

16· ·case where a patient has been administered an injection

17· ·on, say, the right gluteal muscle and developed a divot

18· ·on the left?

19· · · · · A· · No.· And just a correction.· All of this

20· ·steroid injections I've given have been a variety of

21· ·different types of steroids not just Kenalog.· I use -- I

22· ·tend to like Celestone, but it's kind of like to-may-toes

23· ·and to-mat-os.

24· · · · · Q· · Thank you for clarifying, Doctor.· And in
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·1· ·your practice, have you had occasion to administer

·2· ·Kenalog injections to pediatric patients?

·3· · · · · A· · I don't think I've ever administered a

·4· ·Kenalog injection.· I've given steroids.· I've used IV

·5· ·steroids and other injectable steroids to pediatric

·6· ·patients but not Kenalog itself.

·7· · · · · Q· · And is it your understanding that Kenalog

·8· ·injections are generally safe to administer?

·9· · · · · A· · They're very safe.

10· · · · · Q· · And why do you say that?

11· · · · · A· · Well, it's a steroid.· Your body produces

12· ·very similar compounds to it.· The only thing about the

13· ·Kenalog is that it's bound to acetonide which is an agent

14· ·that kind of keeps it in its place so that it doesn't

15· ·become systematic and it makes its absorption more

16· ·gradual so when you give the injection, you kind of get a

17· ·low-level slow absorption of the medicine over many, many

18· ·days if not weeks.

19· · · · · Q· · And in this case, have you had occasion to

20· ·review the medical records that were produced by

21· ·Respondent, Dr. Nguyen?

22· · · · · A· · Yes, I have.

23· · · · · Q· · All right.· And in your review of medical

24· ·records, did you come to an opinion as to whether or not
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·1· ·Dr. Nguyen met the standard of care in prescribing

·2· ·Kenalog to Patient A?

·3· · · · · A· · Yes, he definitely met the standard of care

·4· ·easily.

·5· · · · · Q· · Please explain.

·6· · · · · A· · Again, the standard of care is what a

·7· ·reasonable doctor would do given similar circumstances.

·8· ·And in this particular case, we're in an urgent care

·9· ·setting where he doesn't really have the same advantage

10· ·that I do where he might know the patient and their

11· ·grandparents and everybody in the chain.· And so he

12· ·doesn't know exactly.

13· · · · · · · ·The mother sounds like she was very reliable

14· ·and presented herself very well today, but you don't

15· ·really know.· You don't have that advantage and are they

16· ·going to give the child the medicine, are they going to

17· ·administer it properly orally or are they going to forget

18· ·to do it.· All of those things, it's kind of hard to

19· ·tell.· So certainly giving an injection eliminates all of

20· ·those possibilities.

21· · · · · · · ·Also, I'm sure many of you have had

22· ·two-year-olds in trying to administer a medication, oral

23· ·medicine to two-year -olds can be very difficult.

24· ·They'll spit it out.· And then again, as Dr. Hall
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·1· ·mentioned, once they spit it out, it's really hard to

·2· ·know how much did they keep, how much did they spit out.

·3· ·So you create all of this, you know, this unknown.

·4· · · · · · · ·And then as he mentioned, Prednisone, oral

·5· ·Prednisone can cause nausea, can cause GI upset.· That's

·6· ·a very known common thing.· And so even if you succeed in

·7· ·getting the right amount down, they may just give it back

·8· ·to you a little later.· So the injection pretty much gets

·9· ·the job done.

10· · · · · · · ·And not only that, it's not completely clear

11· ·whether this young child had croup because we're trying

12· ·to construct what's going on based on history.· It's

13· ·possible that the child had some form of asthma.· And as

14· ·we know, asthma usually once you get an acute

15· ·exacerbation, you're entering like a 12-week window of

16· ·chronic asthmatics symptoms that will present with cough,

17· ·wheezing and other symptoms.· And again, to give this

18· ·little longer level of treatment is actually superior

19· ·than giving a short burst of steroids.

20· · · · · · · ·I think I had one other thought.· This is

21· ·also definitive treatment.· So again, a lot of times,

22· ·doctors, we're not completely sure what's going on.

23· ·We're thinking well, it could be croup.· It could be

24· ·asthma.· It could be a lot of other things.
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·1· · · · · · · ·And so if you provide definitive treatment

·2· ·and then the patient comes back or goes to see another

·3· ·doctor and they're not better, then that causes everybody

·4· ·to stop, look and listen and say well, maybe it's a

·5· ·foreign body.· Maybe the child has some other problem

·6· ·that we need to consider.· Maybe it's time for a chest

·7· ·x-ray.

·8· · · · · · · ·But if you don't provide definitive treatment

·9· ·well, maybe they didn't get enough steroid.· Maybe they

10· ·threw it up.· Let's try giving them an injection now and

11· ·you could possibly delay another diagnosis.· And so I

12· ·think the standard of care here was excellent.· I see no

13· ·question at all in terms of the care that was provided,

14· ·and it was probably superior than just giving oral

15· ·medication.

16· · · · · Q· · And I believe that, you know, there was also

17· ·some testimony regarding an oral Prednisone prescription.

18· ·In your experience, Doctor, do patients forget to fill

19· ·their prescriptions?

20· · · · · A· · Sometimes that happens.· Sometimes they

21· ·forget.· I mean, you know, this week, I forgot my

22· ·medicine.· And so yeah, that's a very common thing.· And

23· ·so that's a possibility.

24· · · · · Q· · And in a patient that's being seen in an
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·1· ·urgent care setting, you know, with a patient's parent,

·2· ·are there instances where a parent would try and fill a

·3· ·prescription but there might be a delay in getting her

·4· ·medication filled at the pharmacy?

·5· · · · · A· · That's always a possibility.· It could be,

·6· ·you know, insurance issues, stocking issues.· All kinds

·7· ·of things that can come up that would keep the patient

·8· ·from getting medication, plus there's also the

·9· ·misunderstanding factor.· Even though you say like oh,

10· ·five mL's once a day, well, maybe the parent doesn't know

11· ·what 5 mL's is, and maybe they're afraid to ask.· You

12· ·know, maybe it's the spouse that's going to give the

13· ·medicine and they really didn't get the message and

14· ·something could go wrong.

15· · · · · Q· · Gotcha.· And when you're testifying regarding

16· ·definitive treatment, in this case, based upon your

17· ·review of the records, did the patient have prior

18· ·hospitalization due to croup?

19· · · · · A· · That is my understanding, yes, and from the

20· ·testimony that I heard this morning as well.

21· · · · · Q· · And so when you're trying to use definitive

22· ·treatment, is the sort of rationale behind that to

23· ·provide coverage to avoid a potential hospitalization for

24· ·a patient?
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·1· · · · · A· · That's one of the main goals, yeah, prevent

·2· ·hospitalizations, severe disease and death.

·3· · · · · Q· · And in this case, have you seen any evidence

·4· ·that the Patient A had any sort of severe hospitalization

·5· ·or --

·6· · · · · A· · Not after this episode.

·7· · · · · Q· · -- death?· And, Doctor, would it be

·8· ·reasonable for a physician to have to rethink their

·9· ·initial treatment plan based upon additional information

10· ·provided by a patient's parent?

11· · · · · A· · Yes.

12· · · · · Q· · And in this case, as you've sat here today,

13· ·did you hear testimony that the patient's parent had

14· ·reported that she had not gotten better after having just

15· ·a normal dose of oral steroids for symptoms?

16· · · · · A· · That's what I understood.· Yes.

17· · · · · · · ·MS. BRADLEY:· You're really muffled all of a

18· ·sudden -- I'm not sure why -- the last part of that

19· ·question.

20· · · · · · · ·MS. BUYS:· Certainly.· And could you read it

21· ·back?· I apologize.

22· · · · · · · ·THE COURT REPORTER:· Sure.

23· · · · · (Requested portion read by the reporter.)

24· · · · · Q· · (BY MS. BUYS:)· And the same question,
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·1· ·Doctor.

·2· · · · · A· · Sorry.· I spaced out.

·3· · · · · Q· · And I'll rephrase as well, Doctor.· As you

·4· ·sat here today, did you hear evidence that the patient's

·5· ·parent had reported that she had not gotten better after

·6· ·an oral course of steroid prescriptions?

·7· · · · · A· · That's what I understood.· Yes.

·8· · · · · Q· · And would a reasonably prudent physician take

·9· ·the patient's parent at her word regarding that?

10· · · · · A· · That would be reasonable.

11· · · · · Q· · And why is that?

12· · · · · A· · Well, it certainly it's a logical possibility

13· ·in terms of yes, you gave them oral steroids and it

14· ·didn't work for whatever reason.· That's certainly a

15· ·logical possibility and wouldn't be surprising if that

16· ·would occur, so it's reasonable to believe them.

17· · · · · Q· · And in your experience, Doctor, would a

18· ·patient's parent have more knowledge about that

19· ·patient's, you know, medical conditions of course than,

20· ·say, someone in an urgent care facility seeing a patient

21· ·for the first time?

22· · · · · A· · Well, the question is, is he in a

23· ·different --

24· · · · · Q· · To clarify, and I'll rephrase.· If -- and
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·1· ·I'll strike that and I'll go in a different area, Doctor.

·2· ·In this case, have you seen or heard any testimony

·3· ·regarding what the dosage was for the Kenalog injection?

·4· · · · · A· · I understood that it was a total dosage of 20

·5· ·milligrams which would be well under the 1.6 milligram

·6· ·per kilogram recommended dose and that it was

·7· ·administrated by the right gluteal region.

·8· · · · · Q· · And in this case, was Patient A in a higher

·9· ·percentile for her weight when she presented on November

10· ·4th, 2016?

11· · · · · A· · Oh, yes.· She would have been in the 75th

12· ·percentile for a three-year-old.· So by percentile is you

13· ·line up 100 kids and, you know, where would they spread

14· ·out.· So she would be above the 50th percentile for a

15· ·three-year-old in terms of her weight.

16· · · · · Q· · And when determining whether to give an

17· ·injection in the lateral thigh or in the gluteal muscle,

18· ·do you take into account that patient's weight?

19· · · · · A· · Yes.

20· · · · · Q· · And what else do you take into account when

21· ·making that determination as to location of an injection?

22· · · · · A· · Well, maybe the idea is the size of the

23· ·gluteus muscle and that happens, begins to develop once

24· ·they walk.· So once they've been walking for a while, the
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·1· ·gluteus muscle is adequately developed.· So in a child

·2· ·that's under the age of walking and underweight, the

·3· ·gluteus muscle is not as well developed and there's the

·4· ·risk for gluteal atrophy which again is another very rare

·5· ·condition.

·6· · · · · Q· · And in this case, have you heard testimony

·7· ·that the patient, Patient A, was walking at the time she

·8· ·saw Dr. Nguyen?

·9· · · · · A· · Yes.

10· · · · · Q· · And based upon your review of the records and

11· ·the testimony you've heard, would it be fair to say that

12· ·you would expect that Patient A's gluteal muscle was well

13· ·developed on November 4th of 2016?

14· · · · · A· · I think it would be reasonable to conclude

15· ·that she had an adequate gluteal muscle based on her

16· ·weight, her age, and her walking history.

17· · · · · Q· · And, Doctor, there's also been opinions

18· ·regarding Dr. Nyugen's documentation in this case.· Is

19· ·there a difference between the standard of care and

20· ·standard of documentation?

21· · · · · A· · Yes, I believe there is.· There's a standard

22· ·of care is what actually happened, and then there are

23· ·standards for documentation that are independent of what

24· ·actually happened.
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·1· · · · · Q· · And is it the standard of care to document

·2· ·every single possible complication a patient may have

·3· ·from a steroid injection?

·4· · · · · A· · It is not.

·5· · · · · Q· · Why is that?

·6· · · · · A· · Number one, we usually give the major

·7· ·complications, the ones that would be more striking, but

·8· ·rare or uncommon complications we just don't go through

·9· ·those.

10· · · · · Q· · And in your practice, Doctor, have you ever

11· ·had occasion to give a patient a written consent form for

12· ·a steroid injection?

13· · · · · A· · No.

14· · · · · Q· · Why not?

15· · · · · A· · We always just do a verbal consent.· It's

16· ·pretty straightforward.· General risks are kind of like

17· ·Dr. Nguyen talked about:· Local irritation, redness,

18· ·possibility of infection, bleeding, bruising, allergic

19· ·reaction.· That's going to be for any injection.· That's

20· ·pretty common sense.· Most adults know what an injection

21· ·is, know it can happen.· Most adults understand when you

22· ·give an injection or even an oral medicine, you can have

23· ·an allergic reaction.· But we go over the top and explain

24· ·it to them anyways.
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·1· · · · · Q· · And in this case, did you see any reference

·2· ·in the documentation that you reviewed that Dr. Nguyen

·3· ·had received informed consent from the patient's parent

·4· ·before he administered a Kenalog injection?

·5· · · · · A· · Yeah, I think that was the statement there in

·6· ·his record that he received informed consent from the

·7· ·quote, unquote "patient" which in my mind, of course,

·8· ·language is very contextual, and I don't think anybody in

·9· ·their right mind could think that he spoke to the little

10· ·two-year-old and obtained informed consent.· It was

11· ·really referring to the patient's parents.

12· · · · · Q· · And based on your review of the records in

13· ·this case, Doctor, is it also your understanding that the

14· ·patient's medical history and symptoms were information

15· ·that was also provided by Patient A's parents?

16· · · · · A· · Right.

17· · · · · Q· · And in your practice or based upon your

18· ·practice, is it the standard of care to rely on a

19· ·pediatric patient parents to provide informed consent

20· ·before there is an injection?

21· · · · · A· · Every circumstance -- I think you might be

22· ·able to find an exception here or there, but for most

23· ·cases, yes.

24· · · · · Q· · And there was some reference to articles that
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·1· ·Dr. Hall relied upon in making his opinions regarding

·2· ·this case that refer to vaccinations.· Do you remember

·3· ·that?

·4· · · · · A· · Yes.

·5· · · · · Q· · Is there a difference between needing written

·6· ·consent for a vaccination versus a steroid injection?

·7· · · · · A· · In our practice for many years, we always do

·8· ·a written consent for vaccination.· I thought that was

·9· ·part of some code.· I mean, because there was a time when

10· ·we didn't do it.· Then all of a sudden they said hey, you

11· ·guys have to do a written consent for vaccination.  I

12· ·didn't argue.· I said fine.· We'll do that.· But I think

13· ·it was just some regulation or legislation that came out

14· ·that said you need to get a written.

15· · · · · · · ·And at the same time, here we have somebody

16· ·that's fine who you might make sick with a shot.· This is

17· ·the opposite.· You have somebody that's sick, you know,

18· ·you're hoping will get better.· And in this case,

19· ·certainly, she did get better.· So it's a little

20· ·different.

21· · · · · Q· · And in this case, Doctor, as you reviewed the

22· ·records and heard the testimony here today, have you seen

23· ·any evidence Patient A was given a steroid injection by

24· ·Dr. Nguyen on the left gluteal muscle?

http://www.litigationservices.com


Page 252
·1· · · · · A· · Not on the left.

·2· · · · · Q· · And there was also a discussion regarding

·3· ·documentation by medical assistants today.· Do you recall

·4· ·that testimony?

·5· · · · · A· · Yes.

·6· · · · · Q· · Is it within the standard of care for a

·7· ·physician to rely on a medical assistant to help document

·8· ·the expiration lot number and, you know, information from

·9· ·the vial?

10· · · · · A· · Yes, that's a daily occurrence in our office.

11· · · · · Q· · And is it also within the standard of care

12· ·for a physician to rely upon a medical assistant to

13· ·attempt to give a steroid injection?

14· · · · · A· · In some circumstances.· In this circumstance,

15· ·yes.· In some circumstances, no.

16· · · · · Q· · And have you had occasion to use electronic

17· ·health records in your practice?

18· · · · · A· · I've gone through five EMR systems in the

19· ·last like eight years, so I'm very familiar with it.

20· · · · · Q· · And in your experience with electronic health

21· ·records systems, can it sometimes autopopulate different

22· ·pieces of information?

23· · · · · A· · Yes.· They have little -- all kinds of little

24· ·things that happen in the background without you
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·1· ·specifically needing to include them.

·2· · · · · Q· · And just to clarify, when you were reviewing

·3· ·the records in this case as well, was it your

·4· ·understanding that there was only 20 milliliters per

·5· ·milligram of the Kenalog that was administered?

·6· · · · · A· · Well, I understood the Patient A received O.5

·7· ·milliliters, which is a half of a milliliter of Kenalog

·8· ·40, and so for a total of 20 milligrams of Kenalog.

·9· · · · · Q· · Thank you for clarifying the non-clinical

10· ·when I'm asking questions.· And so in your experience,

11· ·Doctor, and based upon your understanding, was it within

12· ·the standard of care for Dr. Nguyen to prescribe that

13· ·dosage of a Kenalog injection?

14· · · · · A· · That's a very reasonable dose.· It's what's

15· ·in my little handout for dosage for that age and weight.

16· · · · · Q· · And did you have an opportunity to review the

17· ·literature regarding, you know, potential muscle atrophy

18· ·or subcutaneous atrophy from a steroid injection?

19· · · · · A· · It's actually I don't think I -- I think I

20· ·saw something regarding muscle atrophy, but it's so

21· ·incredibly rare that it's just like hard to believe.· And

22· ·there was no evidence of muscle atrophy.· I think it

23· ·would have been -- if she had muscle atrophy, it would

24· ·have reared itself as a gait disturbance, and there was
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·1· ·no mention by anybody or --

·2· · · · · · · ·MS. BRADLEY:· I'm going to object.· He's

·3· ·saying there's no evidence of muscle atrophy.· He's not

·4· ·saying which side, and I think it misstates what's in the

·5· ·record.· We have an exhibit showing an injury that

·6· ·appears to be muscle atrophy or some sort of atrophy.

·7· · · · · · · ·THE WITNESS:· So yeah, it's the preponderance

·8· ·of the evidence there would be that it is subcutaneous

·9· ·fat atrophy.· And if it was muscle atrophy, you would

10· ·expect to hear complaints of a gait disturbance because

11· ·the muscle is involved in gait, and so those things are

12· ·readily apparent even to the parent.

13· · · · · · · ·Hey, my kids is limping, you know.· Why is my

14· ·kid limping?· And so, you know, there was no mention of

15· ·that either by Dr. Hall or by the parent.· And again,

16· ·it's a very rare event, so there would be no reason to

17· ·suspect that muscle atrophy actually occurred.

18· · · · · Q· · (BY MS. BUYS:)· And it's relevant to draw the

19· ·distinction between muscle atrophy versus subcutaneous

20· ·atrophy as well as what the records that have been

21· ·disclosed indicate?

22· · · · · A· · So skin, fat, fascia, muscle.· So there's the

23· ·skin on the outside, there's the fat underneath, there's

24· ·the covering of the muscle, and then there's the muscle
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·1· ·itself.· So that's just the usual anatomic layer.

·2· · · · · Q· · And, Doctor, are you aware of any FDA

·3· ·guidance that would have been in effect in 2016 where a

·4· ·Kenalog injection is recommended to be administered to

·5· ·the patient's body?

·6· · · · · A· · I saw the ones that you guys provided.· Well,

·7· ·actually, who provided those?· I'm not sure if you guys

·8· ·provided them or they provided them.

·9· · · · · · · ·MS. BUYS:· Certainly.· And let me clarify,

10· ·Doctor.· I'm going to draw your attention to Respondent's

11· ·exhibit, and I'll pull that up for you.· Actually, we

12· ·have the wrong binder, so let me go grab the correct

13· ·binder.· And I'm just going to put in front of you for

14· ·the record, it was Respondent's Exhibit Bates stamped BMS

15· ·underscore (2011) 00001 through 20.

16· · · · · · · ·MS. BRADLEY:· Do you have an Exhibit Number?

17· ·Because I don't --

18· · · · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· It's going to be

19· ·Respondent's Exhibit 11.

20· · · · · · · ·MS. BRADLEY:· Eleven.· Okay.

21· · · · · Q· · (BY MS. BUYS:)· Thank you.· And, Doctor,

22· ·based upon the FDA guidance that was provided and in

23· ·effect in 2016, was there a recommendation of the

24· ·location for a Kenalog injection?
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·1· · · · · A· · Yes, there was.

·2· · · · · Q· · And where was that location?

·3· · · · · A· · Lateral gluteus.

·4· · · · · Q· · And in this case, have you seen evidence that

·5· ·there was an injection in the gluteal muscle of Kenalog?

·6· · · · · A· · Yes, that's what the record reflects --

·7· · · · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· Before you move

·8· ·on --

·9· · · · · · · ·THE WITNESS:· -- and the testimony.

10· · · · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· Thank you.· You

11· ·referred to Exhibit 11 saying that, but where in Exhibit

12· ·11, please?

13· · · · · · · ·MS. BUYS:· Certainly.· I believe it's on

14· ·Bates stamp number 17.

15· · · · · · · ·MS. BRADLEY:· I think it's under dosage

16· ·systematic, and then it says the suggested.

17· · · · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· Yeah.· That's page

18· ·17.· Thank you.

19· · · · · Q· · (BY MS. BUYS:)· Thank you.· In the bold

20· ·print.· Now, Doctor, is it the standard of care for a

21· ·physician to have to review the medical literature every

22· ·time he sees a patient?

23· · · · · A· · Absolutely not.

24· · · · · Q· · And is it the standard of care for a
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·1· ·physician to review literature that hasn't even been

·2· ·written yet before he sees a patient?

·3· · · · · A· · That's a pretty obvious question.· Absolutely

·4· ·not.

·5· · · · · Q· · And based on the documents that you've

·6· ·reviewed, which is Respondent's FDA guidance as well as I

·7· ·believe the Investigative Committee's guidance, would you

·8· ·say that the FDA guidance in effect at the time was not

·9· ·the revised guidance that was written in 2018?

10· · · · · A· · I'd have to go through that, but I think

11· ·that's the case.· Yeah, certainly.· Yes.· It doesn't

12· ·matter because 2018 is yet a future date from the time of

13· ·the event.

14· · · · · Q· · Gotcha.· And looking at the FDA guidance that

15· ·was in effect that was written in 2011, which I believe

16· ·is at -- get the Bates stamp.· It's Bates stamp BMS

17· ·(2011) 00014.

18· · · · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· And for the

19· ·record, that's Respondent's Exhibit 11.

20· · · · · Q· · (BY MS. BUYS:)· All right.· Thank you very

21· ·much.· And, Doctor, based on that documentation on that

22· ·page, was the FDA approving the use of Kenalog injections

23· ·for medications as of 2011?

24· · · · · A· · Yes.
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·1· · · · · Q· · And based upon your testimony here today, is

·2· ·it fair to say that it's your opinion that it was within

·3· ·the standard of care to prescribe a Kenalog injection to

·4· ·a patient, a pediatric patient?

·5· · · · · A· · Yes, it is.

·6· · · · · Q· · Even though Patient A had also received a

·7· ·prescription for a steroid; is that correct?

·8· · · · · A· · I did some quick math on that.· You can use

·9· ·four times the dose of Prednisone in the hospital or

10· ·equivalent Prednisone because they're a little bit

11· ·different.· They have their different equivalents.· You

12· ·can use four times the dose on a given day.

13· · · · · · · ·And again, the child is not going to absorb

14· ·all of the 20 milligrams on that day.· It's going to be

15· ·spread out over weeks.· So if you have a child in the

16· ·hospital and you need to give them an equivalent steroid

17· ·that's more rapid acting, you can go up to four times the

18· ·dose.· So we've got all kinds of room here.· There's no

19· ·argument -- there's no reasonable argument here that

20· ·somehow we're overdosing or that Dr. Nguyen was

21· ·overdosing the patient with Prednisone.· It's just

22· ·there's just no reason why.

23· · · · · Q· · Gotcha.· And is it within the standard of

24· ·care for a reasonable physician to rely on a third-party
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·1· ·medical records retrieval company to assist them in

·2· ·responding to a request for a patient's records?

·3· · · · · A· · Yes.

·4· · · · · Q· · In your practice, is that something that is

·5· ·common?

·6· · · · · A· · Yes.

·7· · · · · Q· · And in this case, you've reviewed

·8· ·Dr. Nyugen's documentation.· Is that correct?

·9· · · · · A· · Yes, I have.

10· · · · · Q· · Is it your opinion that Dr. Nguyen met the

11· ·standard of care in his documentation?

12· · · · · A· · Yeah, he met the standard for doc -- well,

13· ·what's reflected within his documentation is solidly

14· ·within the standard of care, and his documentation is

15· ·also solidly within the standards of documentation.

16· · · · · Q· · And you've heard Dr. Nguyen testify as to the

17· ·risks, benefits and alternatives to treatment that he

18· ·recalled telling Patient A and her parents.· Is that

19· ·correct?

20· · · · · A· · Yes.

21· · · · · Q· · And is it within the standard of care -- is

22· ·it the standard of care that Dr. Nguyen disclosed those

23· ·particular risks and benefits and alternatives to

24· ·treatment?
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·1· · · · · A· · Yes.

·2· · · · · Q· · And, Doctor, have all of the opinions you've

·3· ·given today been by a preponderance of the evidence?

·4· · · · · A· · Yes.

·5· · · · · · · ·MS. BUYS:· All right.· And then I will review

·6· ·my notes but defer to Ms. Bradley regarding

·7· ·cross-examination.

·8· · · · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· I just want to

·9· ·note for the record that there was no objection placed,

10· ·but whether that standard is met is up to me.· All right.

11· ·Thank you.· Did you have anything further for this

12· ·witness?

13· · · · · · · ·MS. BUYS:· Not at this time.· I'm just

14· ·reviewing my notes.

15· · · · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· Thank you.

16· · · · · · · ·MS. BUYS:· And I do actually have one other

17· ·question if I may.

18· · · · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· Sure.· Of course.

19· · · · · Q· · (BY MS. BUYS:)· Thank you.· Dr. Anorga, do

20· ·you have patients sometimes forget some of the side

21· ·effects that you've mentioned to them?

22· · · · · A· · Yes.· I think I've heard statistics of

23· ·patients probably remember about 50 percent of what we

24· ·tell them.· That doesn't seem unusually different from my
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·1· ·experience.

·2· · · · · · · ·MS. BUYS:· Thank you very much, Doctor.  I

·3· ·appreciate that.

·4· · · · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· Did you have any

·5· ·cross?

·6· · · · · · · ·MS. BRADLEY:· Yeah.

·7

·8· · · · · · · · · · ·CROSS-EXAMINATION

·9· ·BY MS. BRADLEY:

10· · · · · Q· · Dr. Angora, are you being paid a fee to

11· ·appear here today by Dr. Nguyen?

12· · · · · A· · I'm not sure exactly who it is that's paying

13· ·me, but yes, I am being paid a fee.

14· · · · · Q· · And what are you being paid?

15· · · · · A· · $4,000 for today.

16· · · · · Q· · Are you licensed in Nevada?

17· · · · · A· · I'm not.

18· · · · · Q· · Have you ever been licensed in Nevada?

19· · · · · A· · I have not.

20· · · · · Q· · And I'm looking at your CV.· Let me turn to

21· ·it.· I believe the most recent professional experience,

22· ·there's two listed sort of toward the top of the second

23· ·page of your CV.· One says private practice, 1988 to

24· ·February 2017.· Is that accurate?
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·1· · · · · A· · Yeah, that was with my own private practice.

·2· · · · · Q· · Okay.· And then I see Torrance Memorial

·3· ·Physician Network, 2017 to 2020.· January 2020.· Is that

·4· ·accurate?

·5· · · · · A· · That is correct.· Yes.

·6· · · · · Q· · So are you doing clinical practice at this

·7· ·time?

·8· · · · · A· · Yes, I am.

·9· · · · · Q· · Oh, maybe that next one.· Kind of hard to see

10· ·here because there's occupational and health physician.

11· ·Is that where you're currently practicing?

12· · · · · A· · No.· I'm working at Beach Cities Orthopedic.

13· · · · · Q· · I don't see that on here.· Could you tell us

14· ·that again?

15· · · · · A· · Oh, let's see.· Yeah.· It's right there.

16· ·It's the third line:· Professional experience.

17· · · · · Q· · Yeah.

18· · · · · A· · Beach Cities Orthopedics and Sports Medicine.

19· ·2990 Lomita Boulevard, Suite B, Torrance, California.

20· · · · · Q· · I don't see a date there.· Okay.· So Beach

21· ·Cities.

22· · · · · A· · That's my current employment.· From 2020

23· ·until now, that's my current employment.· Sorry.

24· · · · · Q· · And then I do see that there's occupational
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·1· ·health physician.· Are you not doing that then for

·2· ·Allied --

·3· · · · · A· · I am still doing six hours of occupational

·4· ·health for a company called Torrance Refining, and so I

·5· ·do some oversight work there as well.

·6· · · · · Q· · And how --

·7· · · · · A· · It may not be on there.

·8· · · · · Q· · And how many hours a week do you do at Beach

·9· ·Cities Orthopedics?

10· · · · · A· · Thirty-two.

11· · · · · Q· · Thirty-two.· Okay.

12· · · · · A· · That's -- I'm seeing patients.· That doesn't

13· ·include all of my administrative time finishing up notes,

14· ·calling patients.· Probably far more than that.

15· · · · · Q· · Sure.· So you're still doing clinical

16· ·practice then, it's fair to say?

17· · · · · A· · Yes, I'm definitely working more than full

18· ·time.

19· · · · · · · ·MS. BRADLEY:· If we turn to the Board's

20· ·Exhibit 6, which I think should be there somewhere, there

21· ·was a binder.· I'm not sure it's in that folder because I

22· ·think that's the Respondent's exhibits, and I know we had

23· ·this issue earlier because I believe we provided one for

24· ·witnesses.
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·1· · · · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· Just maybe clarify

·2· ·it's the pictures.

·3· · · · · · · ·MS. BRADLEY:· Yeah, it's the pictures.

·4· · · · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· Because they

·5· ·didn't have their own marking.

·6· · · · · Q· · (BY MS. BRADLEY:)· Do you see those there?

·7· · · · · · · ·MS. BUYS:· I think it's a different binder.

·8· · · · · · · ·MS. BRADLEY:· Okay.

·9· · · · · · · ·MS. BUYS:· It's over here.

10· · · · · · · ·MS. BRADLEY:· Yeah, because we had one for

11· ·our exhibits and one for yours that we had for the

12· ·witnesses, so somehow the Board one seems to have gone

13· ·missing.

14· · · · · · · ·MS. BUYS:· Just on a different table.

15· · · · · · · ·MS. BRADLEY:· Okay.

16· · · · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· Well, let me ask

17· ·because there was a binder that was supposed to be the

18· ·exhibits that wasn't, and then the pictures were used

19· ·independently.· So was there a binder made at lunch?

20· · · · · · · ·MS. BRADLEY:· There was a binder made

21· ·yesterday, and I don't know what happened, but --

22· · · · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· Well, Ms. Buys had

23· ·that binder, and she wrote in it.

24· · · · · · · ·MS. BRADLEY:· Yeah.· I was under the
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·1· ·impression she was bringing --

·2· · · · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· I just want to

·3· ·make sure he's not being given a binder with something

·4· ·that isn't exhibits.

·5· · · · · · · ·MS. BRADLEY:· Yeah.

·6· · · · · · · ·MS. BUYS:· No.· The binder that was given was

·7· ·over on this additional table away from --

·8· · · · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· Right.

·9· · · · · · · ·MS. BUYS:· -- respondent and had the pages

10· ·taken out.· I believe that's what we had stipulated to

11· ·earlier, that that was Exhibit 6 after we reviewed it.

12· · · · · · · ·MS. BRADLEY:· Okay.

13· · · · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· I don't recall

14· ·that.

15· · · · · Q· · (BY MS. BRADLEY:)· Well, so, Dr. Anorga,

16· ·you're looking at a binder.· It's hard to see.· We can't

17· ·see the whole binder in this photo or on our screen.

18· ·Okay.· Is that a picture?· It should be.· What I'm hoping

19· ·you're looking at is Exhibit 6.· That's a photo.

20· · · · · A· · I have those right here.· Yes.

21· · · · · · · ·MS. BRADLEY:· Okay.

22· · · · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· So they're not in

23· ·the binder.· So I think that binder was the one that

24· ·we've removed from the table because it wasn't properly
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·1· ·there.

·2· · · · · · · ·So since you have the pictures, I just want

·3· ·to make sure you don't have anything in front of you that

·4· ·you're not supposed to.· So I want to put that binder to

·5· ·the side, if we could, because I don't know what's in

·6· ·there.· Thank you.

·7· · · · · Q· · (BY MS. BRADLEY:)· So, Dr. Anorga, what

·8· ·you're looking at is a copy of what's been admitted as

·9· ·the Board's Exhibit 6, and there should be two different

10· ·pages.· For me, they're labeled NSB 017 and NSB 018.

11· ·Yours may not be labeled because I think we had to print

12· ·them earlier, but are you seeing two photos?

13· · · · · A· · I have two photos.

14· · · · · Q· · Okay.· And if you look at those photos, there

15· ·appears to be an injury on the left side of the child's

16· ·buttocks.· Would you agree with me?

17· · · · · A· · Yes, in the left lateral gluteal region.

18· · · · · Q· · And do you have any idea what might have

19· ·caused that injury?

20· · · · · A· · Possibly could be a spontaneous

21· ·lipodystrophy.· It could be a posttraumatic

22· ·lipodystrophy.· It could be as a result of an injection.

23· · · · · Q· · Okay.· So it could be the result of an

24· ·injection.
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·1· · · · · A· · Could be.

·2· · · · · Q· · So you've testified today that you believe

·3· ·that the injection in this case occurred on the right

·4· ·side of the Patient A; is that correct?

·5· · · · · A· · That seems to be what the medical record

·6· ·documents, what the testimony documents.

·7· · · · · Q· · One second.· We've got a weird message on our

·8· ·video.

·9· · · · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· If for some reason

10· ·we lose you, we have a message that says "This call has

11· ·exceeded the maximum time.· Call in."

12· · · · · · · · ·(Brief interruption.)

13· · · · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· Sorry about that.

14· ·We had a message we might be disconnected, and as I was

15· ·explaining that to you that we will call you back if that

16· ·happens, we got disconnected.· But we are back on the

17· ·record now.· Well, we haven't gone off the record.· We're

18· ·back on video, I guess I should say.

19· · · · · Q· · (BY MS. BRADLEY:)· So, Dr. Anorga, your

20· ·testimony was that you believe that the injection in this

21· ·case was in Patient A's right-hand side or right side?

22· · · · · A· · Yes, I think that's what was documented and

23· ·also Dr. Nyugen's recollection.· Yes.

24· · · · · Q· · Okay.· Have you ever seen an instance where
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·1· ·the medical records don't match what actually happened?

·2· · · · · A· · That is correct.· Yeah.· And I think in

·3· ·response to that, I would say that even if there was some

·4· ·-- I'm sorry?· Even if there was some left/right

·5· ·documentation error, it still does not warrant a

·6· ·deviation from the standard of care or warrant anything

·7· ·to have to do with informed consent.

·8· · · · · Q· · Okay.· I didn't ask you that, but okay.

·9· · · · · A· · Just trying to make it easier.

10· · · · · Q· · All right.· Thanks.· I appreciate your help.

11· ·You testified that you believe that the patient had been

12· ·hospitalized prior due to croup.· Where are you getting

13· ·that information?

14· · · · · A· · Good question.· I thought I heard it from the

15· ·testimony sometime today.

16· · · · · Q· · Okay.· Is it documented in the medical

17· ·records?

18· · · · · A· · I'd have to look and see.· I didn't memorize

19· ·them.

20· · · · · Q· · You can look at Exhibit 5 for the Respondent.

21· ·That's probably a more complete set of medical records or

22· ·you can look at Exhibit 5 for the Board.

23· · · · · A· · I don't think that was hospitalizations.· The

24· ·medical records said croup.
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·1· · · · · Q· · Yeah.· I see.· Are you looking at HCP 0002?

·2· · · · · A· · Exactly.

·3· · · · · Q· · Okay.· And it says patient had croup twice

·4· ·already with last one seven months ago.· Is that what

·5· ·you're looking at?

·6· · · · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· Can we clarify

·7· ·which exhibit and which page that is?

·8· · · · · Q· · (BY MS. BRADLEY:)· It's Respondent's Exhibit

·9· ·5, HCP 0002.· At least that's what I think he's looking

10· ·at.· Is that correct, Dr. Anorga?

11· · · · · A· · That is correct.· Yes.

12· · · · · Q· · Okay.· Does it say hospitalization for the

13· ·croup?

14· · · · · A· · It does not say hospitalization.

15· · · · · Q· · Okay.· And is it documented in the record

16· ·that the patient previously did not get better after

17· ·taking just oral steroids from croup?

18· · · · · A· · It does not.· I don't see that.

19· · · · · Q· · And earlier, you testified that if you were

20· ·going to give a steroid injection that you would take the

21· ·weight of the patient into account for the location of

22· ·the shot.· Is that documented that Dr. Nguyen made a

23· ·judgment similar to what you might make in this record?

24· · · · · A· · Well, the weight is documented in the chart,
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·1· ·so it would be reasonable whether it be through

·2· ·discursive processes or through just direct apprehension

·3· ·to be able to decide to give a shot like this.

·4· · · · · Q· · So you're saying that because he documented

·5· ·the way you think then that he would have taken that into

·6· ·account when deciding where the shot should be given?

·7· · · · · A· · I did not get into his mind, but it would be

·8· ·my testimony would be that it would be based on the

·9· ·child's weight and the other historical factors that we

10· ·mentioned.· And if the child was resisting a glut, a

11· ·thigh injection, that this was reasonable.· That is my

12· ·testimony.

13· · · · · Q· · Okay.· And you testified earlier that you

14· ·believe Dr. Nguyen met the standard of care for

15· ·documentation.· Do you know what that standard of care is

16· ·in Nevada?

17· · · · · A· · Well, standard of care for documentation

18· ·would be that the note would reflect the major points of

19· ·the visit.

20· · · · · · · ·MS. BRADLEY:· Okay.

21· · · · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· Sorry, but can you

22· ·just scoot over?· It would be to your left because you're

23· ·just a little tiny bit cut off on my screen.

24· · · · · · · ·THE WITNESS:· There we go.· Okay.
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·1· · · · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· Your left.· Thank

·2· ·you.· I appreciate that.

·3· · · · · Q· · (BY MS. BRADLEY:)· Are you aware that Nevada

·4· ·law provides a requirement for physicians in maintaining

·5· ·records under --

·6· · · · · A· · Absolutely.

·7· · · · · Q· · Okay.· And so could you tell us what the

·8· ·requirement is?

·9· · · · · A· · I probably couldn't quote it.· No.

10· · · · · Q· · If I told you that Nevada law requires that

11· ·physicians maintain timely, legible, accurate and

12· ·complete medical records relating to the diagnosis,

13· ·treatment and care of a patient, does that sound like an

14· ·appropriate --

15· · · · · A· · That sounds perfectly reasonable.

16· · · · · Q· · And your belief is that the records in this

17· ·case are timely; is that true?

18· · · · · A· · Yes, I do.

19· · · · · Q· · It's your opinion that the records in this

20· ·case are legible?

21· · · · · A· · Yes, they are.

22· · · · · Q· · Okay.· It's your opinion that the records are

23· ·accurate?

24· · · · · A· · They appear to be accurate, yes, to a
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·1· ·reasonable degree.

·2· · · · · Q· · Okay.· So does that mean there are some

·3· ·inconsistencies in the records?

·4· · · · · A· · No.· It just means that not every detail in

·5· ·any medical record is fully documented, and so there's a

·6· ·reasonable degree of documentation that entails your goal

·7· ·of being accurate.

·8· · · · · Q· · Well, I think so you're answering the wrong

·9· ·question because accuracy implies that it's correct.· The

10· ·next thing I was going to ask you about is completeness.

11· ·So are you saying the records in this case are accurate

12· ·in every instance?

13· · · · · A· · They're reasonably accurate.· Yes.

14· · · · · Q· · Okay.· So you're saying there maybe are some

15· ·instances where they're not accurate.· Is that fair?

16· · · · · A· · Again, I think there is a dispute as to

17· ·whether this was a right/left issue.· And if that

18· ·occurred, then it's possible that it occurred.· I'm not

19· ·convinced that that occurred, but is that logically

20· ·possible?· Yes.· Does that fall below the standard of

21· ·care?· No.· Does it fall -- Does it not meet some

22· ·standard of documentation? Perhaps.

23· · · · · Q· · But would you agree there also is a

24· ·discrepancy at least regarding the administration record
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·1· ·regarding who provided the injection?

·2· · · · · · · ·MS. BUYS:· Objection.· Misstates testimony.

·3· · · · · · · ·BY MS. BRADLEY:· Okay.· Well, let's look at

·4· ·Exhibit 12 from Respondent or my 13 -- I'm sorry.· I keep

·5· ·doing the wrong one.

·6· · · · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· It's going to be

·7· ·Respondent's Exhibit 12.

·8· · · · · Q· · (BY MS. BRADLEY:)· Respondent's Exhibit 12,

·9· ·and it's med admin detail 00001.· Have you seen this

10· ·before?· Oh, what are you looking at there?· Is that an

11· ·electronic copy?

12· · · · · A· · These are electronic copies, so where would

13· ·you like for me to look so I can help you?

14· · · · · Q· · I just want you to look at the Respondent's

15· ·Exhibit 12, and the title of that document is,

16· ·"Medication Administration Details."

17· · · · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· It should be in

18· ·the binder next to you.

19· · · · · Q· · (BY MS. BRADLEY:)· Yeah.· I believe it's in

20· ·one of the binders there.· Hopefully, it's Tab 12.

21· · · · · A· · I think that there is a frame shift

22· ·alteration in all of the records here.· Just kind of

23· ·curious because 12 here is -- Exhibit 12 in this binder

24· ·is -- it has to do with the details regarding Kenalog.
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·1· · · · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· Yeah, it's

·2· ·probably 11 because what happened was at the beginning of

·3· ·the hearing, we marked an exhibit as 1 and did not and so

·4· ·they're all one off.

·5· · · · · · · ·MS. BRADLEY:· That might be also be the

·6· ·Board's ones.

·7· · · · · · · ·THE WITNESS:· Eleven for me is "Comparison of

·8· ·Corticosteroids for Treatment of Respiratory Syncytial

·9· ·Virus."· I'm sorry.

10· · · · · · · ·MS. BRADLEY:· It's Respondent Exhibit 12.

11· ·Perhaps is it in the binder in front of you?· I'm kind of

12· ·confused because I can't really see what binders you're

13· ·looking at.

14· · · · · · · ·MS. BUYS:· May I approach the witness just to

15· ·see if I could help clarify the binder situation?

16· · · · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· Yes.· Yes.· That

17· ·would be great.

18· · · · · · · ·THE WITNESS:· Is it okay to look at this

19· ·other binder?· I know there was some concern about me

20· ·looking at the other binder.

21· · · · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· I don't know what

22· ·binder that is.

23· · · · · · · ·MS. BRADLEY:· Maybe Ms. Buys can help us find

24· ·-- Oh, I think she's got it right there.
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·1· · · · · · · ·MS. BUYS:· And this binder in front of Dr.

·2· ·Anorga reads:· "Respondent's Formal Hearing Exhibits, the

·3· ·Investigative Committee of the Nevada State Board of

·4· ·Medical Examiners" on the title.

·5· · · · · · · ·Would you like me to move that out of the

·6· ·front of the doctor, Ms. Bradley?

·7· · · · · · · ·MS. BRADLEY:· Yes.· If you could give it to

·8· ·Ms. Barbieri in the back, that would be awesome.· Thank

·9· ·you.

10· · · · · · · ·MS. BUYS:· May I also remove the photographs

11· ·that I believe we had stated were Exhibit 6 of the IC?

12· · · · · · · ·MS. BRADLEY:· Yeah.· I don't think we need

13· ·that at this point.

14· · · · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· Thank you, Ms.

15· ·Buys.

16· · · · · · · ·MS. BUYS:· Thank you.· And then just to

17· ·clarify as well, right in front of Dr. Anorga, I believe

18· ·we have what has been stipulated to as Respondent's

19· ·Exhibit Number 13, and it's Bates stamped med admin

20· ·details 0001.· Is that the document you would like,

21· ·Ms. Bradley?

22· · · · · · · ·MS. BRADLEY:· That is what I would like him

23· ·to look at.· I think Madame Hearing Officer and I both

24· ·had that listed as 12, but okay.
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·1· · · · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· Just so you know

·2· ·for the record, I'm working from the set of exhibits that

·3· ·were marked.· I'll provide them to the court reporter to

·4· ·go with hers, and so because the exhibit you're

·5· ·referencing was marked as Respondent's Exhibit 12, that's

·6· ·how it will be marked on the record for reference so it

·7· ·corresponds with my marked documents.· So even if he's

·8· ·looking at one that says something different, it will be

·9· ·correct as marked in the record because we're still

10· ·referring to the same thing.

11· · · · · · · ·MS. BUYS:· Thank you for clarifying that,

12· ·Madame Hearing Officer.

13· · · · · Q· · (BY MS. BRADLEY:)· So have you seen this

14· ·before, Dr. Anorga?

15· · · · · A· · I'm not certain that I have.· I read a lot of

16· ·documents.

17· · · · · Q· · Does it purport to be a medical record for

18· ·Patient A?

19· · · · · A· · It appears to be a combination of it has some

20· ·billing information on there, it has the charges, it has

21· ·some administrative, so I don't know if this is an actual

22· ·looks like a combination of both billing and medication

23· ·which there is some overlap.

24· · · · · Q· · Okay.· Well, at the top, it says:
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·1· ·"Medication Administration Details."· Do you see that?

·2· · · · · A· · Yes.

·3· · · · · Q· · Okay.· And I believe that the Respondent has

·4· ·provided this to show that there was a record of a shot

·5· ·that was provided to Patient A which included the lot

·6· ·number, the expiration of that vial.· Do you see that

·7· ·there in the middle?

·8· · · · · A· · Yes, I do.

·9· · · · · Q· · Okay.· And if you look at the admin by, do

10· ·you see a name there?

11· · · · · A· · I do.

12· · · · · Q· · And what's that name?

13· · · · · A· · Chanel Hampton.

14· · · · · Q· · Okay.· And what would "admin by" mean to you

15· ·if you were just reading that?

16· · · · · A· · It could mean administered by.

17· · · · · Q· · Okay.· And so in this case, do you know

18· ·whether or not Ms. Hampton provided the injection?

19· · · · · A· · I think we just heard Dr. Nyugen's testimony

20· ·that he provided the injection, and we also saw

21· ·documentation in the medical record that he documented

22· ·that he provided the injection.

23· · · · · Q· · So then it sounds like this record is

24· ·inconsistent with the other records that we have for this
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·1· ·case then.

·2· · · · · A· · Yes, on the surface it does but again, I'd

·3· ·have to have probably a little bit more information about

·4· ·how this record was generated and so forth.

·5· · · · · · · ·MS. BRADLEY:· Okay.

·6· · · · · · · ·MS. BUYS:· And I'd like to lodge a late

·7· ·objection.· Calls for the speculation.

·8· · · · · · · ·MS. BRADLEY:· Okay.· I apologize.· What

·9· ·question calls for speculation?· Whether or not

10· ·Ms. Hampton did the injection?· What did I ask that was

11· ·speculative?· I don't remember.

12· · · · · · · ·MS. BUYS:· The last sentence.· I believe if

13· ·the court reporter reads it back, the question was

14· ·whether or not this is inconsistent with the

15· ·documentation.

16· · · · · · · ·MS. BRADLEY:· Okay.· I don't think it

17· ·speculates because we have information that's been

18· ·admitted that says that Dr. Nguyen provided the

19· ·injection.· And if this says someone else provided the

20· ·injection, I mean, would that not be inconsistent to you

21· ·then, Dr. Anorga?

22· · · · · · · ·THE WITNESS:· If that what's referred to as

23· ·this -- was that the injection was administered by Chanel

24· ·Hampton, then that would be inconsistent, yes.
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·1· · · · · Q· · (BY MS. BRADLEY:)· All right.· Thank you.· Do

·2· ·you see the date and time at the top?· Not at the top.

·3· ·Right above Ms. Hampton's name.· Can you read that date

·4· ·for us?

·5· · · · · A· · November 4, 2016.

·6· · · · · Q· · Yeah.· Then there's a time.· Do you see that?

·7· · · · · A· · Yes.

·8· · · · · Q· · What time does it say?

·9· · · · · A· · 06:56 p.m.

10· · · · · Q· · Okay.· Earlier, you testified that the

11· ·documentation for this case said that Dr. Nguyen obtained

12· ·informed consent.· Can you show me where informed consent

13· ·is contained in the medical records?

14· · · · · A· · Well, there is the progress note that I've

15· ·got back and forth here already.· "Patient agrees with

16· ·treatment and plan, verbalizes understanding."

17· · · · · Q· · But I think your testimony was that he

18· ·obtained informed consent.· So nowhere on this documents

19· ·does it say informed consent.· Would you agree with me?

20· · · · · A· · So you're equivocating between literal and

21· ·figurative.· So I would say this figuratively includes

22· ·the idea of informed consent, plus we also have his

23· ·testimony.

24· · · · · Q· · Okay.· And would you agree with me that
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·1· ·informed consent is not the same as consent?

·2· · · · · A· · Yes.

·3· · · · · Q· · Okay.· You testified that patients remember

·4· ·approximately 50 percent of what doctors tell them,

·5· ·you've read.· Do you think that might be a reason why

·6· ·careful documentation is important as a physician?

·7· · · · · A· · In what sense do you mean?· In terms of the

·8· ·actual care that was provided or in terms of defending

·9· ·yourself against an accusation?

10· · · · · Q· · Both.

11· · · · · · · ·MS. BUYS:· And I'll just object as it

12· ·misstates the standard of care.

13· · · · · Q· · (BY MS. BRADLEY:)· Well, my question to

14· ·Dr. Anorga was you testified that you've read a study

15· ·that says patients remember approximately 50 percent of

16· ·what we tell them.· Is that not true?

17· · · · · A· · Yeah, I've heard that.· I'm not sure exactly

18· ·where I remember reading that.· It's not unreasonable to

19· ·believe that there is a lot -- there is a lot of what we

20· ·tell patients that they just don't either understand it

21· ·or they're thinking of something else or they're

22· ·distracted or that they just by the time they leave

23· ·forget.

24· · · · · Q· · Okay.· The question was whether or not you
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·1· ·remember saying that, so thank you for that explanation.

·2· ·So because that is likely true, is that not a reason that

·3· ·documentation in patient records might be important?

·4· · · · · A· · In a sense, yes.· In a sense, no.

·5· · · · · Q· · Okay.· Can you explain the in a sense yes?

·6· · · · · A· · In a sense, yes, certainly for medical/legal

·7· ·reasons, it's very important to document all of those

·8· ·things in detail.· In terms of prospective care, it

·9· ·probably has minimal if any relevance in terms of like

10· ·the future care that the patient is going to get.· It may

11· ·have some small impact on it, but it would be relatively

12· ·minor.

13· · · · · · · ·MS. BRADLEY:· Okay.· I have no further

14· ·questions.

15

16· · · · · · · · · · · ·REDIRECT EXAMINATION

17· ·BY MS. BUYS:

18· · · · · Q· · Doctor, you're aware you're still under oath;

19· ·correct?

20· · · · · A· · Yes.

21· · · · · Q· · I believe Ms. Bradley asked you a question

22· ·regarding the fee that you have received coming to

23· ·testify here today.· Do you recall that?

24· · · · · A· · Yes, I do.
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·1· · · · · Q· · All right.· And is that fee supposed to go

·2· ·and compensate you for time away from treating patients?

·3· · · · · A· · Yes.

·4· · · · · Q· · And I believe there was also some testimony

·5· ·regarding whether or not there was any evidence that the

·6· ·patient's daughter had been admitted to the hospital

·7· ·prior to November 4th of 2016 for croup.· Do you, as you

·8· ·sit here today, did you hear earlier that the patient's

·9· ·mother had testified that her daughter had been

10· ·hospitalized prior to November 4th, 2016?

11· · · · · A· · That was my understanding, yes.

12· · · · · Q· · And I believe you were also just asked a

13· ·question by Ms. Bradley as to whether or not

14· ·documentation, you know, was important and your response

15· ·was:· Yes and no.· Can you please explain the no?

16· · · · · A· · Well, the reality is that medical records

17· ·have become incredibly voluminous, and we do not have the

18· ·ability to go back and review all of these medical

19· ·records every time we walk in a room to see a patient.

20· · · · · · · ·We basically have 20, 30 minutes to kind of

21· ·get to the point, get to all of the details and make a

22· ·decision.· And there are times where we have to stop, go

23· ·back and look and say:· Was it the right kidney or the

24· ·left kidney?· Was the lesion here or there?· Because of
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·1· ·matters of grave substance.· But again, most doctors

·2· ·can't go back and review the entirety of the medical

·3· ·record before they walk in to see the patient.· It just

·4· ·doesn't -- it's not part of what reasonable doctors do in

·5· ·the community.

·6· · · · · · · ·I get records to review, and they'll send me

·7· ·10,000 pages.· It will take me many, many, many hours to

·8· ·review.· And so again, medical records in our current

·9· ·state have been somewhat just become non-informative as

10· ·far as what's necessary for the patient's care to a great

11· ·degree.· I'm not saying that it's always, but they're

12· ·generally not very informative.

13· · · · · Q· · Thank you, Doctor.· And I believe you were

14· ·also asked a question by Ms. Bradley regarding

15· ·documentation as to who administered the injection.· Do

16· ·you recall that line of questioning?

17· · · · · A· · Yes.

18· · · · · Q· · All right, Doctor.· If I may also, I'd like

19· ·to go and I believe it is Respondent's Exhibit Number --

20· ·I believe it's number 7, HCP 0007.

21· · · · · A· · I now have that highlighted in my electronic

22· ·copy.

23· · · · · Q· · So you do have a copy of that in front of

24· ·you?
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·1· · · · · A· · Right.· I do.· We're talking about the same

·2· ·one.· It starts with -- It looks like this.

·3· · · · · Q· · I believe that's correct.· And just for

·4· ·purposes of the record, Doctor, if I may have you refer

·5· ·to the binder.

·6· · · · · A· · Okay.· And which tab is it?

·7· · · · · Q· · The tab is Tab Number 6 and HCP 00017 on the

·8· ·bottom right-hand corner.

·9· · · · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· I think it's going

10· ·to be Respondent's Exhibit.· I believe just for the

11· ·record, it's going to be Respondent's Exhibit 5.· Are you

12· ·talking about the one at the top it says HealthCare

13· ·Partners Medical Group-700 building and the Bates stamp

14· ·is HCP 0001?

15· · · · · · · ·MS. BUYS:· Correct.

16· · · · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· Okay.· That is

17· ·Respondent's Exhibit 5.

18· · · · · Q· · (BY MS. BUYS:)· Thank you.· Now, Doctor,

19· ·based upon this record, does it appear that there is

20· ·documentation that Dr. Nguyen is the one who administered

21· ·the injection?

22· · · · · A· · Yes, that's what it says.· I believe that's

23· ·what he testified to.

24· · · · · · · ·MS. BUYS:· Thank you very much, Doctor.
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·1· ·Those are my questions.

·2· · · · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· Do you have

·3· ·recross?

·4· · · · · · · ·MS. BRADLEY:· No questions.· Thank you.

·5· · · · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· Okay.· No

·6· ·questions from the IC.

·7· · · · · · · ·Do you have any further witness, Ms. Buys?

·8· · · · · · · ·MS. BUYS:· I do not.· No.

·9· · · · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· Okay.· I would

10· ·like to take a small break.· Did you want to release -- I

11· ·don't want to say your name wrong --

12· · · · · · · ·THE WITNESS:· Dr. Anorga.

13· · · · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· Thank you.· Do you

14· ·want to release him right now or would you like to --

15· · · · · · · ·MS. BUYS:· Yes.

16· · · · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· Okay.· Sir, you

17· ·are released.· You are welcome to stay.· We're going to

18· ·take a short break, and then do you want to do closing

19· ·arguments?

20· · · · · · · ·MS. BRADLEY:· Yes.

21· · · · · · · ·THE WITNESS:· Great.· Thank you very much.

22· · · · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· How long would you

23· ·like to break before we come back to close?· Because I

24· ·know sometimes it's nice to have a few minutes to put
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·1· ·those together in your mind.

·2· · · · · · · ·MS. BUYS:· Thank you.· Perhaps maybe ten or

·3· ·15 minutes.

·4· · · · · · · ·MS. BRADLEY:· I would agree, ten or 15

·5· ·minutes would be great.· My only concern is I don't know

·6· ·how long you're planning on talking.· I don't think mine

·7· ·will be very long.· I just don't want anyone to be upset

·8· ·about staying past 5:00.· Would that be okay?

·9· · · · · · · ·MS. BUYS:· That's fine.

10· · · · · · · ·MS. BRADLEY:· I just wanted to make sure.  I

11· ·wasn't sure of our court reporter's situation.

12· · · · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· So let's come back

13· ·at a quarter to 5:00.· And so we will go past 5:00, but

14· ·everyone seems to be okay with that.

15· · · · · · · · · · · · · (Recess.)

16· · · · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· So we're going to

17· ·go back on the record in Case Number 21-38084-1.

18· · · · · · · ·Ms. Buys, I know you indicated you were done

19· ·with your presentation.· I don't know if you officially

20· ·closed your case.

21· · · · · · · ·MS. BUYS:· I concluded calling all of the

22· ·witnesses and just reserve closing arguments.

23· · · · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· Okay.· And then I

24· ·consulted with Ms. Bradley, who had no rebuttal.
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·1· · · · · · · ·MS. BRADLEY:· No rebuttal, no.

·2· · · · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· And so we decided

·3· ·we were going to proceed to closing.· We took a break.

·4· ·We're back on the record, and Ms. Bradley will start us

·5· ·off.

·6· · · · · · · ·MS. BRADLEY:· Okay.· Thank you.· So just to

·7· ·summarize the hearing that we had today, the

·8· ·Investigative Committee admitted 19 exhibits, we had

·9· ·testimony from three witnesses, and we would submit that

10· ·we believe that the allegations contained in the

11· ·complaint have been proven.

12· · · · · · · ·And I do want to go into those in more

13· ·detail, but before we do, as you will recall, the mother,

14· ·Ms. DelGrosso, did not remember Dr. Nguyen, but as I

15· ·think we all know, time has passed.· Dr. Nguyen is listed

16· ·on the records as the treating physician in this case,

17· ·and he is not disputing that he provided the care in this

18· ·case.· And so I just wanted to kind of put that on the

19· ·record so that there's no question with that regard.

20· · · · · · · ·And so if we were to go through the

21· ·complaint, so the first allegation in the complaint is

22· ·Respondent was at all times relative to this complaint a

23· ·medical doctor holding an active license to practice

24· ·medicine in the State of Nevada, License Number 13702,
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·1· ·and Respondent was originally licensed by the Board on

·2· ·September 15th, 2010.· And so we did stipulate to the

·3· ·truth of that fact.

·4· · · · · · · ·And then next, we have an allegation

·5· ·regarding the November 4th, and it has been amended to

·6· ·November 4 from November 11, 2016.· Patient A was not

·7· ·well, and she went to HealthCare Partners Urgent Care

·8· ·with her parents because she had coughing, she had

·9· ·vomiting and other symptoms as identified in the medical

10· ·records, and her parents were concerned that she was not

11· ·well.

12· · · · · · · ·The medical records support that she received

13· ·an injection, a Kenalog injection that was administered

14· ·by Dr. Nguyen.· The Investigative Committee alleges that

15· ·informed consent was not provided, and we believe that

16· ·the testimony today has proven that.

17· · · · · · · ·Informed consent is different than consent.

18· ·Consent is simply yes, you may; no, you may not.· But it

19· ·doesn't necessarily mean that a person fully understands

20· ·what they're saying yes to.· Informed consent is a legal

21· ·concept, and I know the hearing officer is aware that

22· ·requires that more information is provided prior to the

23· ·person providing a so-called consent, and so it's kind of

24· ·a two-part situation.· There's the explanation of risks,
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·1· ·benefits, alternatives, other kinds of explanations given

·2· ·before the consent is provided.

·3· · · · · · · ·And in this case, the Investigative Committee

·4· ·believes that informed consent was not provided.· If it

·5· ·was provided, it was not documented.· And that's really

·6· ·where we're at today is we have two allegations in the

·7· ·complaint.· One is malpractice and the other is that

·8· ·medical records were not timely, legible, accurate or

·9· ·complete.

10· · · · · · · ·And I think with several of the issues we

11· ·have is if it was done correctly, it wasn't documented,

12· ·and so that means we've proven the medical records issue

13· ·or perhaps it wasn't done at all.· And so I think that's

14· ·where we maybe have some issue with regard to malpractice

15· ·because we've heard some testimony, I think, that's

16· ·different than what's documented in the medical records.

17· · · · · · · ·In the complaint, we would -- and I think we

18· ·didn't do this initially, and I apologize.· So on page

19· ·two of the complaint, line five to seven, there's a

20· ·statement that says there was no shot record section of

21· ·Patient A's medical record as there was no documentation

22· ·of the Kenalog's vial identification, lot number or a

23· ·date of expiration.

24· · · · · · · ·We will strike that from the complaint
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·1· ·because we know that that late-provided exhibit that we

·2· ·got on Monday, May 23rd, does have that information, and

·3· ·so it was and it appears to have been documented at that

·4· ·time, was not provided to the Board until May 23rd.· And

·5· ·so we would go ahead and strike that.· And I believe that

·6· ·same information is included on the third page of the

·7· ·complaint which says on line 17:· Additionally, Patient

·8· ·A's medical records of having the shot including the

·9· ·information from the vial do not exist.· We know they

10· ·exist.· Again, we still have concerns regarding records,

11· ·but at least as to that part, that has been provided.

12· · · · · · · ·And I think again, this goes back to if we

13· ·had more complete responses initially from Dr. Nguyen, we

14· ·may have had a different result than coming here for this

15· ·hearing.· So the facts that you've heard that we believe

16· ·support the claim of malpractice is Dr. Hall doesn't

17· ·believe that the informed consent was obtained because

18· ·it's not documented.

19· · · · · · · ·And there is a saying in medicine that

20· ·everyone has heard, and I think it does come from medical

21· ·school because I've heard many of the doctors we work

22· ·with say this:· If it's not documented, it did not occur.

23· ·And that's how you prove that something happened, is

24· ·documentation.
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·1· · · · · · · ·Also, there's evidence in the record that the

·2· ·injection was not administered properly.· And that

·3· ·evidence really comes from the testimony of

·4· ·Mrs. DelGrosso and the photograph that she provided that

·5· ·she took of her daughter.· Her testimony was that after

·6· ·the injection, she was sore and a little bit swollen.

·7· ·The swelling went down, and then a crater or a divot

·8· ·began to appear.· Her testimony is that occurred after

·9· ·the injection and that that was a result of the

10· ·injection.

11· · · · · · · ·And so our belief is the medical records --

12· ·there's some belief there was testimony -- I'm not sure

13· ·the records show it, but there was testimony that there

14· ·was more than one attempt to give the shot, and so it's

15· ·possible maybe one of them went in a little bit and did

16· ·it incorrectly on one side, you know.· Again, we don't

17· ·know exactly that, but we do know there was more than one

18· ·attempt and we have this injury developing after the

19· ·doctor visit.

20· · · · · · · ·And then Dr. Hall's opinion that there's a

21· ·duplicate medication here.· He testified that he didn't

22· ·think he has concerns with the Kenalog shot for two

23· ·reasons.· One, he thinks it's duplicative of the oral

24· ·steroid, and so he testified that he wouldn't have done
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·1· ·them together.· He doesn't think that would be necessary.

·2· ·He also said because of the possible risks of a Kenalog

·3· ·injection that he thinks the first thought would have

·4· ·been to try an oral steroid.· And the records are not

·5· ·documented.· It does say that Patient A was vomiting once

·6· ·a day, her symptoms were getting worse at night, but it

·7· ·doesn't say she was unable to keep anything down.

·8· · · · · · · ·I will note that it says on Exhibit 5 for the

·9· ·Respondent, HCP 0002, it says:· Appetite is decreased,

10· ·but it doesn't say that she was not eating or not able to

11· ·keep things down.· And then it does say that vomit once a

12· ·day for four days, coughing causing patient to vomit.

13· ·And Dr. Hall's testimony was that this isn't the thing

14· ·you do first, the Kenalog injection.· You would try oral

15· ·steroids first and then perhaps that Kenalog injection if

16· ·the oral medication was not sufficient.

17· · · · · · · ·Dr. Nguyen testified today that

18· ·Mrs. DelGrosso told him that her daughter in the past was

19· ·not getting better with a similar infection through just

20· ·the oral steroids, but that's not documented in the

21· ·record, and we don't have that documentation.· So, you

22· ·know, perhaps that conversation occurred and that's just

23· ·another example of the records failing to be timely,

24· ·legible, accurate and complete.
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·1· · · · · · · ·So in going to that count, Nevada law is

·2· ·pretty clear, and Nevada law says it's an absolute

·3· ·requirement that records are timely, legible, accurate

·4· ·and complete.· There's no wiggle room there.· And part of

·5· ·the reason for requiring that is so that anybody

·6· ·reviewing a case as well as the patients, everybody is

·7· ·able to actually fully understand what occurred in that

·8· ·visit, what the diagnosis was, what the patient's vital

·9· ·signs were, the reason for the diagnosis and the

10· ·treatment plan.

11· · · · · · · ·And so here we had testimony today that

12· ·Dr. Nguyen says he obtained the informed consent.· The

13· ·documentation we have says patient agrees with treatment

14· ·plan and verbalizes understanding.

15· · · · · · · ·I think it's clear that the patient -- well,

16· ·her parents consented to the shot occurring.· They were

17· ·in the room.· They saw it happen.· If they were really

18· ·concerned about it, they could have stopped it.· They

19· ·didn't, so I think there was a consent, but it wasn't an

20· ·informed consent.· And the IC's position is that it was

21· ·not informed consent.· It wasn't documented that way, and

22· ·so even if it was obtained, perhaps it was.· Perhaps he

23· ·did explain in detail the risks, benefits, etcetera, to

24· ·this injection.· It's not documented.· So either it
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·1· ·happened and it's not documented and we have a records

·2· ·violation or it didn't happen and that would support the

·3· ·malpractice claim.

·4· · · · · · · ·The conversations with the mother.· So

·5· ·Dr. Nguyen testified today that he had conversations with

·6· ·Patient A's mother regarding again a previous

·7· ·hospitalization.· Also, the fact that oral steroids alone

·8· ·weren't enough in the past.· That's not documented in the

·9· ·record.· And if something like that occurs and it changes

10· ·a physician's treatment plan, we would expect to see that

11· ·noted in the record.· We would also expect to see that

12· ·helps again understand what occurred in a case.· So

13· ·that's not documented.· It's also not documented that the

14· ·treatment plan was changed.· It just says that the plan

15· ·is to administer this Kenalog 40 injection, and then it

16· ·also says that there was going to be the Prednisone

17· ·prescribed.· And so again, there is not a documentation

18· ·that there was a change or even a reason for the change.

19· · · · · · · ·I think that also would have helped us

20· ·understand the reason for the two prescriptions, both the

21· ·ordering of the injection and the prescription

22· ·Prednisone, if that had been documented.

23· · · · · · · ·And if we look at Exhibit 12 in the

24· ·Respondent's exhibits -- and that's the med admin detail
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·1· ·00001, I think we see that there's information that's not

·2· ·accurate in that record.· And granted, at least we have a

·3· ·shot record and we're glad for that because we did not

·4· ·have that until Monday, this past Monday, however, it

·5· ·says it's administered by Chanel Hampton.

·6· · · · · · · ·Dr. Nguyen says she wasn't working that day.

·7· ·He says he did the shot.· I believe the other records

·8· ·show that he provided the shot.· There's also a time

·9· ·listed on here, and I understand that perhaps this was

10· ·signed or finished at the end of the day, but you would

11· ·still expect a shot record to say the date and the

12· ·correct time or approximate time that the shot was

13· ·provided as well as who did it.

14· · · · · · · ·And again, why does the time matter?· Well,

15· ·Dr. Nguyen testified that they have patients stay for

16· ·about ten minutes to make sure that the injections don't

17· ·cause any problems.

18· · · · · · · ·Let's say there has been had been an issue

19· ·later.· It would have been helpful to know when that

20· ·injection was provided, and we don't have that in that

21· ·record, at least not accurately.· I believe Dr. Nguyen

22· ·said that most likely, the family would have left by

23· ·12:00 p.m.· The records show that they appeared at the

24· ·clinic approximately 10:45 a.m.· And so we have some
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·1· ·again, lack of completeness, a lack of accuracy in the

·2· ·records.

·3· · · · · · · ·Also, there's no documentation regarding the

·4· ·change of location for the shot, so it's not documented

·5· ·in here why it was instead of the thigh it was decided to

·6· ·be injected into the gluteal muscle.

·7· · · · · · · ·In looking at the procedure that Dr. Nguyen

·8· ·provided, it's a standard operating procedure from

·9· ·HealthCare Partners, and it's SOP injectable meds 001,

10· ·and then there's some more pages of that.· But in that

11· ·documentation, on SOP injectable med 002, it does talk

12· ·about the right location.· It says the right route is one

13· ·of the things they look at; seven rights of medication

14· ·administration.· Also on that same procedure, it says:

15· ·"Educate the patient prior to the injection regarding the

16· ·reason and possible side effects and secure informed

17· ·consent."

18· · · · · · · ·And then if we go to the next page, which is

19· ·SOP injectable meds 0003, number 23 says:· Vastus

20· ·lateralis is preferred site for children, and then it

21· ·says (thigh) in parentheses from birth to 36 months of

22· ·age for intramuscular and subcutaneous injections.

23· · · · · · · ·And we don't dispute Dr. Nyugen's testimony

24· ·that maybe in this case the gluteal area was better, but
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·1· ·we would still expect that route to be documented,

·2· ·especially when it's going against a policy that

·3· ·purportedly was in place at the location regarding

·4· ·injections.· And so again, there should be documentation

·5· ·as to why the policy wasn't followed at the facility.

·6· · · · · · · ·And we talked about the difference in the

·7· ·name on that shot record that it's not accurate, and I

·8· ·think there was some testimony and questions regarding

·9· ·autopopulation and other things in electronic medical

10· ·records.· And that might be true.

11· · · · · · · ·Electronic medical records try to help people

12· ·out, and they may put information, but it's still the

13· ·obligation absolutely of the physician to insure that

14· ·those records are timely, legible, accurate and complete.

15· ·So if autopopulated information is not correct, it needs

16· ·to be updated.· It needs to be changed.· It needs to be

17· ·amended.· Somehow that needs to be fixed because it's not

18· ·an excuse for inaccurate information in a medical record.

19· · · · · · · ·In this case, if we go to Exhibit 5, we have

20· ·information that this record was signed off on.· There's,

21· ·you know, medical assistants that weren't actually

22· ·providing care to the patient that reviewed, I think it's

23· ·this Glenisha Barner.· And I think she may have maybe

24· ·seen the patient initially but didn't actually provide a
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·1· ·shot.· So as far as who was involved in signing off

·2· ·treatment, nothing in this part actually shows that this

·3· ·Barry Misiuk was involved, and that should be in there.

·4· · · · · · · ·I do believe it's in this Exhibit 6 that was

·5· ·provided by Respondent med admin log 00001 and following

·6· ·pages, but even that record is interesting because it

·7· ·implies that there was some confusion at the location

·8· ·four days later as to what happened with that vial

·9· ·because on November 8, 2016, there was this question of:

10· ·Hey, did you give this?· If not, please send it back.

11· ·And there was a question as to who was working with

12· ·Dr. Nguyen, as to what happened with that vial, and then

13· ·I think later, it says that this Barry Misiuk was

14· ·involved and that it was -- and then there's even a

15· ·comment that the order wasn't there.· So again, we're not

16· ·totally sure what happened with the records, but it just

17· ·seems like we have issues with accuracy and completeness,

18· ·you know, maybe even four days later because here there's

19· ·questions about what happened in this vial and where it

20· ·was.

21· · · · · · · ·There's a possible issue of the location of

22· ·the shot because we have a photo from the mother saying

23· ·that it was on the left side, and she says that's the

24· ·injection site and that's what she saw and that's what
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·1· ·prompted her to file the complaint, and the records

·2· ·document the right side.

·3· · · · · · · ·Errors happen.· People are human.· But at the

·4· ·same time, if that was an error, that's not accurate.

·5· ·That's not complete.· And either way, it's not

·6· ·documented, the multiple attempts that the injection was

·7· ·provided at least not in Exhibit 5.· You know, it talks

·8· ·about the fact that the injection was given, but it

·9· ·doesn't say what happened there with regard to that.· So

10· ·that should have been documented, especially if there was

11· ·a chance that the child was poked in more than one place.

12· ·And I think we heard testimony that there may have been a

13· ·partial poking before they tried again where Dr. Nguyen

14· ·did the injection.

15· · · · · · · ·So and then another issue that we have is

16· ·bias.· We would argue that being paid $4,000 a day by

17· ·Dr. Anorga, that's a large fee, particularly compared to

18· ·the fact that the Board, the Investigative Committee pays

19· ·$150 an hour to its expert witnesses.· So certainly, I

20· ·think if we look at the amount that was paid, there could

21· ·be a bias to provide an opinion that is more favorable to

22· ·Dr. Nguyen than to the Investigative Committee.· And I

23· ·think if you look at Dr. Hall, you know, he doesn't

24· ·really have at least not a large financial incentive to
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·1· ·provide us a favorable opinion.

·2· · · · · · · ·And then as far as the medical assistants,

·3· ·there's some talk about that and not a lot of the

·4· ·investigation or -- sorry -- the evidence today went into

·5· ·this, but I do note that in Dr. Nyugen's response to the

·6· ·Board initially, so this is in the Board's exhibits.  I

·7· ·believe it's also in the Respondent's exhibits.· The

·8· ·Board's Exhibit 2 and -- it's pages two to three -- we

·9· ·have Dr. Nyugen's response, and he does talk about the

10· ·medical assistant and what they did or didn't do.

11· · · · · · · ·It doesn't matter.· The goal, you know, the

12· ·responsibility here is on the physician.· The physician

13· ·is the captain of the ship.· He's responsible for the

14· ·conduct and the actions of medical assistants.· He

15· ·delegates the tasks that they provide.· He insures and he

16· ·supervises them, particularly when it's an invasive

17· ·procedure.· And documentation, sure, they can assist with

18· ·that, but they're not the licensee.· They're not the one

19· ·that the Board issues the privilege to practice medicine

20· ·in the State of Nevada.· And so any issues that may be

21· ·attributable to staff or other individuals at HealthCare

22· ·Partners are Dr. Nyugen's responsibility ultimately at

23· ·the end of the day because he is the one that is the

24· ·licensed physician and he is responsible for that.· And
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·1· ·with that, I would thank everyone for their time today

·2· ·and my statement.· Thank you.

·3· · · · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· Thank you.

·4· · · · · · · ·Ms. Buys?

·5· · · · · · · ·MS. BUYS:· Thank you very much.· I'd like to

·6· ·again thank everyone for their time here today.· It's

·7· ·truly been an honor to be here representing Dr. Nguyen in

·8· ·this matter.

·9· · · · · · · ·Patient A complains that she developed a

10· ·divot in her left buttock approximately three months

11· ·after undergoing an injection that is documented as being

12· ·administered intramuscularly in the right buttock area

13· ·and that the divot has since resolved.

14· · · · · · · ·Patient A became a patient of Dr. Nguyen

15· ·because her parents were concerned that she had worsening

16· ·respiratory symptoms and had previously been hospitalized

17· ·due to croup.· They were so worried, in fact, they did

18· ·not even want to wait until their scheduled pediatrician

19· ·appointment a few days later and took her to an urgent

20· ·care facility.

21· · · · · · · ·The claims in this case have been for a

22· ·breach of a standard of care and a failure to maintain

23· ·records.· The Board's compliant initially alleged

24· ·Dr. Nguyen should not have administered the medication in
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·1· ·the gluteal area.· However, based upon FDA guidance that

·2· ·has been provided, the expert testimony of Dr. Anorga,

·3· ·Dr. Nguyen and even the Investigative Committee's own

·4· ·peer reviewer, Dr. Hall, administration in the gluteal

·5· ·area was within the standard of care.· Moreover, Dr. Hall

·6· ·has testified here today that a divot could form with

·7· ·appropriate administration to the gluteal area and that

·8· ·it is a very rare side effect.

·9· · · · · · · ·There has been no testimony by the patient's

10· ·mother that the injection was on the left side.· However,

11· ·there has been testimony and documentation provided here

12· ·today that the administration was on the right buttock.

13· ·There has also been testimony here today by expert

14· ·Dr. Anorga that if this divot were to occur, it would

15· ·occur close in time to the administration of the

16· ·medication.

17· · · · · · · ·The Investigative Committee counsel has

18· ·rested upon captain of the ship doctrine which has been

19· ·outdated in the State of Nevada pursuant to Nevada case

20· ·law.· However, notwithstanding that, there has been

21· ·evidence presented here today that based on the testimony

22· ·of the patient's mother, there was even a question as to

23· ·whether Dr. Nguyen was providing the care and treatment

24· ·at the time.· Patient's mother also did not recall that
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·1· ·there had an been an additional attempt to provide an

·2· ·injection.

·3· · · · · · · ·And as to allegations of bias, Dr. Hall has

·4· ·been regularly retained by the Board to opine as to peer

·5· ·review matters and is regularly employed by the Board for

·6· ·such purposes.

·7· · · · · · · ·Today, there has been evidence presented that

·8· ·the patient's parent never filled an oral steroid but

·9· ·because there was an injection, the patient received

10· ·medication and treatment close in time to when she

11· ·presented at an urgent care facility with worsening

12· ·symptoms in the backdrop of prior history of

13· ·hospitalization due to croup.

14· · · · · · · ·The standard of care which has been stated by

15· ·the experts in this case is what a reasonable physician

16· ·would do under the circumstances.· And even in this case,

17· ·the Investigative Committee has agreed in their closing

18· ·argument that consent was given by the patient's parents.

19· · · · · · · ·You've heard testimony from Dr. Nguyen that

20· ·he advised patient's parents of the risks, benefits and

21· ·alternatives to this treatment plan.· And the Board

22· ·relies upon Dr. Hall's review which is based on the

23· ·allegation that he should have documented the patient's

24· ·parents understood the risks and benefits as opposed to
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·1· ·just the patient because she was a toddler.· However, the

·2· ·testimony here today by Dr. Anorga and Dr. Nguyen is that

·3· ·it's reasonable to assume that that means that it is the

·4· ·patient's parents providing consent for care.

·5· · · · · · · ·The other allegation that has been seen here

·6· ·today was that Dr. Nguyen failed to document.· Based upon

·7· ·the Investigation Committee's expert, Dr. Hall, there has

·8· ·been testimony provided about additional details that

·9· ·potentially could be provided.

10· · · · · · · ·However, Dr. Nguyen and Dr. Anorga have

11· ·provided testimony here today that the standard of care

12· ·is not that every single detail that could be added into

13· ·a record must be documented.· It is again going back to

14· ·whether or not there was reasonable documentation.· And

15· ·in this case, there has been testimony that that has been

16· ·provided.

17· · · · · · · ·Moreover, the IC's expert has provided

18· ·testimony that his opinions in this matter have been

19· ·formed as a result of relying on documents and articles

20· ·that did not exist at the time Dr. Nguyen provided care

21· ·and treatment to the patient on November 4th, 2016.· He

22· ·therefore could not have even had access to such

23· ·documents.· There's also been testimony that there is a

24· ·difference between the standard of care in providing
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·1· ·medical care and treatment to a patient and the standard

·2· ·of documentation.

·3· · · · · · · ·In this case, we're dealing with allegations

·4· ·regarding semantics and hair splitting.· There has been

·5· ·testimony provided that Dr. Anorga -- even through

·6· ·Dr. Anorga and Dr. Nguyen -- that it is documented

·7· ·consistently in the record that Dr. Nguyen provided and

·8· ·administered this injection.

·9· · · · · · · ·There has been further testimony regarding

10· ·Michelle (sic) Hampton's appearance being there because

11· ·it automatically autopopulates because she was his

12· ·physician assistant.· However, the documentation in this

13· ·case which has been shown through the experts and on the

14· ·plain face detail the correct administration of the

15· ·injection.· I mean, even in the complaint in this matter,

16· ·there has been a typographical error of the date the care

17· ·was provided which is certainly a relevant, important

18· ·date to this proceeding.

19· · · · · · · ·And this is not a case where you have

20· ·allegations involving harms of multiple patients.· It is

21· ·a case alleging form over substance.· It's not a matter

22· ·where Dr. Nyugen's medical license should be affected or

23· ·revoked or suspended in any way.

24· · · · · · · ·Indeed, the allegations that have been

http://www.litigationservices.com


Page 306
·1· ·brought to the testimony provided here today show that at

·2· ·best, documentation and whether additional documentation

·3· ·could be provided is a matter of opinion.· However, all

·4· ·of these inconsistencies are more questionable as to the

·5· ·allegations.· It's regarding standard of care affecting

·6· ·this physician's license.

·7· · · · · · · ·Moreover, the IC, the Investigative Committee

·8· ·has failed to meet its burden to present evidence that

·9· ·Dr. Nguyen breached the standard of care in his treatment

10· ·of Patient A.· It has been established that Patient A did

11· ·not require further hospitalization, did not undergo

12· ·additional care for respiratory symptoms.· Indeed, even

13· ·Dr. Hall testified that it is possible that in this case

14· ·because there was that injection of medication that that

15· ·prevented her from being hospitalized.

16· · · · · · · ·There's also been testimony presented here

17· ·today that it was consistently documented in the medical

18· ·record that the dosage was the 20 milligrams or .5 or 40,

19· ·which was half, and that is consistent throughout the

20· ·records that have been provided in this case.

21· · · · · · · ·And moreover, to the extent that

22· ·documentation could be better, documentation, while

23· ·important, still has not fallen below the standard of

24· ·care.· Dr. Nguyen has testified and Dr. Anorga has
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·1· ·testified that the documentation that was provided was

·2· ·the appropriate documentation that was needed to provide

·3· ·continuity of care for Patient A.

·4· · · · · · · ·Moreover, the allegation which I believe that

·5· ·has been struck by Ms. Bradley's closing argument

·6· ·regarding the shot record.· Those details were indeed

·7· ·documented.· Whether or not Dr. Nguyen documented that at

·8· ·the end of the day or immediately in the patient room,

·9· ·even Dr. Hall testified that it is appropriate for a

10· ·physician to finish authoring his note certainly at the

11· ·end of the day, as that's close in time to the care that

12· ·was provided.· And in this case, the evidence shows that

13· ·the documentation was entered the very same day of

14· ·treatment which was November 4th, 2016.

15· · · · · · · ·There's also been documentation provided that

16· ·shows the lot, the expiration, the vial number and the

17· ·anatomical site where the injection was administered.

18· ·And again, you've heard testimony here today that

19· ·Dr. Nguyen provided the administration of the medication

20· ·into the right gluteal muscle.· There has been no

21· ·objective evidence provided here today that shows that

22· ·there was any administration in the left gluteal muscle

23· ·of Patient A.· Indeed, relying back on figurative versus

24· ·literal analogies that if it wasn't documented it didn't
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·1· ·happen, you've heard testimony here today that not only

·2· ·is it documented, it did happen in the right side.

·3· · · · · · · ·Moreover, there has been no preponderance of

·4· ·the evidence showing that there was again that injection

·5· ·into the left gluteal muscle.· It has further been

·6· ·explained that again, Ms. Hampton's name appeared in the

·7· ·record because it appears when an order is entered.· She

·8· ·was his medical assistant.· This is not a failure to

·9· ·maintain timely, accurate or complete medical records or

10· ·legible medical records for the patient.· I mean, as

11· ·mentioned earlier, there was a typographical error in the

12· ·complaint that has been brought against Dr. Nguyen here

13· ·today.

14· · · · · · · ·Additionally, with regard to his response,

15· ·again, we're dealing back multiple, multiple years back

16· ·in time.· The initial response was provided in 2017, and

17· ·we sit here today five years later even with members of

18· ·the Investigative Committee and team who are no longer

19· ·part of the Board or are deceased.· Dr. Nguyen has also

20· ·not been provided any sort of records that show that

21· ·there was this gluteal muscle being documented or gluteal

22· ·injury being documented in any other medical record.

23· · · · · · · ·Because the Investigative Committee has

24· ·failed to meet its burden as to allegations of
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·1· ·substandard care and for failure to maintain medical

·2· ·records, the only result that is supported by the

·3· ·evidence that was shown here today is a finding in favor

·4· ·of Respondent, Dr. Nguyen, and dismissing the claims

·5· ·against him.

·6· · · · · · · ·This is not a case where the Board needs to

·7· ·be concerned that this is a physician that will harm

·8· ·patients.· At best, the allegation is that there could

·9· ·have been more details provided in the documentation.

10· ·That is not a breach of the standard of care as set forth

11· ·by Dr. Anorga, Dr. Nguyen and also in reference to the

12· ·guidance that has been provided, the location of the

13· ·administration of the injection is the standard of care

14· ·that has been supported not only by FDA guidance but also

15· ·physicians that care for these patients and given the

16· ·Investigative Committee's own expert in this matter.

17· · · · · · · ·Therefore, we respectfully request that the

18· ·charges brought against Dr. Nguyen be dismissed and that

19· ·there be no finding of malpractice on behalf of

20· ·Dr. Nguyen or failure to maintain timely, accurate or

21· ·legible medical records, especially since this is a case

22· ·which at best could have -- at best is nothing and

23· ·certainly not one where the Board needs to be concerned

24· ·that there is a physician what could cause harm to the
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·1· ·public.· Thank you for your time.

·2· · · · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· Thank you, Ms.

·3· ·Buys.· Did you want to do --

·4· · · · · · · ·MS. BRADLEY:· No, thank you?

·5· · · · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· -- a reply

·6· ·closing? Okay.· Ms. Bradley has chosen not to reply

·7· ·closing, so that will close this matter.· I believe I

·8· ·have 60 days to issue a written finding.

·9· · · · · · · ·I am going to -- Miss Reporter, do you want

10· ·originals or do you want copies of the originals?· I'm

11· ·going to give the originals to the court reporter of the

12· ·exhibits.· I'm going to make copies for me.· As soon as I

13· ·get the transcript, I will begin writing.· I know that

14· ·everyone is on pins and needles waiting for these things.

15· ·I understand that, and I will try to undertake this as

16· ·timely as possible.

17· · · · · · · ·I want to thank everyone for their

18· ·professionalism today and their presentations on both

19· ·sides.· Very good advocacy on both ends, and that's very

20· ·much appreciated.· Thank you, everyone, for your time

21· ·today and that will conclude this proceeding.

22· · · · · · · · (The hearing concluded at 5:19 p.m.)

23· · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·-o0o-

24
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·1· ·STATE OF NEVADA· )
· · ·COUNTY OF WASHOE )
·2

·3

·4· · · · · · I, Nicole J. Hansen, Certified Court Reporter,

·5· ·State of Nevada, do hereby certify:

·6· · · · · · That prior to being examined, the witness in the

·7· ·foregoing proceedings was by me duly sworn to testify to

·8· ·the truth, the whole truth, and nothing but the truth;

·9· · · · · · That said proceedings were taken before me at

10· ·the time and places therein set forth and were taken down

11· ·by me in shorthand and thereafter transcribed into

12· ·typewriting under my direction and supervision;

13· · · · · · I further certify that I am neither counsel for,

14· ·nor related to, any party to said proceedings, not in

15· ·anywise interested in the outcome thereof.

16· · · · · · ·In witness whereof, I have hereunto subscribed

17· ·my name.

18

19· ·Dated:· June 1, 2022

20

21

22· ·Nicole J. Hansen

23· ·NV. CSR No. 446, RPR, CRR, RMR

24· ·CA. CSR 13,909
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·1· · · HEALTH INFORMATION PRIVACY & SECURITY: CAUTIONARY NOTICE

·2· Litigation Services is committed to compliance with applicable federal

·3· and state laws and regulations (“Privacy Laws”) governing the

·4· protection andsecurity of patient health information.Notice is

·5· herebygiven to all parties that transcripts of depositions and legal

·6· proceedings, and transcript exhibits, may contain patient health

·7· information that is protected from unauthorized access, use and

·8· disclosure by Privacy Laws. Litigation Services requires that access,

·9· maintenance, use, and disclosure (including but not limited to

10· electronic database maintenance and access, storage, distribution/

11· dissemination and communication) of transcripts/exhibits containing

12· patient information be performed in compliance with Privacy Laws.

13· No transcript or exhibit containing protected patient health

14· information may be further disclosed except as permitted by Privacy

15· Laws. Litigation Services expects that all parties, parties’

16· attorneys, and their HIPAA Business Associates and Subcontractors will

17· make every reasonable effort to protect and secure patient health

18· information, and to comply with applicable Privacy Law mandates,

19· including but not limited to restrictions on access, storage, use, and

20· disclosure (sharing) of transcripts and transcript exhibits, and

21· applying “minimum necessary” standards where appropriate. It is

22 recommended that your office review its policies regarding sharing of

23 transcripts and exhibits - including access, storage, use, and

24· disclosure - for compliance with Privacy Laws.

25· · · · © All Rights Reserved. Litigation Services (rev. 6/1/2019)
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